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Financial Highlights
(Dollars in millions) 2015 2014

Sales & Earnings

Sales $544.9 $603.5
Operating Income 77.8 98.3
Pro Forma Operating Income? 81.9 104.3
Net Income attributable to Rayonier Inc. 46.2 99.3
Pro Forma Net Income? 50.7 67.4

Adjusted EBITDA by Segment*

Southern Timber $101.0 $97.9
Pacific Northwest Timber 21.7 50.8
New Zealand Timber 33.0 46.0
Real Estate 70.8 48.4
Trading 1.2 1.7
(-) Corporate / Other (19.7) (31.3)
Total Adjusted EBITDA 208.0 2135
Cash Flow

Cash provided by Operating Activities® $177.2 $3204
Cash Available for Distribution ¢ 117.4 934
Debt & Debt Ratios

Debt $833.9 $751.6
Cash 51.8 161.6
Net Debt 782.1 590.0
Net Debt to Enterprise Value 22% 14%

(a) These non-GAAP measures are defined and reconciled on page 6.
(b) 2014 included discontinued operations.

(c) Adjusted EBITDA and Cash Available for Distribution are non-GAAP measures defined and reconciled on pages 28 and 47, respectively, within
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(d) Enterprise Value based on equity market capitalization plus net debt at year end.

P W Rayonier is a leading timberland real estate investment trust with assets located in
u
Ra on I er some of the most productive softwood timber growing regions in the United States
y and New Zealand. Rayonier owns, leases or manages approximately 2.7 million acres

Value From The Ground Up”~ of timberlands located in the U.S. South, U.S. Pacific Northwest and New Zealand.



PRESIDENT’S LETTER

dear fellow shareholders

Our first full year following the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business was
marked with challenging market conditions. Housing starts grew at a slower than
anticipated rate of 11%, thus further pushing out the anticipated recovery in log
prices. North American lumber prices softened due to lackluster housing start
activity, reduced repair and remodel spending, and lower exports to China. Finally,
log export volume and pricing to China declined significantly during the year as a
result of its reduced construction activity.

AN ‘-,l N Despite the difficult market conditions we faced, we made significant progress in

our efforts to transform Rayonier into the leading pure-play timber REIT. Rayonier
is blessed with an outstanding team and attractive timberland assets located in some of the premier softwood
growing regions and markets in the U.S.and New Zealand. Our senior leadership team, in its first full year running
the company, worked well together to reinforce changes in our culture and to focus on building long-term
value per share. Our aim is not to be the largest timberland owner, but rather to build and manage a portfolio of
timberland assets with best-in-class investment returns over the long term.With a greater emphasis on teamwork
across geographies and across our business lines, reinforced with a new incentive compensation system, we are
working to make the company more nimble and profitable by pushing operational decision making down deeper
within the organization.

Our leadership team has established five strategic priorities to serve as guideposts for future decision making,
specifically: (1) sustainable management, (2) growth through acquisitions, (3) portfolio value optimization,
(4) de-emphasis of non-HBU land sales,and (5) best-in-class disclosures. In addition, our business units developed a
set of aggressive multi-year operational goals and took steps to increase coordination across regions and between
business units. | am very pleased with the progress we made in 2015 towards the advancement of our strategic
priorities and the achievement of our operational goals. While we are disappointed in the performance of our
stock over the past year, which saw total shareholder return of -17%, | am confident that the steps we are taking
will serve the best interests of our shareholders over the long term.

2015 IN REVIEW

Full year 2015 net income attributable to Rayonier was $46 million, or $0.37 per share, compared to $99 million,
or $0.76 per share, in the prior year. The full year results for 2015 include $4 million of costs associated with
shareholder litigation. The prior year results included $43 million of income from discontinued operations and
$10 million of adjustments associated with the spin-off of our Performance Fibers business and the subsequent
internal review and restatement. Excluding these items, pro forma net income for full year 2015 was $51 million, or
$0.40 per share, compared to $67 million, or $0.51 per share, in the prior year.

Our total Adjusted EBITDA for the year was $208 million, representing a modest decrease from the prior year
result of $214 million after excluding the discontinued Performance Fibers business. While the spin-off of our
Performance Fibers business in June 2014 distorts the comparability of our consolidated results to prior years,
our segment results better illustrate the changes in our business year over year. Adjusted EBITDA in our Southern
Timber segment increased 3% to $101 million, driven by a 4% increase in both harvest volume and sawlog
pricing, offset by 2% lower pulpwood pricing and a heavier mix of pulpwood. Adjusted EBITDA in our Pacific
Northwest segment declined 57% to $22 million, based largely on a 25% decline in harvest volumes pursuant
to our revised harvest strategy, and a 12% decrease in delivered sawlog prices due primarily to a weaker export
market in China. Adjusted EBITDA in New Zealand declined 28% to $33 million, reflecting a 21% decrease
in export sawlog prices and an 18% decrease in domestic sawlog prices, offset partially by 2% higher harvest
volumes. Adjusted EBITDA in our Real Estate segment increased 46% to $71 million (excluding Large Dispositions
in 2014), with higher weighted average prices ($2,611 per acre versus $1,723 per acre) partially offset by lower
volumes (33,130 acres sold versus 44,848 acres in the prior year). Lastly, our Trading segment contributed Adjusted
EBITDA of $1 million. A detailed reconciliation of this non-GAAP measure can be found in the attached Form 10-K.
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Full-year cash available for distribution (CAD) increased 26% to $117 million, or $0.96 per share.While we have not
fully closed the dividend funding gap relative to our $1.00 per share annual dividend, we are confident that with
gradual improvements in markets, an improving sawlog mix, and the business initiatives currently underway, we
will continue to close this gap over the next couple years.

NIMBLE CAPITAL ALLOCATION

As a REIT, we are focused on growing our asset base to support long-term growth in our cash flow, dividend and
share price. In executing our growth strategy, we are focused on properties that are above-average in quality,
complementary to our existing landholdings, and accretive to our Cash Available for Distribution per share. In
the first half of 2015, we acquired 35,000 acres of high-quality timberland for $88 million in eight transactions
spanning four states in the U.S. South and Oregon.These eight transactions have a projected cash-on-cash yield
during the first decade of ownership of nearly 5%, which is well above both our cost of debt and our current CAD
per share yield. Rather than swinging for the fences on a large transaction, only a portion of which may have
aligned closely with our objectives, we executed a series of high-quality “singles” that all fit our strategy well.

We also recognize that our growth strategy has to be balanced against other capital allocation priorities. As we
reached the middle of 2015, our share price had declined, and we concluded that buying back our own shares
would be more accretive to our net asset value (NAV) per share than acquiring new timberlands. Put another way,
the implicit return on buying back our own shares exceeded the projected return on prospective
timberland acquisitions. Also, the foregone dividend yield was below our cost of debt, so buybacks
could also serve to narrow our dividend funding gap. Taking all these factors into account, our Board authorized
a $100 million share repurchase in June of last year. During the balance of the year, we completed the buyback
authorization by acquiring 4.2 million shares (or 3.3% of shares outstanding at the time of the repurchase
authorization) at an average price of $23.79 per share.

We are pleased with the share repurchase in 2015 for a few reasons. First, we believe it represents good value for
our remaining shareholders, effectively acquiring our own land at a price that is well below the underlying value of
the assets. Second, it demonstrates the nimbleness of our capital allocation strategy, as we pivoted from acquiring
new timberlands during the first half of the year to buying back our own shares during the second half of the
year when the relative value proposition between the two alternatives shifted. Going forward, we will continue to
allocate capital with a view towards building long-term value per share and achieving an optimal balance of CAD
accretion and NAV accretion for our shareholders.

NEW ZEALAND DEBT RESTRUCTURING

One of our goals for the year was to examine our New Zealand JV debt and see if we could arrive at a better
capital structure. Our JV held New Zealand dollar denominated debt in the amount of NZ$235 million, which also
carried a high interest cost of roughly 6.5%. Following Rayonier’s purchase of two partners’ interests in 2013, our
ownership stake increased to 65% and the JV was consolidated into our financial reporting. This meant that the
fullamount of the JV debt was sitting on our balance sheet, creating a drag both from an overall leverage and cost
of debt perspective.

After extensive discussions with our JV partner and a number of lenders, we arrived at a solution that satisfied
our objectives. We entered into a new $350 million term loan facility with the Farm Credit System, and used
approximately $160 million of the proceeds to infuse capital into the JV to fully pay down its debt (the remaining
proceeds were used to refinance approximately $175 million of other indebtedness and for general corporate
purposes).Because our JV partner was unable to contribute its pro rata share of the capital infusion needed to retire
the debt (roughly $56 million), their ownership share in the JV was diluted, while our ownership share increased
from 65% to 77%. This recapitalization had the added benefit of extinguishing New Zealand dollar denominated
debt and increasing our equity stake in the JV at a time when the New Zealand dollar was near a five-year low
relative to the U.S.dollar.

By shifting this debt from the New Zealand JV to Rayonier, we lowered our cost of debt from 6.5% to
3.3%, resulting in an annual interest expense savings on a consolidated basis of approximately $5 million.



This will help us narrow the gap in fully funding our dividend with
recurring cash flow from timberland operations and sales of higher-
and-better-use lands. The repayment of this debt at the JV level
will also provide for greater operational flexibility, as we will now
have the ability to defer New Zealand harvests during down
markets without debt covenant concerns. Lastly, the refinancing
provides greater strategic flexibility to grow in New Zealand
by adding leverage at the JV level if desired. We were able to
capitalize on this flexibility in the fourth quarter by acquiring a
$10 million seven-year timber deed that contains 420,000 metric tons
of mature timber. This timber deed, funded by the JV's short-term line
of credit, will have the added benefit of lowering operational costs by
providing for greater economies of scale.

LAUNCH OF MIXED USE DEVELOPMENT PROJECT

One of our strategic objectives is to optimize the value of our land
portfolio.This comes in many forms, including the practice of applying
advanced silviculture on our best timberlands, selling lower quality
timberlands, and selling higher-and-better-use lands where we can
achieve a premium to our timberland hold value. It also includes, on
a small number of occasions, the investment in securing entitlements
and making infrastructure improvements to unlock greater value from
our development properties.

Rayonier’s Coastal Corridor, which consists of 200,000 acres of
timberlands along Interstate Highway 95 in Georgia and Florida, is
well situated for future growth. As part of a detailed land classification
exercise conducted jointly by our timberland and real estate
organizations, we identified portions of this ownership that were
best suited for real estate development. Our real estate team further
segmented this land into 25 distinct planning nodes to identify
projects with the most potential. We selected two projects that are now
active development sites. In both cases, we are making investments in
entitlements and horizontal infrastructure to not only add value to the
project lands, but also to unlock value in our neighboring ownership.

In early 2015, we launched Wildlight, a 261-acre mixed-use project
21 miles north of Jacksonville, Florida. This project sits adjacent to
the intersection of Interstate Highway 95 and State Route A1A, which
connects to nearby Amelia Island. We believe this project is market
ready with the next phase of growth in the Jacksonville metropolitan
area being to the north of the city. In addition, the property already
has roughly 40,000 cars passing by it on a daily basis. We own 20,000
acres of land within a five-mile radius of the project, and believe the
success of this project can also add value to our surrounding land.

We expect this project to take roughly a decade to complete. An early
catalyst will be the construction of a new 800-student elementary
school scheduled to open in the fall of 2017.Rayonier constructed and
donated the 27-acre pad for the school site, and we are working to
bring road and utility infrastructure to the site. We believe the school
will help with the broader project absorption rate for commercial,
office, and residential land uses. We are very encouraged by the
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2015 Adjusted
EBITDA Breakdown

Rayonier vs.Timberland
REIT Peer Group

Rayonier is a leading “pure-play”
timberland REIT that generates the
significant majority of its Adjusted
EBITDA from recurring timber
harvest operations.

Other

68%

Timber
Segments

RAYONIER

Other

49%

Timber
Segment(s)

PEER GROUP

Note: Timberland REIT Peer Group
comprised of Weyerhaeuser Company,
Plum Creek Timber Company, Potlatch
Corporation and CatchMark Timber Trust.
Figures reflect aggregate Timberland
REIT Peer Group 2015 Adjusted EBITDA
excluding corporate expenses. Other
includes real estate, manufacturing

and other reported segments.
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progress to date on the Wildlight project. The response we have had from potential buyers of retail, multi-family,
single-family, and office users has been strong.

WELL POSITIONED FOR THE MARKET RECOVERY

We are encouraged by our results in 2015 and feel we are well positioned going forward.While the housing market
recovery has been slower than anticipated, we have nevertheless continued to see steady year-over-year increases
in housing starts. In addition, while markets in China have declined from highs experienced earlier in this decade,
we still believe China will be an important component of demand for wood products from New Zealand and North
America over the long term. We also believe that supply constraints from Canada will drive a significant portion
of marginal wood products demand to U.S. producers, where the U.S. South is poised to benefit the most. Overall,
these trends bode well for log markets generally and for Rayonier in particular, as our assets are located in key
softwood fiber baskets serving the U.S. housing and export markets.

In the U.S. South, the combination of strong underlying pulpwood markets, particularly in the Atlantic region,
and increased cooperation between our regional teams allows us to enjoy strong pricing relative to the
market. In fact, when looking at a composite price across all three log grades, over 50% of our ownership
in the South lies in the two strongest Timber Mart-South regional markets. To capture price premiums, we
are leveraging our investments in roads to bring volume to market during inclement weather, which we
experienced a great deal of this past year. With continued growth in sawlog volumes from investments in
silviculture, incremental harvest from recent acquisitions, and strong underlying pulpwood markets, we feel we
are well positioned to benefit from the anticipated recovery in log prices as housing starts improve further over
the next few years.

In the Pacific Northwest, we are ahead of schedule with our revised harvest strategy, which calls for stepping
the rate of harvest down to 1 million tons by 2017 and allowing the inventory to build. We continue to look for

Rayonier Total Timberland Acreage’
2.7 million acres

New Zealand
Joint Venture

439
>

4 *Acreage in 000’s



properties that are complementary to our age class profile to address
an imbalance in younger age classes.To that end, we acquired a small
5,600 acre property in Oregon in 2015 that complements our age class
profile and adds approximately 35,000 tons to our sustainable harvest
in the Pacific Northwest. While log prices in the Pacific Northwest
dropped significantly in 2015 due to a softer market in China and the
closure of two local sawmills, prices are still at a level comparable to
the prior peak in housing starts in 2005. We expect a new greenfield
sawmill to come on line in 2017, which, in concert with improving
housing starts, bodes well for log prices in this region.

Our New Zealand portfolio represents unique diversification into
markets in China, Korea and India. As the third largest timberland
ownerin New Zealand with aTrading segment that provides additional
economies of scale in our export log marketing, we believe we are well
positioned in each of these markets. It was for these reasons that we
felt confident in completing our New Zealand debt recapitalization in
2015 and increasing our ownership share in the JV.We continue to look
for opportunities to bring down unit costs by growing our economies
of scale, such as the timber deed acquisition that we completed in
late 2015.

In our Real Estate segment, we believe we are well positioned to
capture increased homebuilder demand as housing starts continue
their gradual recovery.We have also shifted our strategy to focus more
on unlocking value in our land portfolio and selling properties at a
premium to our timberland hold value, while placing less emphasis
on selling core timberlands to augment cash flows and fund the
dividend. Our performance in 2015 bore this out, as we generated
12% higher sales on 26% fewer acres sold. This doesn’t necessarily
mean we will never sell core timberlands in the future. If we see a
capital allocation opportunity, whether to buy back our shares or
to add timberland properties that improve our portfolio, we will be
open to selling core timberlands to help fund such capital allocation
priorities. To that end, we have added a new Large Dispositions
category to our Real Estate segment reporting, which is designed to
capture such instances where we sell core timberlands greater than
$20 million that do not have any demonstrable higher-and-better-use
value lift. When we have such sales, we will not count these towards
our Adjusted EBITDA, as we do not view such sales as recurring
in nature.

VISION FORTHE FUTURE

| am excited about Rayonier’s future. We have a great collection of
assets in the best markets, along with highly engaged employees who
leverage their expertise and bring their pride in working for Rayonier
to the job every day. We have a new leadership team that is working
tirelessly to reinforce a management ethic that fosters teamwork and
improved communication throughout the organization and with
investors. And finally, we have an engaged Board of Directors, most of
whom joined since the spin-off, which is working well together and
doing a great job of challenging and guiding the leadership team.l am
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U.S. South Stumpage

Rayonier vs.
South-wide Average

[ Timber Mart-South M Rayonier

Rayonier’s timberland portfolio is
strategically located in some of the
strongest log markets in the U.S.

$18.48 $18.13

$16.12
$9.68 $10.35 $10.14
2013 2014 2015
PULPWOOD
($/ton)
$27.62
$21.62
26.45 ]
$24.06 :
$20.44 521.36
2013 2014 2015
SAWTIMBER
($/ton)

Note: Timber Mart-South figures represent
average of quarterly reported South-wide
average stumpage prices. Timber Mart-
South sawtimber prices reflect average

of reported sawtimber and chip-n-saw
prices. Rayonier prices reflect actual price
realizations for pulpwood and sawtimber
(including chip-n-saw) based on actual
product mix.
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proud of how our employees, leadership team, and Board have worked together to respond to the considerable
challenges we have faced since the spin-off and to position the company for the future.

Collectively, we are working to transform Rayonier into a more nimble competitor. | am increasingly seeing
evidence of greater teamwork and communications between regions and across business lines. This is starting
to accrue to the bottom line in the form of higher sales and lower costs. Our daily decision making is focused on
the long-term best interests of our shareholders and is reinforced with a new incentive compensation system that
improves long-term alignment with shareholders’ interests. While none of us are happy with the performance of
our shares since the spin-off, we are focused on making the right long-term decisions and have confidence that
the changes we are making will accrue to the stock price over time.

We are working hard to achieve the vision of making Rayonier the premier pure-play timberland REIT.| feel honored
to have the opportunity to lead this fine organization and continue its long and proud legacy. | would like to
thank our Board for their guidance, our leadership team and employees for their tireless efforts, and our investors
for their continued support.

DAVID L. NUNES
President & CEO

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 2015 2014

Pro Forma Operating Income®

Operating Income $77.8 $98.3
Costs related to shareholder litigation© 4.1 -
Cumulative out-of-period adjustment for depletion expense - 2.6
Internal review and restatement costs - 34
Pro Forma Operating Income $81.9 $104.3
Per Per
diluted diluted
Pro Forma Net Income® share share
Net income attributable to Rayonier Inc. $46.2 $0.37 $99.3 $0.76
Costs related to shareholder litigation 4.1 0.03 - -
Costs related to the write-off of capitalized financing costs 0.4 - 1.7 0.01
Costs related to spin-off of Performance Fibers business - - 3.8 0.03
Cumulative out-of-period adjustment for depletion expense - - 2.6 0.02
Internal review and restatement costs - - 34 0.02
Discontinued operations, net - - (43.4) (0.33)
Pro Forma Net Income $50.7 $0.40 $67.4 $0.51

(a) Pro Forma Operating Income is defined as operating income adjusted for costs related to shareholder litigation, internal review and restatement
costs and a cumulative out-of-period adjustment for depletion expense.

(b) Pro Forma Net Income is defined as net income attributable to Rayonier Inc. adjusted for costs related to shareholder litigation, costs related to
the write-off of capitalized financing costs, costs related to spin-off of the Performance Fibers business, a cumulative out-of-period adjustment for
depletion expense, internal review and restatement costs, and discontinued operations.

(c) Costs related to shareholder litigation is defined as expenses incurred as a result of the securities litigation, the shareholder derivative demands and
the Securities and Exchange Commission investigation. See Note 10 — Contingencies of Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
within this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART 1

2 ¢ EENT3 99 ¢

When we refer to “we,” “us,” “our,” “the Company,” or “Rayonier,” we mean Rayonier Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.
References herein to “Notes to Financial Statements” refer to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements of Rayonier Inc.
included in Item 8 of this Report.

Note About Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this document regarding anticipated financial outcomes including Rayonier’s earnings guidance, if any,
business and market conditions, outlook, expected dividend rate, expected harvest schedules, timberland acquisitions, sales of
non-strategic timberlands, the anticipated benefits of Rayonier’s business strategy, capital allocation, expected availability and
access to borrowings, and other similar statements relating to Rayonier’s future events, developments, or financial or operational
performance or results, are “forward-looking statements” made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other federal securities laws. These forward-looking statements are identified by the use of
words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “estimate,” “believe,” “intend,” “project,” “anticipate” and other similar language.
However, the absence of these or similar words or expressions does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. While
management believes that these forward-looking statements are reasonable when made, forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance or events and undue reliance should not be placed on these statements. The risk factors contained
in Item 1 A— Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and similar discussions included in other reports that we subsequently
file with the SEC, among others, could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the Company’s historical experience
and those expressed in forward-looking statements made in this document.
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Forward-looking statements are only as of the date they are made, and the Company undertakes no duty to update its forward-
looking statements except as required by law. You are advised, however, to review any subsequent disclosures the Company makes
on related subjects in its subsequent reports filed with the SEC.

Item 1. BUSINESS
General

We are a leading timberland real estate investment trust (“REIT”) with assets located in some of the most productive softwood
timber growing regions in the U.S. and New Zealand. The focus of our business is to invest in timberlands and to actively manage
them to provide current income and attractive long-term returns to our shareholders. As of December 31, 2015, we owned, leased
or managed approximately 2.7 million acres of timberlands located in the U.S. South (1.9 million acres), U.S. Pacific Northwest
(373,000 acres) and New Zealand (439,000 gross acres, or 299,000 net plantable acres). In addition, we engage in the trading of
logs from New Zealand and Australia to Pacific Rim markets, primarily to support our New Zealand export operations. We have
an added focus to maximize the value of our land portfolio by pursuing higher and better use (“HBU”) land sales opportunities.

We originated as the Rainier Pulp & Paper Company founded in Shelton, Washington in 1926. On June 27, 2014, Rayonier
completed the tax-free spin-off of its Performance Fibers manufacturing business from its timberland and real estate operations,
thereby becoming a “pure-play” timberland REIT.

Under our REIT structure, we are generally not required to pay U.S. federal income taxes on our earnings from timber harvest
operations and other REIT-qualifying activities contingent upon meeting applicable distribution, income, asset, shareholder and
other tests. As of December 31, 2015 and as of the date of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe the Company
is in compliance with all REIT tests.

Our U.S. timber operations are primarily conducted by our wholly-owned REIT subsidiaries. Our New Zealand timber
operations are conducted by Matariki Forest Group, a majority-owned joint venture subsidiary (“New Zealand JV”’). Our non-
REIT qualifying operations, which are subject to corporate-level tax, are held by various taxable REIT subsidiaries. These operations
include our log trading business and certain real estate activities, such as the sale and entitlement of development HBU properties.

Our shares are publicly traded on the NYSE under the symbol RYN. We are a North Carolina corporation with executive
offices located at 225 Water Street, Jacksonville, Florida 32202. Our telephone number is (904) 357-9100.

For information on sales and operating income by reportable segment and geographic region, see Item 7 — Management s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Note 4 — Segment and Geographical Information.



Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that we distinguish ourselves from other timberland owners and managers through the following competitive
strengths:

»  Leading Pure-Play Timberland REIT. We are differentiated from other publicly-traded timberland REITs in that we are
invested exclusively in timberlands and real estate and do not own any pulp, paper or wood products manufacturing
assets. We are the largest publicly-traded “pure-play” timberland REIT, which provides our investors with a focused,
large-scale timberland investment alternative without taking on the risks inherent in direct ownership of forest products
manufacturing assets.

*  Located in Premier Softwood Growing Regions with Access to Strong Markets. Our geographically diverse timberland
holdings are strategically located in core softwood producing regions, including the U.S. South, U.S. Pacific Northwest
and New Zealand. Our most significant timberland holdings are strategically located in the U.S. South, in close proximity
to a variety of established pulp, paper and wood products manufacturing facilities, which provide a steady source of
competitive demand for both pulpwood and higher-value sawtimber products. Our Pacific Northwest and New Zealand
timberlands benefit from strong domestic sawmilling markets and are strategically positioned near ports to capitalize on
export markets serving the Pacific Rim.

»  Sophisticated Log Marketing Capabilities Serving Various Pacific Rim Markets. We conduct a log trading operation based
in New Zealand that serves timberland owners in New Zealand and Australia, providing access to key export markets in
China, South Korea and India. This operation provides us with superior market intelligence and economies of scale, both
of which add value to our New Zealand timber portfolio. It also provides additional market intelligence that helps our
Pacific Northwest export log marketing and contributes to the Company’s earnings and cash flows, with minimal
investment.

»  Attractive Land Portfolio with Higher and Better Use Potential. We own approximately 200,000 acres of timberlands
located in the vicinity of Interstate 95 primarily north of Daytona Beach, FL and south of Savannah, GA, some of which
may have the potential to transition to higher and better uses over time as market conditions support increased demand.
These properties provide us with select opportunities to add value to our portfolio through real estate development
activities, which we believe will allow us to periodically sell parcels of such land at favorable valuations relative to
timberland values through one of our taxable REIT subsidiaries.

*  Dedicated HBU Platform with Established Track Record. We have a dedicated HBU platform led by an experienced team
with an established track record of selling rural and development HBU properties across our U.S. South holdings at strong
premiums to timberland values. We maintain a detailed land classification analysis of our portfolio, which allows us to
identify the highest-value use of our lands and then capitalize on identified HBU opportunities through strategies uniquely
tailored to maximize value, including selectively pursuing land-use entitlements and infrastructure improvements.

*  Advantageous Structure and Capitalization. Under our REIT structure, we are generally not required to pay federal income
taxes on our earnings from timber harvest operations and other REIT-qualifying activities, which allows us to optimize
the value of our portfolio in a tax efficient manner. We also maintain a strong credit profile and have an investment grade
debt rating. As of December 31, 2015, our net debt to enterprise value was 22%. We believe that our advantageous REIT
structure and conservative capitalization provide us with a competitive cost of capital and significant financial flexibility
to pursue growth initiatives relative to other owners, managers and buyers of timberlands.

Our Strategy

Our business strategy consists of the following key elements:

*  Manage our Timberlands on a Sustainable Yield Basis for Long-term Results. We generate recurring income and cash
flow from the harvest and sale of timber and intend to actively manage our timberlands to maximize net present value
over the long term by achieving an optimal balance among biological timber growth, generation of cash flow from
harvesting activities, and responsible environmental stewardship. Our harvesting strategy is designed to produce a long-
term, sustainable yield, although we may adjust harvest levels periodically to capitalize on then-current economic
conditions in our markets.

*  Apply Advanced Silviculture to Increase the Productivity of our Timberlands. We use our forestry expertise and disciplined
financial approach to determine the appropriate silviculture programs and investments to maximize returns. This includes
re-planting a significant portion of our harvested acres with improved seedlings we have developed through decades of
research and cultivation. Over time, we expect these improved seedlings will result in higher volumes per acre and a
higher value product mix.



*  Increasethe Size and Quality of our Timberland Holdings through Acquisitions. We intend to selectively pursue timberland
acquisition opportunities that improve the average productivity of our timberland holdings and support cash flow
generation from our annual harvesting activities. We expect there will be an ample supply of attractive timberlands
available for sale as a result of anticipated sales from a number of Timberland Investment Management Organizations
(“TIMOs”). This acquisition strategy requires a disciplined approach and rigorous adherence to strategic and financial
metrics. Generally, we expect to focus our acquisition efforts on the most commercially desirable timber-producing regions
of the U.S. South, the U.S. Pacific Northwest and New Zealand, particularly on timberlands with an age class profile that
complements the age class profile of our existing timberland holdings. We acquired 37,000 acres of timberland in 2015,
62,000 acres in 2014, and 17,000 acres in 2013.

*  Optimize our Portfolio Value. We continuously assess potential alternative uses of our timberlands, as some of our
properties may become more valuable for development, residential, recreation or other purposes. We intend to capitalize
on such higher-valued uses by opportunistically monetizing HBU properties in our portfolio. While the majority of our
HBU sales involve rural and recreational land, we also selectively pursue various land-use entitlements on certain
properties for residential, commercial and industrial development in order to fully realize the enhanced long-term value
potential of such properties. For selected development properties, we also invest in infrastructure improvements, such as
roadways and utilities, to accelerate the marketability and improve the value of such properties. We generally expect that
sales of HBU property will comprise approximately 1% of our Southern timberland holdings on an annual basis.

»  Focus on Timberland Operations to Support Cash Flow Generation. As described above, we rely primarily on annual
harvesting activities and ongoing sales of HBU properties to generate cash flow from our timberland holdings. However,
we also periodically generate income and cash flow from the sale of non-strategic and/or non-HBU timberlands in
particular as we seek to optimize our portfolio by disposing of less desirable properties or to fund capital allocation
priorities, including share repurchases, debt repayment or acquisitions. Our strategy is to limit reliance on planned sales
of non-HBU timberlands to augment cash flow generation and instead rely primarily on supporting cash flow from the
operation, rather than sale, of our timberlands. We believe this strategy will support the sustainability of our harvesting
activities over the long term.

*  Promote Best-in-Class Disclosure and Responsible Stewardship. We intend to be an industry leader in transparent
disclosure, particularly relating to our timberland holdings, harvest schedules, inventory and age-class profiles. In addition,
we are committed to responsible stewardship and environmentally and economically sustainable forestry. We believe our
continued commitment to transparency and the stewardship of our assets and capital will allow us to maintain our
timberlands’ productivity, more effectively attract and deploy capital and enhance our reputation as a preferred timber
supplier.

Segment Information

Rayonier operates in five reportable business segments: Southern Timber, Pacific Northwest Timber, New Zealand Timber,
Real Estate and Trading. The Southern Timber, Pacific Northwest Timber and New Zealand Timber segments reflect all activities
related to the harvesting of timber and other value-added activities, such as recreational leases, within each respective geography.
The New Zealand Timber segment also reflects any land sales that occur within our New Zealand portfolio. Our Real Estate
segmentreflects all U.S. land sales, which are reported in five sales categories: Improved Development, Unimproved Development,
Rural, Non-Strategic / Timberlands, and Large Dispositions. The Trading segment reflects the log trading activities that support
our New Zealand operations.

Discussion of Timber Inventory and Sustainable Yield

We define gross timber inventory as an estimate of all standing timber volume beyond the specified age at which we commence
calculating our timber inventory for inclusion in our inventory tracking systems. The age at which we commence calculating our
timber inventory is 10 years for our Southern timberlands, 20 years for our Pacific Northwest timberlands, and 20 years for our
New Zealand timberlands. Our estimate of gross timber inventory is based on an inventory system that involves periodic statistical
sampling and growth modeling. Periodic adjustments are made on the basis of growth estimates, harvest information, and
environmental and operational restrictions. Gross timber inventory includes certain timber that we do not deem to be of a
merchantable age as well as certain timber located in restricted, environmentally sensitive or economically inaccessible areas.



We define merchantable timber inventory as an estimate of timber volume beyond a specified age that approximates such
timber’s earliest economically harvestable age. Our estimate includes certain timber located in restricted or environmentally
sensitive areas based on an estimate of lawfully recoverable volumes from such areas. The estimate does not include volumes in
restricted or environmentally sensitive areas that may not be lawfully harvested or volumes located in economically inaccessible
areas. The merchantable age (i.e., the age at which timber moves from pre-merchantable to merchantable) is 15 years for our
Southern timberlands, with the exception of Oklahoma which is 17 years, 35 years for our Pacific Northwest timberlands, and 20
years for radiata pine and 30 years for Douglas-fir in our New Zealand timberlands. Our estimated merchantable timber inventory
changes over time as timber is harvested, as pre-merchantable timber transitions to merchantable timber, as existing merchantable
timber inventory grows, as we acquire and sell timberland and as we periodically update our statistical sampling and growth and
yield models. We estimate our merchantable timber inventory annually for purposes of calculating per unit depletion rates.

Timber inventory is generally measured and expressed in short green tons (SGT) in our Southern Timberlands, in thousand
board feet (MBF) or million board feet (MMBF) in our Pacific Northwest Timberlands, and in cubic meters (m’) in our New
Zealand Timberlands. For conversion purposes, one MBF and one m® is equal to approximately 8.0 and 1.13 short green tons,
respectively. For comparison purposes, we provide inventory estimates for our Pacific Northwest and New Zealand timberlands
in MBF and cubic meters, respectively, as well as in short green tons.

The following table sets forth the estimated volumes of merchantable timber inventory by location in short green tons as of
September 30, 2015 for the South and Pacific Northwest and as of December 31, 2015 for New Zealand:

(volumes in thousands of SGT)

Merchantable
Location Inventory (a) %
SOULN Lottt e e et e e et e e e ae e e et e e e taeeetteeetaeeerteeetaeeeabeeetaeeabeeearraeateeans 65,689 76
PaCITIC NOTTIWEST .....uveiiiiieeiee ettt et ettt e et e et e et e e eaaeeeae e e eateeeteeesareeeseeesaseeenteeeenrens 5,321 6
INEW ZEALANG ...t e e e e et e e e ettt e e e et et e e e et et e e e eaae e e e e areeeeearreeeearans 15,674 18

86,684 100

(a) For all regions, depletion rate calculations for the upcoming year are based on estimated volumes of merchantable inventory
at December 31, 2015.

We define sustainable yield as the average harvest level that can be sustained into perpetuity based on our estimates of biological
growth and the expected productivity resulting from our reforestation and silvicultural efforts. Our estimated sustainable yield
may change over time based on changes in silvicultural techniques and resulting timber yields, changes in environmental laws
andrestrictions, changes in the statistical sampling and estimates of our merchantable timber inventory, acquisitions and dispositions
of timberlands, the expiration or renewal of timberland leases, casualty losses, and other factors. Moreover, our harvest level in
any given year may deviate from our estimated sustainable yield due to variations in the age class of our timberlands, the product
mix of our harvest (i.e., pulpwood versus sawtimber), our deliberate acceleration or deferral of harvest in response to market
conditions, our thinning activity (in which we periodically remove some smaller trees from a stand to enhance long-term sawtimber
potential of the remaining timber), or other factors.

We manage our U.S. timberlands in accordance with the requirements of the Sustainable Forestry Initiative™ (“SFI”) program.
The timberland holdings of the New Zealand JV are certified under the Forest Stewardship Certification® (“FSC”) program. Both
programs are a comprehensive system of environmental principles, objectives and performance measures that combines the
perpetual growing and harvesting of trees with the protection of wildlife, plants, soil and water quality. Through application of
our site-specific silvicultural expertise and financial discipline, we manage timber in a way that is designed to optimize site
preparation, tree species selection, competition control, fertilization, timing of thinning and final harvest. We also have a genetic
seedling improvement program to enhance the productivity and quality of our timberlands and overall forest health. In addition,
non-timber income opportunities associated with our timberlands such as recreational leases, as well as considerations for the
future higher and better uses of the land, are integral parts of our site-specific management philosophy. All these activities are
designed to maximize value while complying with SFI and FSC requirements.



Southern Timber

As of December 31, 2015, our Southern timberlands acreage consisted of approximately 1.9 million acres (including
approximately 242,000 acres of leased lands) located in Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Louisiana, Mississippi, Oklahoma,
Tennessee and Texas. Approximately two-thirds of this land supports intensively managed plantations of predominantly loblolly
and slash pine. The other one-third of this land is too wet to support pine plantations, but supports productive natural stands
primarily consisting of natural pine and a variety of hardwood species. Rotation ages typically range from 21 to 28 years for pine
plantations and from 35 to 60 years for natural stands. Key consumers of our timber include pulp, paper, wood products and
biomass facilities.

We estimate that the gross timber inventory and merchantable timber inventory of our Southern timberlands was 84 million
tons and 66 million tons, respectively, as of September 30,2015. We estimate that the sustainable yield of our Southern timberlands,
including both pine and hardwoods, is approximately 5.5 to 5.8 million tons annually. We expect that the average annual harvest
volume of our Southern timberlands over the next five years (2016 to 2020) will be generally within this range. For additional
information, see Item 1 — Business — Discussion of Timber Inventory and Sustainable Yield.

In 2015, we acquired approximately 29,000 acres of timberlands in the Southern region. For additional information, see Note
3 — Timberland Acquisitions.

The following table provides a breakdown of our Southern timberlands acreage and timber inventory by product as of
September 30, 2015 (inventory volumes are estimated at December 31 to calculate a depletion rate for the upcoming year):

(volumes in thousands of SGT)

Acres Pine Pine Hardwood Hardwood
Age Class (000’s) Pulpwood Sawtimber Pulpwood Sawtimber Total
Pine Plantation
010 4 Years (8)...cceeveeeecverenrerreverieneeennas 218 — — — — —
S5t09 Years...coccieevieeiieiee e 243 — — — — —
10 t0 14 yearS.....cocveveerieeieeieeieeee e 249 10,282 750 51 1 11,084
1510 19 years. ...cccoveeeeeeieneeieieie e 261 13,499 4,283 101 4 17,887
20 t0 24 YEATS ...cvvevieiieiieeeee e 144 6,642 5,518 98 4 12,262
2510 29 YEArS ..eeuveteeeeeeieieee e 67 2,443 3,872 87 4 6,406
30 + YOATS .eoveeureiereeeeeirereeie e 26 814 1,800 88 8 2,710
Total Pine Plantation................cceveeeuveennns 1,208 33,680 16,223 425 21 50,349
Natural Pine (Plantable) (b)................... 64 740 1,416 1,128 275 3,559
Natural Mixed Pine/Hardwood (c) ........ 542 4,305 6,706 15,200 4,012 30,223
Forested Acres and Gross Inventory.... 1,814 38,725 24,345 16,753 4,308 84,131
Plus: Non-Forested Acres (d).................. 82
GIYOSS ACKES.......eevvveeiiiieeeeiieeeeeeeeeee 1,896
Less: Pre-Merchantable Age Class -
TIIVEIEOTY () .1ruveeutietieitiiete et e ette et e ettt ettt et e et e e bt e bt e te ekt eeseaeaseasbaeaseeaseasseesseesssesseassessasssaasseessaesseanseenssesseesssassesssasssans (11,585)
Less: Volume in Environmentally
Sensitive/Legally RESIIICIEA ATCAS ........cc.iicuieiieiieieeieeetteette ettt ete et eetveete e vt ebeebeesteesseessbesasaesseesseesseenseenseesseesseanses (6,857)
Merchantable Timber INVENEOTY .............cccooiiiiiiiiieiieeiece ettt e s e st este e s e esseeseeseesseensaessnesssenns 65,689

(a) 0 to4 years includes clearcut acres not yet replanted.

(b) Consists of natural stands that are convertible into pine plantations once harvested.

(c) Consists of all non-plantable natural stands, including those that are in environmentally sensitive or economically inaccessible areas.
(d) Includes roads, rights of way and all other non-forested areas.

(e) Includes inventory that is less than 15 years old or less than 17 years old in Oklahoma.



Pacific Northwest Timber

As of December 31, 2015, our Pacific Northwest timberlands consisted of approximately 373,000 acres located in Oregon
and Washington, of which approximately 285,000 acres were designated as productive acres, meaning land that is capable of
growing merchantable timber and where the harvesting of timber is not constrained by physical, environmental or regulatory
restrictions. These timberlands primarily comprise second and third rotation western hemlock and Douglas-fir, as well as a small
amount of other softwood species, such as western red cedar. A small percentage also consists of natural hardwood stands of
predominantly red alder. In the Pacific Northwest, rotation ages typically range from 35 to 50 years. Our product mix in the Pacific
Northwest is heavily weighted to sawtimber, which is sold to domestic wood products facilities as well as into export markets
primarily serving Pacific Rim markets.

We estimate that the gross timber inventory and merchantable timber inventory of our Pacific Northwest timberlands was
2,164 MMBF and 666 MMBEF, respectively, as of September 30, 2015. We estimate that the sustainable yield of our Pacific
Northwest timberlands is approximately 165 MMBF (or 1.3 million tons) annually. However, due to historical harvesting in excess
of our sustainable yield in this region, we anticipate reducing the harvest level in our Pacific Northwest timberlands to 125 MMBF
(or 1.0 million tons) by 2017 and maintaining that level for approximately five years thereafter in order to allow for inventory
replenishment and age class smoothing. We expect to gradually reach our long-term sustainable yield of 165 MMBEF (or 1.3 million
tons) during the course of the next full rotation cycle. We expect that the average annual harvest volume of our Pacific Northwest
timberlands over the next five years (2016 to 2020) will be approximately 130 MMBF (or 1.0 million tons). For additional
information, see Item 1 — Business — Discussion of Timber Inventory and Sustainable Yield.

In 2015, we acquired approximately 6,000 acres of timberlands in the Pacific Northwest region. For additional information,
see Note 3 — Timberland Acquisitions.

The following table provides a breakdown of our Pacific Northwest timberland acreage and timber inventory by product and
age class as of September 30, 2015 (inventory volumes are estimated at December 31 to calculate a depletion rate for the upcoming
year):

(volumes in MBF or SGT as noted)

Acres Softwood Softwood
Age Class (000’s)  Pulpwood (b) Sawtimber (a) Total
Commercial Forest
010 4 YEATS (@) veveeveenierrirrieierieeieeteie ettt sttt 38 — — —
5809 YOAIS.c.eiiiieiieeiie ettt 51 — — —
1010 14 YEATS...cuioiiciiiiciiceeecececeee e 39 — — —
1510 19 Y@ATS.c.ueiiiieieeiieee ettt 20 — — —
20 10 24 YEATS...eveeueeiiitietieienie ettt ettt 23 33,201 81,716 114,917
2510 29 YOAIS...ecuieieieitieireienieeeeeeieste et aeste s ens et nnenes 43 77,944 352,564 430,508
30 10 34 YOAIS..cueeuieieriieiieierie sttt ettt 34 79,726 465,208 544,934
3510 39 YOAIS..ccuieieieetieeieieeie ettt ettt naes 16 39,045 245,635 284,680
40 10 44 YEATS...cveeeieieriieiteiesie ettt b 7 19,512 137,611 157,123
45 10 49 YOATS. ...ueeeeieeeiieie ettt 2 6,830 47,170 54,000
SOH YEATS weeuvenvieieiieiesieeiteie ettt ettt ettt ettt sbe s eneen 6 16,561 128,947 145,508
Total Commercial FOrest.........ooovvvviiiiveiiiiiiiieeceeeeceeeeneeenne 279 272,819 1,458,851 1,731,670
Non-Commercial FOrest (C) ..............coucovvemecvecneveacreennnannn 6 4,041 28,111 32,152
Productive Forested Acres...............ccceeevveeevvieiiieeieeeieens 285
Restricted FOrest (d)......oovvemiiiiieiiiiieieeeieeeeseeeieeie e 48 47,896 352,750 400,646
Total Forested Acres and Gross Inventory......................... 333 324,756 1,839,712 2,164,468
Plus: Non-Forested Acres (€).....ccovvevvrevueeriierieniesieneesvennens 40
GIrOSS ACIES .....oeeiiiieieeeeee ettt 373
Less: Pre-Merchantable Age Class INVENTOTY (£)......ccouereririerierienieieiesieeeetesie sttt st s (1,091,446)
Less: Volume in Environmentally
Sensitive/Legally RESIICIEA ATEAS.............cevveeueveeeeereeeeeeeeeeieeeeeesesesesessaesesessesesessesesassesssesesssas s saesenaseesesassesneees (407,023)
Merchantable Timber Inventory (MBF) ...........cooo ottt 665,999
Conversion factor fOr MBE 10 SGT ........oouiiiiiiiieie ettt ettt e et ettt e et e et e e eaveeeeteeeeateeeeraeeeareeans 7.99
Merchantable Timber INVENtory (SGT) .........ccoo oottt sttt st et eeaeebe e 5,321,332

(a) 0to 4 years includes clearcut acres not yet replanted.

(b) Includes a negligible amount of red alder hardwood.

(¢) Includes non-commercial forests with limited productivity.

(d) Includes significant portions of riparian management zones, legally restricted forests, and environmentally sensitive areas.
(e) Includes core riparian management zones, roads, rights of way, and all other non-forested areas.

(f) Includes commercial forest and non-commercial forest inventory that is less than 35 years old.



New Zealand Timber

As of December 31,2015, our New Zealand timberlands consisted of approximately 439,000 acres (including approximately
254,000 acres of leased lands), of which approximately 299,000 acres (including approximately 164,000 acres of leased lands)
were designated as productive or plantation acres, meaning land that is capable of growing merchantable timber and where the
harvesting of timber is not constrained by physical, environmental or regulatory restrictions. The leased acres are generally leased
through long-term arrangements including Crown Forest Licenses (“CFLs”), forestry rights and other leases. Our New Zealand
timberlands serve a domestic sawmilling market and also export logs to Pacific Rim markets.

Our New Zealand timber operations are conducted by Matariki Forestry Group, a joint venture with Phaunos Timber Fund
Limited. In April 2013, we acquired an additional 39% interest in the New Zealand JV, bringing our total ownership to 65%. As
a result, the New Zealand JV’s results of operations have been consolidated and comprise the New Zealand Timber segment. The
minority owner’s interest in the New Zealand JV and its earnings are reported as noncontrolling interest in our financial statements.
Rayonier’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Rayonier New Zealand Limited (“RNZ”), serves as the manager of the New Zealand JV. In
August2015, we announced a recapitalization of the New Zealand JV, which will result in our ownership increasing to approximately
77%. We expect this transaction to close in the first quarter of 2016. For additional information, see Note 7 — Joint Venture
Investment.

We estimate that the gross timber inventory and merchantable timber inventory of our New Zealand timberlands were both
13.9 million cubic meters as of December 31, 2015. We estimate that the sustainable yield of our New Zealand timberlands is
approximately 2 million cubic meters (or 2.3 million tons) annually. We expect that the average annual harvest volume of our New
Zealand timberlands over the next five years (2016 to 2020) will be generally in line with our sustainable yield. For additional
information, see Item 1 — Business — Discussion of Timber Inventory and Sustainable Yield.

The following table provides a breakdown of our New Zealand timberland acreage and merchantable timber inventory by age
class estimated as of December 31,2015 (inventory volumes at December 31 are used to calculate a depletion rate for the upcoming
year):

(volumes in M m?)

Age Class Acres (000’s)  Pulpwood  Sawtimber Total
Radiata Pine
010 4 YEATS () cuveuvereerierieiesieeteresiesteeeretestesreeseaessesseesnenseseesaeens 57 — — —
SH0 9 YOAIS ..evieiiiiieeteete ettt 44 — — —
1O 0 14 YEATS ..eeuvieieeiieiieeee ettt seae e 52 — — —
1510 19 YEALS .ottt 50 — — —
20 0 24 YEATS ..eeuvierieiieeiieeireireeteeteeteeteesseesseesteessaesreesasessaeeaneas 35 1,330 4919 6,249
2510 29 YOALS c.vevveieeeeeeieiesie ettt sttt et e te st sre st steeneens 19 1,015 2,843 3,858
30 YEATS vevienienieiieieeteie st ett ettt ettt ettt sttt sreenes 6 373 828 1,201
Total Radiata PINE .......ccooovuviiiiiiiiiieeeee e 263 2,718 8,590 11,308
OIREE (D) ...t 36 1,350 1,213 2,563
Forested Acres and Merchantable Timber Inventory.............. 299 4,068 9,803 13,871
Conversion factor for M® t0 SGT .........ovevveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseens D e
Total Merchantable Timber (thousands of SGT)...................... 15,674
Plus: Non-Productive ACres (C) ...eoevveererierieieririeieeeeesieeeeeeeees 140 -
GIOSS ACIS.......oiiieiieeie ettt ettt ettt eae e aeseeesnteenaeenaeeneeennas 439

(a) 0to 4 years includes clearcut acres not yet replanted.
(b) Includes primarily Douglas-fir age 30 and over.
(c) Includes natural forest and other non-planted acres.



Real Estate

All of our U.S. land sales, including HBU and non-HBU, are reported in our Real Estate segment. We report our Real Estate
sales in five categories: Improved Development, Unimproved Development, Rural, Non-Strategic / Timberlands and Large
Dispositions.

The Improved Development category comprises properties sold for development for which Rayonier, through a taxable REIT
subsidiary, has invested in site improvements such as infrastructure, roadways, utilities, amenities and/or other improvements
designed to enhance marketability and create parcels, pads and/or lots for sale. The Unimproved Development category comprises
properties sold for development for which Rayonier has not invested in site improvements such as infrastructure.

The Rural category comprises properties sold in rural markets to buyers interested in the property for rural residential or
recreational use.

The Non-Strategic / Timberlands category includes: 1) sales of non-core timberlands that do not meet our strategic criteria,
2) sales of core timberlands for which we obtain attractive values, and 3) sales of properties to conservation interests that wish to
preserve the land for habitat, public recreation, natural growth, buffer zones or other environmental purposes.

In the fourth quarter of 2015, we added a fifth sales category entitled “Large Dispositions.” This category includes sales of
timberland that exceed $20 million in size and do not have any identified HBU premium relative to timberland value. Previously,
these sales were reported as Non-Strategic / Timberlands. All prior period amounts have been presented to reflect the revised sales
categories. Proceeds from Large Dispositions will generally be used to fund capital allocation priorities, which could include share
repurchases, debt repayment or acquisitions. Sales designated as Large Dispositions are excluded from our calculation of Adjusted
EBITDA and CAD. See Item 7 —Performance and Liquidity Indicators for the definition of Adjusted EBITDA and CAD.

We maintain a detailed land classification analysis for all of our timberland and HBU acres. The vast majority of our HBU
properties are managed as timberland and generate cash flow from timber operations prior to their sale or, in the case of Improved
Development properties, prior to improvement.

Trading

Our Trading segment reflects log trading activities in New Zealand and Australia conducted by our New Zealand JV. Our
Trading segment complements the New Zealand Timber segment by providing added market intelligence, increasing the scale of
export operations and achieving cost savings that directly benefit the New Zealand Timber segment.

Trading activities are broadly categorized as either managed export services or procured logs. For managed export services,
the New Zealand JV does not take title to the log cargo but arranges sales, shipping and export documentation services for other
forest owners for an agreed commission. For procured logs, the New Zealand JV buys logs directly from other forest owners at
New Zealand ports and exports them in its own name. Income from this business is generated by achieving a sales margin over
the purchase price of the procured logs. The Trading segment generally utilizes a managed export service arrangement for logs
sourced from third parties outside of New Zealand, and generally utilizes a procured log arrangement for logs sourced from third
parties within New Zealand. For managed export services, Trading segment revenues reflect only the commission earned on the
sale. For procured logs sales, Trading segment revenues reflect the full sales price of the logs.

In 2015, Trading volume was approximately 1.3 million cubic meters of logs. Approximately 590,000 cubic meters of logs
were sourced from outside New Zealand, primarily Australia, of which 90% were undertaken through managed export service
arrangements. Approximately 730,000 cubic meters of logs were purchased directly from third parties in New Zealand through
procured log arrangements, with 54% purchased from two key suppliers. Approximately 53% of third-party purchases in New
Zealand were purchased at spot prices, with the New Zealand JV thereby assuming some price risk on subsequent resale. The
remaining 47% were purchased on a fixed margin basis, with the New Zealand JV thereby earning a spread on the resale price
irrespective of subsequent price fluctuations. The New Zealand JV generally seeks to mitigate its risk of loss on procured logs by
securing export orders prior to or concurrent with its spot purchases of logs.



Discontinued Operations and Dispositions

In June 2014, we completed the tax-free spin-off of our Performance Fibers business. The spin-off resulted in two independent,
publicly-traded companies, with the Performance Fibers business being spun off to Rayonier shareholders as a newly formed
public company named Rayonier Advanced Materials Inc. ("Rayonier Advanced Materials"). On June 27, 2014, the shareholders
of record received one share of Rayonier Advanced Materials common stock for every three common shares of Rayonier held as
of the close of business on the record date of June 18, 2014. In March 2013, the Company sold its Wood Products business to
International Forest Products Limited for $80 million plus a working capital adjustment. Accordingly, the operating results of the
Performance Fibers and Wood Products business segments are reported as discontinued operations in the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for all periods presented. Certain administrative and general costs historically
allocated to the businesses that remained with Rayonier are reported in continuing operations.

The December 31, 2014 Consolidated Balance Sheet reports only continuing operations and reflects the contribution of
approximately $1.2 billion of assets and corresponding liabilities and equity to Rayonier Advanced Materials in connection with
the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business.

The Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for 2014 and 2013 have not been restated to exclude Performance Fibers and
Wood Products cash flows. Cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2014 also reflect transactions related to the Performance
Fibers spin-off, including borrowings to arrange the capital structure prior to the separation, proceeds received upon the spin-off
and the use of proceeds to pay down debt and pay a special dividend.

See Note 21 — Discontinued Operations for additional information regarding the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business
and sale of the Wood Products business.

Foreign Sales and Operations

Sales from non-U.S. operations originate from our New Zealand Timber and Trading segments and comprised approximately
45% of consolidated 2015 sales. See Note 4 — Segment and Geographical Information for additional information.

Competition
Timber

Timber markets in our Southern and Pacific Northwest regions are relatively fragmented. In the Southern region, we compete
with Weyerhaeuser Company, CatchMark Timber Trust and TIMOs such as Hancock Timber Resource Group, Resource
Management Service, Forest Investment Associates and Campbell Global, as well as numerous other large and small privately
held timber companies. In the Pacific Northwest region, we compete with Weyerhaeuser Company, Hancock Timber Resource
Group, Green Diamond Resource Company, Campbell Global, Port Blakely Tree Farms, Pope Resources, the State of Washington
Department of Natural Resources and the Bureau of Indian Affairs. In all markets, price is the principal method of competition.

InNew Zealand, there are four major private timberland owners — Hancock Natural Resources Group, Kaingaroa Timberlands,
Matariki Forests (our New Zealand JV) and Ernslaw One. These owners account for approximately 36% of New Zealand planted
forests. The New Zealand JV competes with these and other smaller New Zealand timber companies for supply into New Zealand
domestic and export markets, predominantly China, South Korea and India. Logs supplied into Asian markets compete with export
supply from both Russia and North America.

Real Estate

In our Real Estate business, we compete with other owners of entitled and unentitled properties. Each property has unique
attributes, but overall quantity of supply and price for residential, commercial, industrial and rural properties in the geographic
areas in which we operate are the most significant competitive drivers.

Trading

Our log trading operations are based out of New Zealand and performed by our New Zealand JV. The New Zealand market
remains very competitive with over 20 entities competing for export log supply at different ports across the country. We are one
of the larger log trading companies in the region with access to multiple export ports and a range of different export markets.

Customers

In 2015, no individual customer (or group of customers under common control) represented 10% or more 0of 2015 consolidated
sales. As such, there is not a risk that the loss of one customer would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.



Seasonality

Across all our segments, results are normally not impacted by seasonal changes. However, particularly wet weather in areas
of our Southern Timber operations can hinder access for harvesting, thereby temporarily reducing supply in the affected areas and
generally strengthening prices. Conversely, extended dry weather in an area tends to suppress prices as timber is more accessible
for harvesting.

Environmental Matters
See Item 1A — Risk Factors and Note 22 — Liabilities for Dispositions and Discontinued Operations.
Research and Development
The research and development activities of our timber operations include genetic seedling improvement, growth and yield

modeling, and applied silvicultural programs to identify management practices that will improve financial returns from our
timberlands. We also contribute to research cooperatives that undertake forestry research and development.

Employee Relations

We currently employ approximately 325 people, of which approximately 240 are in the United States. We believe relations
with our employees are satisfactory.

Availability of Reports and Other Information

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and
amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) or 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are made
available to the public free of charge in the Investor Relations section of our website www.rayonier.com, shortly after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish them to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Our corporate
governance guidelines and charters of all committees of our board of directors are also available on our website. The information
on the Company’s website is not incorporated by reference into this annual report on Form 10-K.
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Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our operations are subject to a number of risks. When considering an investment in our securities, you should carefully read
and consider these risks, together with all other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If any of the events described
in the following risk factors actually occur, our business, financial condition or operating results, as well as the market price of
our securities, could be materially adversely affected.

We are exposed to the cyclicality of the markets in which we operate and other factors beyond our control, which could adversely
affect our results of operations.

Some of the industries in which our end-use customers participate, such as the construction and home building industries, the
global pulp, packaging and paper industries and the real estate industry, are cyclical in nature, exposing us to risks beyond our
control, including general macroeconomic conditions, both in the U.S. and globally, as well as local economic conditions.

In our Timber segments, the level of new residential construction activity and, to a lesser extent, home repair and remodeling
activity, is the primary driver of sawtimber demand. In addition, demand for logs can be affected by the demand for wood chips
in the pulp and paper and engineered wood products markets, as well as the bio-energy production markets. The ongoing level of
activity in these markets is subject to fluctuation due to future changes in economic conditions, interest rates, credit availability,
population growth, weather conditions and other factors. Changes in global economic conditions, such as new timber supply
sources and changes in currency exchange rates, foreign interest rates and foreign and domestic trade policies, can also negatively
impact demand for our timber and logs. In addition, the industries in which these customers participate are highly competitive
and may experience overcapacity or reductions in demand, all of which may affect demand for and pricing of our products. For
example, the supply of timber and logs has historically increased during favorable pricing environments, which then causes
downward pressure on prices, and can have an adverse effect on our business.

In our Real Estate segment, our inability to sell our HBU properties at attractive prices could have a significant effect on our
results of operations. Demand for real estate can be affected by the availability of capital, changes in interest rates, availability
and terms of financing, governmental agencies, developers, conservation organizations, individuals and others seeking to purchase
our timberlands, our ability to obtain land use entitlements and other permits necessary for our development activities, local real
estate market economic conditions, competition from other sellers of land and real estate developers, the relative illiquidity of real
estate investments, employment rates, new housing starts, population growth, demographics and federal, state and local land use,
zoning and environmental protections laws or regulations (including any changes in laws or regulations). In addition, changes in
investor interest in purchasing timberlands could reduce our ability to execute sales of non-strategic timberlands.

These macroeconomic and cyclical factors impacting our operations are beyond our control and, if such conditions deteriorate
or do not continue to improve, could have an adverse effect on our business.

Weather and other natural conditions may limit our timber harvest and sales.

Weather conditions and extreme events, timber growth cycles and restrictions on access (for example, due to prolonged wet
conditions) and other factors, including damage by fire, insect infestation, disease, prolonged drought and natural disasters such
as wind storms and hurricanes, may limit harvesting of our timberlands. The volume and value of timber that can be harvested
from our timberlands may be reduced by any such fire, insect infestation, disease, severe weather, prolonged drought, natural
disasters and other causes beyond our control. As is typical in the forestry industry, we do not maintain insurance for any loss to
our timber, including losses due to fire and these other causes. These and other factors beyond our control could reduce our timber
inventory and accordingly, our sustainable yield, thereby adversely affecting our financial results and cash flows.

Entitlement and development of real estate entail a lengthy, uncertain and costly approval process, which could adversely affect
our ability to grow the businesses in our Real Estate segment.

Entitlement and development of real estate entail extensive approval processes involving multiple regulatory jurisdictions. It
is common for a project to require multiple approvals, permits and consents from U.S. federal, state and local governing and
regulatory bodies. For example, in Florida, real estate projects must generally comply with the provisions of the Community
Planning Act and local land use, zoning and development regulations. In addition, development projects in Florida that exceed
certain specified regulatory thresholds (and are not located in a jurisdiction classified as a dense urban land area) may require
approval pursuant to specialized Comprehensive Plan evaluation and process standards. Compliance with these and other
regulations and standards is more time intensive and costly and may require additional long range infrastructure review and
approvals which can add to project cost. In addition, development of properties containing delineated wetlands may require one
or more permits from the U.S. federal government and/or state and local governmental agencies. Any of these issues can materially
affect the cost, timing and economic viability of our real estate projects.

11



The real estate entitlement process is frequently a political one, which involves uncertainty and often extensive negotiation
and concessions in order to secure the necessary approvals and permits. In the U.S., a significant amount of our development
property is located in counties in which local governments face challenging issues relating to growth and development, including
zoning and future land use, public services, water availability, transportation and other infrastructure, and funding for same, and
the requirements of state law, especially in the case of Florida under the Community Planning Act process standards. In addition,
anti-development groups are active, especially in Florida, in filing litigation to oppose particular entitlement activities and
development projects, and in seeking legislation and other anti-development limitations on real estate development activities. We
expect this type of anti-development activity to continue in the future.

Issues affecting real estate development also include the availability of potable water for new development projects. For
example, the Georgia Legislature enacted the Comprehensive Statewide Watershed Management Planning Act, which, among
other things, created a governmental entity called the Georgia Water Council which was charged with preparing a comprehensive
water management plan for the state and presenting it to the Georgia Legislature. It is unclear at this time how the plan will affect
the cost and timing of real estate development along the southern Georgia coast, where the Company has significant timberland
holdings with downstream real estate development potential. Concerns about the availability of potable water also exist in certain
Florida counties, which could impact future growth opportunities.

Changes in the laws, or interpretation or enforcement thereof, regarding the use and development of real estate, changes in
the political composition of state and local governmental bodies, and the identification of new facts regarding our properties could
lead to new or greater costs and delays and liabilities that could materially adversely affect our business, profitability or financial
condition.

Changes in energy and fuel costs could affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Energy costs are a significant operating expense for our logging and hauling contractors and for the contractors who support
the customers of our standing timber. Energy costs can be volatile and are susceptible to rapid and substantial increases or decreases
due to factors beyond our control, such as changing economic conditions, political unrest, instability in energy-producing nations,
and supply and demand considerations. Although the price of 0il has recently decreased, increases in the price of oil could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, an increase in fuel costs, and its impact on the cost
and availability of transportation for our products, both domestically and internationally, and the cost and availability of third party
logging and hauling contractors, could have a material adverse effect on the operating costs of our contractors and our standing
timber customers, as well as in defining economically accessible timber stands. Such factors could in turn have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, particularly in our Timber segments and Trading segment.

We depend on third parties for logging and transportation services and increases in the costs or decreases in the availability
of quality service providers could adversely affect our business.

Our Timber segments depend on logging and transportation services provided by third parties, both domestically and
internationally, including by railroad, trucks, or ships. If any of our transportation providers were to fail to deliver timber supply
or logs to our customers in a timely manner, or were to damage timber supply or logs during transport, we may be unable to sell
it at full value, or at all. During the global financial crisis and subsequent downturn in U.S. housing starts, timber harvest volumes
declined significantly. As a result, many logging contractors, particularly cable logging operators in the U.S. West, permanently
shut down their operations. As harvest levels have returned to higher levels with the recovery in U.S. housing starts, this shortage
of logging contractors has resulted in sharp increases in logging costs and in the availability of logging contractors. It is expected
that the supply of qualified logging contractors will be impacted by the availability of debt financing for equipment purchases as
well as a sufficient supply of adequately trained loggers. As housing starts continue to recover, harvest levels are expected to
increase, placing more pressure on the existing supply of logging contractors. Any significant failure or unavailability of third-
party logging or transportation providers, or increases in transportation rates or fuel costs, may result in higher logging costs or
the inability to capitalize on stronger log prices to the extent logging contractors cannot be secured at a competitive cost. Such
events could harm our reputation, negatively affect our customer relationships and adversely affect our business.
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We are subject to risks associated with doing business outside of the U.S.

Although the majority of our customers are in the U.S., a portion of our sales are to end markets outside of the U.S., including
China, South Korea, Japan, Taiwan, India and New Zealand. The export of our products into international markets results in risks
inherent in conducting business pursuant to international laws, regulations and customs. We expect that international sales will
continue to contribute to future growth. The risks associated with our business outside the U.S. include:

»  changes in and reinterpretations of the laws, regulations and enforcement priorities of the countries in which our products
are sold;

* responsibility to comply with anti-bribery laws such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar anti-bribery
laws in other jurisdictions;

» trade protection laws, policies and measures and other regulatory requirements affecting trade and investment, including
loss or modification of exemptions for taxes and tariffs, imposition of new tariffs and duties and import and export
licensing requirements;

+ difficulty in establishing, staffing and managing non-U.S. operations;

*  product damage or losses incurred during shipping;

+ potentially negative consequences from changes in or interpretations of tax laws;

* economic or political instability, inflation, recessions and interest rate and exchange rate fluctuations; and
*  uncertainties regarding non-U.S. judicial systems, rules and procedures.

These risks could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We and certain of our current and former officers and directors have been named as parties to various lawsuits relating to
matters arising out of our previously announced internal review and the restatement of our consolidated financial statements,
and may be named in further litigation or become subject to regulatory proceedings or government enforcement actions.

The matters that led to our internal review and the restatement of our consolidated financial statements have exposed us to
greater risks associated with litigation, regulatory proceedings and government enforcement actions. We and certain of our current
and former officers and directors are the subjects of a number of purported class action lawsuits and demand letters. In addition,
we are currently the subject of an ongoing private SEC inquiry. These actions arise from our announcement on November 10,
2014 regarding the results of our internal review and the restatement of our consolidated financial statements for the first and
second quarters of 2014. We and our current and former officers and directors may, in the future, be subject to additional private
and governmental actions relating to such matters. We cannot predict the duration, outcome or impact of these pending matters,
but the lawsuits could result in judgments against us and officers and directors who are now or may become named as defendants.
In addition, subject to certain limitations, we are obligated to indemnify and advance expenses for our current and former officers
and directors in connection with such lawsuits and regulatory proceedings or government enforcement actions and any related
litigation or settlements amounts.

Regardless of the outcome, these lawsuits, and any other litigation, regulatory proceedings, or government enforcement actions
that may be brought against us or our current or former officers and directors, could be time-consuming, result in significant
expense, and divert the attention and resources of our management and other key employees. Our legal expenses incurred in
defending the lawsuits and responding to any government inquiries could be significant. In addition, an unfavorable outcome in
any of these matters could exceed coverage provided under potentially applicable insurance policies, which is limited. Any such
unfavorable outcomes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows. Further, we could be required to pay damages or additional penalties, or have other remedies imposed against us, or our
current or former directors or officers, which could harm our reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations or
cash flows.
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Our estimates of timber inventories and growth rates may be inaccurate, include risks inherent to such estimates and may
impair our ability to realize expected revenues.

We rely upon estimates of merchantable timber inventories (which include judgments regarding inventories that may be
lawfully and economically harvested), timber growth rates and end-product yields when acquiring and managing working forests.
These estimates, which are inherently inexact and uncertain in nature, are central to forecasting our anticipated timber revenues
and expected cash flows. Growth rates and end-product yield estimates are developed using statistical sampling and growth and
yield modeling in conjunction with industry research cooperatives and by in-house forest biometricians using measurements of
trees in research plots spread across our timberland holdings. The growth equations predict the rate of height and diameter growth
of trees so that foresters can estimate the volume of timber that may be present in the tree stand at a given age. Tree growth varies
by soil type, geographic area, and climate. Inappropriate application of growth equations in forest management planning may lead
to inaccurate estimates of future volumes. If the assumptions we rely upon change or these estimates are inaccurate, our ability to
manage our timberlands in a sustainable or profitable manner may be diminished, which may cause our results of operations and
our stock price to be adversely affected.

Our businesses are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations that may restrict or adversely affect our ability to
conduct our business.

Environmental laws and regulations are constantly changing and are generally becoming more restrictive. Laws, regulations
and related judicial decisions and administrative interpretations affecting our business are subject to change, and new laws and
regulations are frequently enacted. These changes may adversely affect our ability to harvest and sell timber, remediate contaminated
properties and/or entitle real estate. These laws and regulations may relate to, among other things, the protection of timberlands
and endangered species, recreation and aesthetics, protection and restoration of natural resources, wastewater discharges, receiving
water quality, timber harvesting practices, and remedial standards for contaminated property and groundwater. Over time, the
complexity and stringency of these laws and regulations have increased and the enforcement of these laws and regulations has
intensified. Moreover, environmental policies of the current U.S. administration are more restrictive in the aggregate for industry
and landowners than those of the previous administration. For example, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) has
pursued a number of initiatives that, if implemented, could impose additional operational and pollution control obligations on
industrial facilities like those of Rayonier’s customers, especially in the area of air emissions and wastewater and stormwater
control. In addition, as aresult of certain judicial rulings and EPA initiatives, including some that would require timberland operators
to obtain permits to conduct certain ordinary course forestry activities, silvicultural practices on our timberlands could be impacted
in the future. Environmental laws and regulations will likely continue to become more restrictive and over time could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If regulatory and environmental permits are delayed, restricted or rejected, a variety of our operations could be adversely
affected. We are required to seek permission from government agencies in the states and countries in which we operate to perform
certain activities related to our properties. Any of these agencies could delay review of, or reject, any of our filings. In our Southern
Timber, Pacific Northwest Timber and New Zealand Timber segments, any delay associated with a filing could result in a delay
or restriction in replanting, thinning, insect control, fire control or harvesting, any of which could have an adverse effect on our
operating results. For example, in Washington State, we are required to file a Forest Practice Application for each unit of timberland
to be harvested. These applications may be denied, conditioned or restricted by the regulatory agency. Actions by the regulatory
agencies could delay or restrict timber harvest activities pursuant to these permits. Delays or harvest restrictions on a significant
number of applications could have an adverse effect on our operating results. Delays in obtaining these environmental permits
could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

Environmental groups and interested individuals may seek to delay or prevent a variety of operations. We expect that
environmental groups and interested individuals will intervene with increasing frequency in the regulatory processes in the states
and countries where we own, lease or manage timberlands. For example, in Washington State, environmental groups and interested
individuals may appeal individual forest practice applications or file petitions with the Forest Practices Board to challenge the
regulations under which forest practices are approved. These and other challenges could materially delay or prevent operations
on our properties. For example, interveners at times may bring legal action in Florida in opposition to entitlement and change of
use of timberlands to commercial, industrial or residential use. Delays or restrictions due to the intervention of environmental
groups or interested individuals could adversely affect our operating results. In addition to intervention in regulatory proceedings,
interested groups and individuals may file or threaten to file lawsuits that seek to prevent us from obtaining permits, implementing
capital improvements or pursuing operating plans. Any threatened or actual lawsuit could delay harvesting on our timberlands,
affect how we operate or limit our ability to modify or invest in our real estate. Among the remedies that could be enforced in a
lawsuit is a judgment preventing or restricting harvesting on a portion of our timberlands.
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The impact of existing regulatory restrictions on future harvesting activities may be significant. U.S. federal, state and local
laws and regulations, as well as those of other countries, which are intended to protect threatened and endangered species, as well
as waterways and wetlands, limit and may prevent timber harvesting, road building and other activities on our timberlands.
Restrictions relating to threatened and endangered species apply to activities that would adversely impact a protected species or
significantly degrade its habitat. The size of the restricted area varies depending on the protected species, the time of year and
other factors, but can range from less than one acre to several thousand acres. A number of species that naturally live on or near
our timberlands, including, among others, the northern spotted owl, marbled murrelet, several species of salmon and trout in the
Pacific Northwest, and the red cockaded woodpecker, red hills salamander and eastern indigo snake in the Southeast, are protected
under the Federal Endangered Species Act (the “ESA”) or similar U.S. federal and state laws. A significant number of other species,
such as the southeastern gopher tortoise and certain species of southern pine snake are currently under review for possible protection
under the ESA. As we gain additional information regarding the presence of threatened or endangered species on our timberlands,
or if other regulations, such as those that require buffers to protect water bodies, become more restrictive, the amount of our
timberlands subject to harvest restrictions could increase.

We formerly owned or operated or may own or acquire timberlands or properties that may require environmental remediation
or otherwise be subject to environmental and other liabilities. We owned or operated manufacturing facilities and discontinued
operations that we do not currently own, and we may currently own or may acquire timberlands and other properties in the future
that are subject to environmental liabilities, such as remediation of soil, sediment and groundwater contamination and other existing
or potential liabilities. In connection with the spin-off of our Performance Fibers business, and pursuant to the related Separation
and Distribution Agreement between us and Rayonier Advanced Materials, Rayonier Advanced Materials has assumed any
environmental liability of ours in connection with the manufacturing facilities and discontinued operations related to the
Performance Fibers business and has agreed to indemnify and hold us harmless in connection with such environmental liabilities.
However, in the event we seek indemnification from Rayonier Advanced Materials, we cannot provide any assurance that a court
will enforce our indemnification right if challenged by Rayonier Advanced Materials or that Rayonier Advanced Materials will
be able to fund any amounts for indemnification owed to us. In addition, the cost of investigation and remediation of contaminated
timberlands and properties that we currently own or acquire in the future could increase operating costs and adversely affect
financial results. We could also incur substantial costs, such as civil or criminal fines, sanctions and enforcement actions (including
orders limiting our operations or requiring corrective measures, installation of pollution control equipment or other remedial
actions), clean-up and closure costs, and third-party claims for property damage and personal injury as a result of violations of,
or liabilities under, environmental laws and regulations related to such timberlands or properties.

The industries in which we operate are highly competitive.

The markets in which we operate are highly competitive, and we compete with companies that have substantially greater
financial resources than we do in each of these businesses. The competitive pressures relating to our Timber segments are primarily
driven by quantity of product supply and quality of the timber offered by competitors in the domestic and export markets, each
of which may impact pricing. With respect to our Real Estate segment, we compete with other owners of entitled and unentitled
properties. Each property has unique attributes, but overall quantity of supply and price for residential, commercial, industrial and
rural properties in the geographic areas in which we operate are the most significant competitive drivers. The market in which our
Trading segment operates remains very competitive with over 20 entities competing for export log supply at different ports across
New Zealand.

Our business will be adversely affected if we are unable to make future acquisitions.

We have pursued, and intend to continue to pursue, acquisitions of timberland and real estate properties that meet our investment
criteria and achieve our strategic goals of growing the size and average quality of our land base. The ability to grow through
acquisitions or other investments depends upon our ability to identify, negotiate, complete and integrate suitable acquisitions or
joint venture partnerships. In addition, the discount rate we use in our acquisition underwriting has to meet our internal hurdle
rate while also being competitive with that of other timberland REITs and TIMOs. In particular, our future success and growth
depend upon our ability to make acquisitions that increase merchantable timber inventory and complement the existing age class
structure of our ownership. If we are unable to make acquisitions on acceptable terms or that do not support our strategic goals,
our revenues and cash flows may stagnate or decline.
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Our inability to access the capital markets could adversely affect our business and competitive position.

Due to the REIT income distribution requirements, we rely significantly on external sources of capital to finance growth and
acquisitions. Both our ability to obtain financing and the related costs of borrowing are affected by a number of factors, many of
which are outside of our control, including a decline in general market conditions, decreased market liquidity, a downgrade to our
public debt rating, increases in interest rates, an unfavorable market perception of our growth potential, a decrease in our current
or estimated future earnings or a decrease in the market price of our common stock. If capital is not available when needed, or is
available only on unfavorable terms relative to other timberland REITs or TIMOs, or not at all, we may be unable to complete
acquisitions or otherwise take advantage of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures. As of December 31,2015,
our credit ratings from S&P and Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s) were BBB- and Baa2, respectively. Any combination of
the factors described above, including our failure to maintain our investment grade credit rating, could prevent us from obtaining
the capital we require on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all, which could adversely affect our business, liquidity and competitive
position.

Increases in market interest rates may adversely affect the price of our common shares.

One of the factors that may influence the price of our common shares is our annual dividend yield as compared to yields on
other financial instruments. Thus, an increase in market interest rates will result in higher yields on other financial instruments,
which could adversely affect relative attractiveness of an investment in the Company and, accordingly, the price of our common
shares.

There are risks to the Company associated with the spin-off of our Performance Fibers business.

The Company faces a number of risks related to the spin-off of our Performance Fibers business on June 27, 2014, including
the following:

*  We may not achieve the expected benefits from the spin-off. After the spin-off, we believe that we will be able to, among
other things, better focus our financial and operational resources, and design and implement corporate strategies and
policies targeted toward our specific businesses’ growth profile and strategic priorities, implement and maintain a capital
structure designed to meet our specific needs and more effectively respond to industry dynamics. However, the Company
may not achieve some or all of the expected benefits of the spin-off, and the spin-off could lead to disruption of our
operations, loss of, or inability to recruit or retain, key personnel needed to operate and grow our business. If we fail to
achieve some or all of the benefits that we expect to achieve as a standalone company, or do not achieve them in a timely
or cost-effective manner, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely
affected.

*  Our business is less diversified. Our operational and financial profile has changed as a result of the spin-off of the
Performance Fibers business. As a result, our diversification of revenue sources has diminished without the revenue
previously generated by the Performance Fibers business, and it is possible that our results of operations, cash flows,
working capital and financing requirements may be subject to increased volatility related to the timber business and the
markets we serve. If we are unable to manage that volatility, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be materially and adversely affected.

Investment returns on pension assets may be lower than expected or interest rates may decline, requiring us to make significant
additional cash contributions to our benefit plans.

We sponsor defined benefit pension plans, which cover a portion of our salaried and hourly employees. The Federal Pension
Protection Act of 2006 requires that certain capitalization levels be maintained in each of these benefit plans. At December 31,
2015, our qualified plan was underfunded by $32 million, but we are not subject to any pension contribution requirements in 2016.
Because it is unknown what the investment return on pension assets will be in future years or what interest rates may be at any
point in time, we cannot provide any assurance that applicable law will not require us to make future material plan contributions.
Any such contributions could adversely affect our financial condition. See Item 7 — Management s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates for additional information
about these plans, including funding status.
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The impacts of climate-related initiatives, at the international, U.S. federal and state levels, remain uncertain at this time.

There continue to be numerous international, U.S. federal and state-level initiatives and proposals to address domestic and
global climate issues. Within the U.S., most of these proposals would regulate and/or tax the production of carbon dioxide and
other “greenhouse gases” to facilitate the reduction of carbon compound emissions into the atmosphere, and provide tax and other
incentives to produce and use “cleaner” energy.

In late 2009, the EPA issued an “endangerment finding” under the Clean Air Act with respect to certain greenhouse gases,
leading to the regulation of carbon dioxide as a pollutant under the Clean Air Act and having significant ramifications for Rayonier
and the industry in general. In this regard, the EPA has published various regulations, affecting the operation of existing and new
industrial facilities that emit carbon dioxide. As a result of the EPA’s decision to regulate greenhouse gases under the Clean Air
Act, states will now have to consider them in permitting new or modified facilities.

Overall, it is reasonably likely that legislative and regulatory activity in this area will in some way affect Rayonier and the
U.S. customers of our Southern Timber and Pacific Northwest Timber segments, but it is unclear at this time what the nature of
the impact will be. We continue to monitor political and regulatory developments in this area, but their overall impact on Rayonier,
from a cost, benefit and financial performance standpoint remains uncertain at this time. In addition, the EPA has yet to finalize
the treatment of biomass under greenhouse gas regulatory schemes leaving Rayonier’s biomass customers in a position of
uncertainty.

REIT and Tax-Related Risks

If' we fail to remain qualified as a REIT, we will have reduced funds available for distribution to our shareholders because our
REIT income will be subject to taxation.

We intend to continue to operate in accordance with REIT requirements pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”), and related U.S. Treasury regulations and administrative guidance. Qualification as a REIT involves the
application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Code, which are subject to change, perhaps retroactively, and which
are not within our control. We cannot assure that we will remain qualified as a REIT or that new legislation, U.S. Treasury
regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions will not significantly affect our ability to remain qualified as a REIT
or the U.S. federal income tax consequences of such qualification.

We continually monitor and test our compliance with all REIT requirements. In particular, we regularly test our compliance
with the REIT “asset tests,” which require generally that, at the close of each calendar quarter, (1) at least 75% of the market value
of our total assets must consist of REIT-qualifying interests in real property (such as timberlands), including leaseholds and options
to acquire real property and leaseholds, as well as cash and cash items and certain other specified assets, (2) no more than 25%
of the market value of our total assets may consist of other assets that are not qualifying assets for purposes of the 75% test in
clause (1) above and (3) for calendar years prior to 2018, no more than 25% of the market value of our total assets may consist
of the securities of one or more “taxable REIT subsidiaries.”

If in any taxable year we fail to qualify as a REIT, we will not be allowed a deduction for dividends paid to shareholders in
computing our taxable income and we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our REIT taxable income. In addition, we will
be disqualified from qualification as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which the qualification was lost,
unless we are entitled to relief under certain provisions of the Code. As a result, our net income and the cash available for distribution
to our shareholders could be reduced for up to five years or longer, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition.

As of December 31, 2015, Rayonier is in compliance with the asset tests described above.

If we fail to remain qualified as a REIT, we may need to borrow funds or liquidate some investments or assets to pay any
resulting additional tax liability. Accordingly, cash available for distribution to our shareholders would be reduced.
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Certain of our business activities are potentially subject to prohibited transactions tax.

AsaREIT, we will be subject to a 100% tax on any net income from “prohibited transactions.” In general, prohibited transactions
are sales or other dispositions of property to customers in the ordinary course of business. Sales of logs, and dealer sales of
timberlands or other real estate, constitute prohibited transactions.

We intend to avoid the 100% prohibited transactions tax by conducting activities that would otherwise be prohibited transactions
through one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. We may not, however, always be able to identify timberland properties that become
part of our “dealer” real estate sales business. Therefore, if we sell timberlands which we incorrectly identify as property not held
for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business or which subsequently become properties held for sale to customers in the
ordinary course of business, we may be subject to the 100% prohibited transactions tax.

Our cash dividends are not guaranteed and may fluctuate.

Generally, REITs are required to distribute 90% of their ordinary taxable income, but not their net capital gains income.
Accordingly, we do not generally believe that we are required to distribute material amounts of cash since substantially all of our
taxable income is generally treated as capital gains income. However, a REIT must pay corporate level tax on its undistributed
taxable income and capital gains.

Our Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, determines the amount of quarterly dividends to be paid to our shareholders
based on consideration of a number of factors. These factors include, but are not limited to, our results of operations, cash flow
and capital requirements, economic conditions, tax considerations, borrowing capacity and other factors, including debt covenant
restrictions that may impose limitations on cash payments, future acquisitions and divestitures, harvest levels, changes in the price
and demand for our products and general market demand for timberlands, including those timberland properties that have higher
and better uses. Consequently, our dividend levels may fluctuate.

Lack of shareholder ownership and transfer restrictions in our articles of incorporation may affect our ability to qualify as a
REIT.

In order to qualify as a REIT, an entity cannot have five or fewer individuals who own, directly or indirectly after applying
attribution of ownership rules, 50% or more of the value of its outstanding shares during the last six months in each calendar year.
Although it is not required by law or the REIT provisions of the Code, almost all REITs have adopted ownership and transfer
restrictions in their articles of incorporation or organizational documents which seek to assure compliance with that rule. While
we are not in violation of the ownership rules, we do not have, nor do we have any current plans to adopt, share ownership and
transfer restrictions. As such, the possibility exists that five or fewer individuals could acquire 50% or more of the value of our
outstanding shares, which could result in our disqualification as a REIT.
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Item 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
Item 2. PROPERTIES

The following table provides a breakdown of our timberland holdings as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2015:

(acres in 000s) As of September 30, 2015 As of December 31, 2015
Owned Leased Total Owned Leased Total
Southern
Alabama..........ccceeeveevevenieieiennn, 302 24 326 302 24 326
ATKANSAS ..o — 17 17 — 15 15
Florida.......cccoveveieiicieeecieiee. 280 93 373 275 93 368
GEOTZIA et 573 120 693 571 109 680
Louisiana........c.ccecevvevererveneeneenne. 148 1 149 149 1 150
MISSISSIPPI v.ovvevvereeieeeieiesre e 91 — 91 91 — 91
Oklahoma.........ccccevvenreeeereienenne 92 — 92 92 — 92
Tennessee......coeeeevvereerreneereenienne 1 — 1 1 — 1
TEXAS..uieieereeeieieite et nte e 154 — 154 153 — 153
1,641 255 1,896 1,634 242 1,876

(057040 1 BSOS 6 — 6 6 — 6
Washington........ccceeeveeeecveniennnnne 366 1 367 366 1 367

372 1 373 372 1 373

New Zealand (2) .............ccocevveveenenn. 185 259 444 185 254 439
Total........ocooiieieeeee e 2,198 515 2,713 2,191 497 2,688

(a) Representslegal acres owned and leased by the New Zealand JV, in which Rayonier owns a 65% interest. As of December 31,
2015, legal acres in New Zealand were comprised of 299,000 plantable acres and 140,000 non-productive acres.
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The following tables detail activity for owned and leased acres in our timberland holdings by state from December 31, 2014
to December 31, 2015:

(acres in 000s) Acres Owned
December 31, December 31,
2014 Acquisitions Sales Other (a) 2015
Southern
Alabama.........cccccvevieeieeieeieeie e 309 — @) — 302
Florida......cccoeeeeieieieneeiciee s 281 3 “ — 275
GEOTZIAu et 575 1 (®)] — 571
LoUiSiana.......coeeveeeevienieeeeeienieseeeennens 126 25 2) — 149
MISSISSIPPI cevvenvenveeneenreiesieeienienieeeeneens 91 — — — 91
Oklahoma.........ccceecvevienienieiecieeee 92 — — — 92
TeNNesSee....ccueeveerieenieeieenieenienieeneeee 1 — — — 1
TEXAS .eeevieieeie ettt e 158 — (®)] — 153
1,633 29 (28) — 1,634
Pacific Northwest
OTCZOMN..c. et — 6 — — 6
Washington .........ccceevevereecieneneneennns 371 — 5) — 366
371 6 5) — 372
New Zealand (b) ...........c..ocooeeeeiiiiiinennn. 185 — — — 185
Total.......coovieieieiceeeeee e 2,189 35 (33) — 2,191
(a) Includes changes in classifications between acres owned and leased.
(b) Represents legal acres owned by the New Zealand JV, in which Rayonier has a 65% interest.
(acres in 000s) Acres Leased
December 31, Expired December 31,
2014 New Leases Leases (a) Other (b) 2015
Southern
Alabama.........ccccceeevevenieieienne. 24 — — — 24
ArKansas ...........cccceeveeevieenieciennnnn, 18 — 3) — 15
Florida......ccccoveviiieerieeeee 105 — (12) — 93
(11014 T N 125 — (16) — 109
Louisiana .........ccceevevevvrceniennnnne. 1 — — — 1
273 — 31 — 242
Pacific Northwest
Washington........ccccceevevvevervennnnne. 1 — — — 1
New Zealand (€) ..........cooeovvveennennnnn. 266 2 2) (12) 254
Total.......occoovveiiiiieeeeeee 540 2 (33) (12) 497

(a) Includes acres previously under lease that have been harvested.
(b) Includes activity for the sale / relinquishment of leased acres and adjustments for land mapping reviews.
(c) Represents legal acres leased by the New Zealand JV, in which Rayonier has a 65% interest.
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Timberland Leases

U.S. timberland leases typically have initial terms of approximately 30 to 65 years, with renewal provisions in some cases.
New Zealand timberland lease terms typically range between 30 and 99 years. New Zealand lease arrangements are generally
comprised of Crown Forest Licenses (“CFLs”) and forestry rights. ACFLis a license arrangement with the New Zealand government
to use public or government-owned land to operate a commercial forest. CFLs generally extend indefinitely and may only be
terminated upon a 35-year termination notice from the government. If no termination notice is given, the CFLs renew automatically
each year for a one-year term. Alternatively, some CFLs extend for a specific term. A forestry right is a license arrangement with
a private entity or native tribal group to use their lands to operate a commercial forest. Forestry rights terminate either upon the
issuance of a termination notice, which can last 35 to 45 years, or completion of harvest.

As of December 31,2015, the New Zealand JV has four CFLs comprising 20,000 acres under termination notice, terminating
in 2034, two in 2044 and 2049, and two fixed-term CFLs comprising 3,000 acres expiring in 2062. Additionally, the New Zealand
JV has two forestry rights comprising 10,000 acres under termination notice, terminating in 2028 and 2031.

The following table details the Company’s acres under lease as of December 31, 2015 by type of lease and estimated lease
expiration:

(acres in 000s)
Location Type of Lease Total 2016 - 2025  2026-2035 2036-2045 Thereafter
Southern U.S. ......... Fixed Term 217 158 13 40 6
Fixed Term with Renewal Option 25 24 1 — —
Pacific Northwest... Fixed Term 1 1 — — —
New Zealand .......... CFL - Perpetual (a) (b) 87 87 — — —
CFL - Fixed Term (a) 3 — — — 3
CFL - Terminating (a) 20 — 3 16
Forestry Right (a) 128 28 29 2 69
Fixed Term 16 — — 1 15
Total Acres under Long-term Leases................c.......... 497 298 46 59 94

(a) Estimated lease expiration / termination based on the earlier of: (1) the scheduled expiration / termination date, or (2) the estimated year of final harvest
before such expiration / termination date.

(b) Perpetual CFLs are under automatic annual renewal pending Treaty of Waitangi settlement.
The following table details the Company’s estimated leased acres, lease expirations and lease costs over the next five years:

(acres and dollars in 000s, except per acre amounts)
Location 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Southern U.S. .................

Leased Acres Expiring 4 59 19 17 5
Year-end Leased Acres 238 179 160 143 138
Estimated Annual Lease Cost (a) $6,871 $6,696 $5,205 $4,731 $4,298
Average Lease Cost per Acre $25.17 $26.37 $30.65 $30.57 $30.22
Pacific Northwest (b).....
Leased Acres Expiring — 1 — — —
Year-End Leased Acres 1 — — — —
New Zealand..................
Leased Acres Expiring 1 17 1 1 —
Year-end Leased Acres 253 236 235 234 234
Estimated Annual Lease Cost (a) $4,303 $4,177 $4,167 $4,143 $4,134
Average Lease Cost per Acre $21.04 $20.82 $20.87 $20.73 $21.08

(a) Represents capitalized and expensed lease payments.
(b) The 659 acre lease in the Pacific Northwest expires in 2017 and does not require a lease payment.
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Other Non-Timberland Leases

In addition to our timberland holdings, we lease properties for our office locations. Our significant leased properties include
our corporate headquarters in Jacksonville, Florida; our Southern Timber and Real Estate operations in Fernandina Beach, Florida
and Lufkin, Texas; our Pacific Northwest Timber operations in Hoquiam, Washington and our New Zealand Timber and Trading
headquarters in Auckland, New Zealand.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information set forth under “Contingencies” in Note 10 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements under
Item 8 of Part II of this report “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item S. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Prices of our Common Shares; Dividends

The table below reflects, for the quarters indicated, the dividends declared per share and the highest and lowest intraday sales
prices of our common shares as reported in the consolidated transaction reporting system of the NYSE, the only exchange on
which our shares are listed, under the trading symbol RYN, adjusted as described below.

On June 27,2014, we spun off our Performance Fibers business to our shareholders as a newly formed publicly traded company
named Rayonier Advanced Materials. On June 27, 2014, the shareholders of record received one share of Rayonier Advanced
Materials common stock for every three common shares of Rayonier held as of the close of business on the record date of June
18,2014. The high end of the second quarter 2014 range as well as the first quarter 2014 range in the following table reflects share
prices adjusted for the spin-off. Dividends for the first and second quarter 2014 have also been adjusted for the spin-off.

High Low Dividends
2015
FOUrth QUATTET ...ttt ettt ettt b et et s b es st ne $24.83 $21.83 $0.25
THITd QUATTET ....o.veveeeeeceeeee ettt ettt ettt eaeev e eneeteeaeneeneereeseneenseaeaes $26.49 $21.84 $0.25
SECONA QUATTET.........cveveeeeeieeieteeieeeete ettt ettt ettt eaeeve et e s eaeeae s e s ereeseetesseneeaserens $27.03 $24.70 $0.25
FAISt QUATTET ...ttt ettt ettt e e e e st ae e ae e s eseesese e ne $29.88 $26.19 $0.25
2014
FOUIth QUATTET.......oeevieieeececceeecee ettt ettt e a e s ne e $34.04  $25.87 $0.25
THITd QUATTET ......veveeveeeeeceeeeeec ettt ettt ettt eeeteev e ene et e eaenseneereeseneeasereaes $35.79 $30.46 $0.80 (a)
SECONA QUATLET.........cvevieeerietieieeeeteete ettt ettt ettt aeeve et eseae et et e s ereereetenseseeaeeaeas $36.44 $34.76 $0.37
FATST QUATTET ...ttt ettt ettt et et et etees e eneetesaeneene et e s eneeasereans $35.29 $30.46 $0.37

(a) Third quarter 2014 dividends included a $0.50 per share special dividend related to restricted cash proceeds received from
Rayonier Advanced Materials in connection with the spin-off.

The table below summarizes the tax characteristics of the dividend paid to shareholders on a percentage basis for the three
years ended December 31, 2015:

2015 2014 2013
Total cash dividend per common Share..............coceveiiiirieieiieieececeeeeeeeene $1.00 $2.03 $1.86
TAX CRAFACEEFISTICS: .eo.veeeeeeeeeieee ettt ettt ettt sttt aeebe e b e ebeebeesseenaeeseeas
CaAPTLAL GAIN .ottt sttt teesa e b e s beeseessesbesbeeseessesbesseessensens 90.47% 79.28% 38.71%
QUANTIEA. ...t ettt ettt et te et eaa e et enns — — 61.29%
Non-dividend diStrIDULION ........c.eiiiiiieiiiieciieecie ettt e 9.53% 20.72% —
Holders

There were approximately 6,873 shareholders of record of our Common Shares on February 19, 2016.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

See Note 16 — Incentive Stock Plans for information on securities that are authorized for issuance under The Rayonier
Incentive Stock Plan (“the Stock Plan”).

Shelf Registrations

In May 2004, we completed a Form S-4 acquisition shelf registration to offer and issue 7.0 million common shares for the
acquisition of other businesses, assets or properties. As of December 31, 2015, no common shares have been offered or issued
under the Form S-4 shelf registration. In April 2015, we filed a universal shelf registration giving us the ability to issue and sell
an indeterminate amount of various types of debt and equity securities. As of December 31, 2015, no securities have been offered
or issued under the universal shelf registration.
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Issuer Repurchases

In June 2015, the Board of Directors approved the repurchase of up to $100 million of Rayonier’s common shares (the “share
repurchase program”) to be made at management’s discretion. A total of 1,034,713 shares were repurchased under this program
in the fourth quarter of 2015. No remaining shares were available for repurchase under this program as of December 31, 2015.

In 1996, we began a Common Share repurchase program (the “anti-dilutive program”) to minimize the dilutive effect of our
employee incentive stock plans on earnings per share. This program limits the number of shares that may be purchased each year
to the greater of 1.5% of outstanding shares at the beginning of the year or the number of incentive shares issued to employees
during the year. In October 2000, July 2003 and October 2011, our Board of Directors authorized the purchase of additional shares
in the program totaling 2.1 million shares. The anti-dilutive program does not have an expiration date. There were no shares
purchased under this program in the fourth quarter of 2015 and there were 3,836,655 shares available for purchase at December 31,
2015.

The following table provides information regarding our purchases of Rayonier common stock during the quarter ended
December 31, 2015:

Maximum
Total Number of  Number of Shares
Average  Shares Purchased that May Yet Be
Total Number Price as Part of Publicly Purchased Under

of Shares Paid per  Announced Plans the Plans or

Period Purchased (a) Share or Programs (b) Programs (c)
October 1 to October 31......ccccveveeiieiieieieeeeen 17,000 22.00 17,000 4,906,605
November 1 to November 30.........ccccecverirenrennnne. 478,081 23.55 478,081 4,399,347
December 1 to December 31........ocoovvvvveiivinnneeenn. 540,580 23.15 539,632 3,836,655
TOtal oo 1,035,661 1,034,713 3,836,655

(a) Includes 948 shares of the Company’s common stock purchased in December, respectively, from employees in non-open
market transactions. The shares of stock were sold by current and former employees of the Company in exchange for cash
that was used to pay withholding taxes associated with the vesting of restricted stock awards under the Company’s stock
incentive plan. The price per share surrendered is based on the closing price of the company’s stock on the respective vesting
dates of the awards.

(b) Purchases made in open-market transactions under the $100 million share repurchase program announced on June 16, 2015.

(c) Maximum number of shares authorized to be purchased as of December 31, 2015 include 3,836,655 under the 1996 anti-
dilutive program.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the performance of Rayonier’s Common Shares (assuming reinvestment of dividends) with a
broad-based market index (Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) 500), and two industry-specific indices (the Financial Times Stock
Exchange (“FTSE”) National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) All Equity REITs Index and the S&P
1500 Paper and Forest Products Index). This graph has been adjusted to reflect the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business in
2014.

The table and related information shall not be deemed to be “filed” with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated
by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except
to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference into such filing.
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The data in the following table was used to create the above graph as of December 31:

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

RAYONIET INC. ..ottt $100 $132 $159 $134 $126 $104
S&P 500 ...couerveeeseeeeeesseeeeess s 100 102 118 157 178 181
FTSE NAREIT All Equity REITS......cccceiiiriieieieieeeeeeieie e 100 108 130 133 171 176
S&P® 1500 Paper & Forest Products INdex ..............cocovevweveeeereesreeennnn. 100 109 144 184 199 158
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following financial data should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Profitability:

SAIES (@).1euveuvereerieieriestetete sttt sttt ettt ettt et et e te et e et ebesbeennenbans
Operating iNCOME (A)(D)...ceveruirrerieniiriieieiereeteetetese ettt
Income from continuing operations attributable to Rayonier Inc. (a)(b).......
Diluted earnings per common share from continuing operations..................

Financial Condition:

0] | TS £ ) TSRS
TOtAl AEDL (2).euveeeeenieieeiieieieie ettt ettt sttt st
Shareholders’ EQUILY........ccoeriririeririreeese ettt
Shareholders’ equity — Per Share.........cecevieeecierienieieiesese e

Cash Flows:

Cash provided by operating activVities..........cceeeeverieriereerierieneniesiesieseenenees
Cash used for iINVesting aCtiVItIES ........eeeerierieeieeieeie et
Cash used for (provided by) financing activities .........cceeuererervererereernene.
Depreciation, depletion and amortization .............cccevererreerieneneeneneneenenne
Cash dividends Paid........cceceriiieiieniiiieieieseeeee ettt ae e
Dividends paid — per Share...........cccooeeierieninieieseeeeeeeeee e

Non-GAAP Financial Measures:
Adjusted EBITDA (c)
SOUhEIN TIMDET ..c..evveiieiiiiieieiecieeee ettt
Pacific Northwest TImDET ........c.cccveeiieiiieiieiiereeree et
New Zealand TimDer .......cvevveriiiieieiecieieieeee et
Real EState (A)...coovieeiieeiieiieeiieeie ettt ettt st esae e
TTAAING. .. .ceveiictieieieete ettt ettt saesbeeae e s e aesteeseensenes
Corporate and OtheT ...........ocuevuiririeiiiirieiee e
Total Adjusted EBITDA (€)(d)..eevverveerienieeieeieeieeieeieee e

Other:

Timberland and real estate acres — owned, leased, or managed, in
MIIONS Of ACTES ..ecvviiiiiiieiie ettt ettt
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At or For the Years Ended December 31,

2015

2014

2013

2012 2011

(dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

$5449  $603.5  $659.7  $378.6  $391.3
77.8 98.3 108.7 32.1 55.1
46.2 55.9 103.9 16.8 583
0.37 0.43 0.80 0.13 0.47
$2,319.3  $2,453.1 $3,685.5 $3,123.0  $2,569.3
833.9 751.6  1,5742  1270.1 847.3
13617 15752  1,755.2 14380  1323.1
11.09 12.51 13.90 11.66 10.84
$177.2  $3204  $546.8  $447.7  $4337
166.3 196.7 470.5 474.7 490.1
116.5 161.4 157.1  (229.0)  215.1
113.7 120.0 116.9 84.6 76.5
124.9 2575 237.0 206.6 185.3
$1.00 $2.03 $1.86 $1.68 $1.52
$101.0 $97.9 $87.2 $76.1 $56.7
21.7 50.8 54.1 42.8 49.0
33.0 46.0 383 22 44
70.8 48.4 57.8 44.8 39.2
1.2 1.7 1.8 (0.1) 1.5
(19.7)  (31.3)  (453)  (44.9) (39.5)
$208.0  $213.5  $1939  $121.4  S$111.3
2.7 2.7 2.7 2.7 2.7



For the Years Ended December 31,

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Selected Operating Data:
Timber
Sales volume (thousands of tons)
SOULNEIT ... 5,492 5,296 5,292 5,322 4,741
Pacific NOTtHWESt (€)..c.vervieieieieriieeieieieeieeeeie e 1,243 1,664 1,979 1,947 1,665
New Zealand Domestic (f) ......ccvvevierierienieiieeie e 1,346 1,462 1,271 — —
New Zealand EXport (f)....ccocevvriecienienieieieieseeeeveie e 1,065 898 651 — —
Total Sales VOlume.........cocooveceeininieiinicninicinncccnccenens 9,146 9,320 9,193 7,269 6,406
Real Estate — acres sold -
Development (IMProved) ........ccceeeverereeiecieneneeeeieese e 74 — 45 — —
Development (Unimproved) .........coccoeeeveneniecininenneeeineeenenn. 699 852 281 261 606
RULAL ... e 8,754 18,077 13,833 13,307 10,880
Non-Strategic / Timberlands ...........cocevevircienininienieneiieiens 23,602 6,363 13,360 17,355 9,824
Large Dispositions (€)(h) .....occveeieeiriiieeieeiieieeeeeeee e — 19,556 149,428 — 6,308
Total Acres Sold.....c..ccvverineiiiiniicinreceeeceeas 33,129 44,848 176,947 30,923 27,618

(2)

(b)
(©

(d)
(e)
®
(8

(h)

On April 4, 2013, the Company increased its interest in the New Zealand JV to 65% and began consolidating the New Zealand
JV's results of operations and balance sheet.

The 2013 results included a $16.2 million gain related to the consolidation of the New Zealand JV.

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, depletion, amortization, the non-cash cost of land
and real estate sold, costs related to shareholder litigation, costs related to spin-off of the Performance Fibers business, internal
review and restatement costs, large dispositions, discontinued operations, and the gain related to the consolidation of the New
Zealand joint venture.

Previously reported Adjusted EBITDA for 2014, 2013 and 2011 has been restated to exclude large dispositions.
2013 and prior results include sales volumes from New York timberlands.
New Zealand sales volume for 2013 includes volumes sold subsequent to the April 2013 consolidation.

Large Dispositions are defined as transactions involving the sale of timberland that exceed $20 million in size and do not have
any identified HBU premium relative to timberland value. Sales designated as Large Dispositions are excluded from our
calculation of Adjusted EBITDA and CAD.

The 2013 results included a fourth quarter sale of approximately 128,000 acres of New York timberlands.
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Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) by Segment to Adjusted EBITDA by Segment
(dollars in millions)

Pacific New Corporate
Southern Northwest Zealand Real and
Timber Timber Timber Estate Trading other Total

2015
Operating income (10SS)...........ooveveverereeeeerererereennns $46.7 $6.9 $2.8 $44.3 $1.2 ($24.1) $77.8
Less: Non-operating expense... — — — — — (0.1) (0.1)
Add:  Depreciation, depletion and amortization ... 543 14.8 29.7 14.5 — 0.4 113.7
Add:  Non-cash cost of land and real estate sold .. — — 0.5 12.0 — — 12.5
Add:  Costs related to sharecholder litigation (a) ... — — — — — 4.1 4.1
Adjusted EBITDA (D).....ccovvrieieieieieieieeeeesieenen $101.0 $21.7 $33.0 $70.8 $1.2 ($19.7) $208.0
2014 - =
Operating income (10SS)..........cooveverererereriererereeeennns $45.7 $29.5 $9.5 $47.5 $1.7 ($35.6)  $98.3
Add:  Depreciation, depletion and amortization ... 52.2 213 322 13.4 — 0.9 120.0
Add:  Non-cash cost of land and real estate sold .. — — 4.3 8.9 — — 13.2
Less:  Large dispositions (€).........cocoevevevevevereennnnne — — — (21.4) — — (21.4)
Add:  Internal review and restatement costs ......... — — — — — 3.4 34
Adjusted EBITDA (D).....ccovevvieiireirieieieeseesieenen $97.9 $50.8 $46.0 $48.4 $1.7 ($31.3) $213.5
2013 - =
Operating inCOmME (10SS)...vvvvereerereervererererereerererenes $37.8 $32.7 $10.6 $55.9 $1.8 ($30.1) $108.7
Add:  Depreciation, depletion and amortization ... 49.4 21.4 27.7 17.4 — 1.0 116.9
Add:  Non-cash cost of land and real estate sold .. — — — 10.2 — — 10.2
Less:  Large dispositions (€).........cccocvevvvevevereennnnne — — — (25.7) — — 25.7)
Less:  Gain related to consolidation of New

Zealand JV — — — — — (16.2) (16.2)
Adjusted EBITDA (b) $87.2 $54.1 $38.3 $57.8 $1.8 ($45.3) $193.9
2012 -
Operating income (10SS)....c.coveverveerieuirrrveriereeereienens $23.4 $20.6 $2.0 $32.0 (%0.1) ($45.8)  $32.1
Add: Depreciation, depletion and amortization ... 52.7 222 0.2 8.1 — 14 84.6
Add:  Non-cash cost of land and real estate sold .. — — — 4.7 — — 4.7
Adjusted EBITDA (D)..c.cccvoveieieieiinirieieieieeeeeieeee $76.1 $42.8 $2.2 $44.8 ($0.1) ($44.4) $1214
2011 -
Operating inCOmME (10SS)-..vvvereeereremeeeiererererrererenenes $13.4 $29.5 $4.2 $47.3 $1.5 (%40.8)  $55.1
Add:  Depreciation, depletion and amortization ... 433 19.5 0.2 12.2 — 1.3 76.5
Add:  Non-cash cost of land and real estate sold .. — — — 43 — — 43
Less:  Large dispositions () ..........ccccruevevevevevennene. — — — (24.6) — — (24.6)
Adjusted EBITDA (D)..c.cccovovvviieiciiiiiiiccicceeennns $56.7 $49.0 $4.4 $39.2 $1.5 ($39.5) S$111.3

(a) Costs related to shareholder litigation include expenses incurred as a result of the securities litigation, the shareholder derivative demands and
the Securities and Exchange Commission investigation. See Note 10 - Contingencies.

(b) Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, depletion, amortization, the non-cash cost of land and real estate
sold, costs related to shareholder litigation, costs related to spin-oft of the Performance Fibers business, internal review and restatement costs,
large dispositions, discontinued operations, and the gain related to the consolidation of the New Zealand joint venture.

(c) Large Dispositions include sales of timberland that exceed $20 million in size and do not have any identified HBU premium relative to
timberland value.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Executive Summary

Our Company

We are a leading timberland real estate investment trust (“REIT”) with assets located in some of the most productive timber
growing regions in the U.S. and New Zealand. Our revenues, operating income and cash flows are primarily derived from the
following core business segments: Southern Timber, Pacific Northwest Timber, New Zealand Timber, Real Estate and Trading.
We own or lease under long-term agreements approximately 2.3 million acres of timberland and real estate in Alabama, Arkansas,
Florida, Georgia, Louisiana, Mississippi, Oklahoma, Oregon, Tennessee, Texas and Washington. We also have a 65% ownership
interest in Matariki Forestry Group, a joint venture (“New Zealand JV”’), that owns or leases approximately 0.4 million gross acres
(0.3 million net plantable acres) of New Zealand timberlands.

Across our timberland management segments, we sell standing timber (primarily at auction to third parties) and delivered
logs. Sales from these segments also include all activities related to the harvesting of timber and other value-added activities such
as the leasing of properties for hunting, mineral extraction and cell towers. We believe we are the third largest publicly-traded
timberland REIT and the seventh largest private landowner in the United States. Our Real Estate business manages all property
sales and seeks to maximize the value of our properties that are more valuable for development, recreational or residential uses
than for growing timber, and opportunistically sells non-strategic timberlands. Our Trading segment, also part of the New Zealand
JV, markets and sells timber owned or acquired from third parties in New Zealand and Australia.

Current Year Developments

On June 16, 2015, we announced approval by our Board of Directors of a $100 million share repurchase program. Under this
program, we repurchased approximately 4.2 million shares at an average price of $23.79 per share and completed the program in
December 2015.

During 2015, we acquired approximately 35,000 acres of timberlands primarily in Florida, Georgia, Louisiana, Mississippi
and Oregon for $88.5 million. We also acquired forestry rights covering approximately 1,800 acres of timberland with mature
timber in New Zealand for $9.9 million. For additional information, see Note 3 — Timberland Acquisitions.

On August 5, 2015 we entered into a credit agreement with CoBank, ACB, as administrative agent, and a syndicate of Farm
Credit institutions and other commercial banks to provide $550 million of new credit facilities, including a five-year $200
million revolving credit facility and a nine-year $350 million term loan facility. These new credit facilities were used to refinance
the company’s existing revolving credit facility and senior exchangeable notes due in August 2015. We also intend to use the credit
facilities to fund a capital infusion into the company’s New Zealand JV for repayment of JV indebtedness. We expect this transaction
to close in first quarter 2016. For additional information, see Note 5 — Debt.

Industry and Market Conditions

In 2015, pricing in the South was comparable to 2014 while pricing in the Pacific Northwest was negatively impacted by
weaker demand from China and the shutdown of some local mills. We continue to believe that U.S. housing starts will improve
gradually, but that in 2016 we will not reach conditions favorable to significantly improve sawlog pricing. In our New Zealand
Timber segment, domestic pricing was generally comparable to 2014 while we experienced decreased export demand throughout
most of the year with some recovery in the fourth quarter. We expect 2016 average prices in New Zealand to be broadly in line
with 2015 average prices.

In Real Estate, we expect steady demand for rural properties and a strengthening interest in selected development properties,
particularly as we begin to sell parcels within our East Nassau mixed-used development project.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires us to establish accounting policies and make estimates, assumptions and
judgments that affect our assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and to disclose contingent assets and liabilities in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K. We base these estimates and assumptions on historical data and trends, current fact patterns, expectations
and other sources of information we believe are reasonable. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Merchantable inventory and depletion costs as determined by forestry timber harvest models

Timber is stated at the lower of cost or market value. Costs related to acquiring, planting and growing timber including real
estate taxes, lease rental payments, site preparation and direct support costs relating to facilities, vehicles and supplies are capitalized.
Payroll and other employee benefit costs are capitalized only for time spent on these activities, while interest or any other intangible
costs aside from those mentioned above are not capitalized.

An annual depletion rate is established for each particular region by dividing the cost of merchantable inventory by standing
merchantable inventory volume. Pre-merchantable records are maintained for each planted year age class, recording acres planted,
stems per acre and costs of planting and tending.

Significant assumptions and estimates are used in the recording of timber inventory and depletion costs. Factors that can
impact timber volume include weather changes, losses due to natural causes, differences in actual versus estimated growth rates
and changes in the age when timber is considered merchantable. A 3% company-wide change in estimated standing merchantable
inventory would cause an estimated change of approximately $2.4 million to 2016 depletion expense.

Merchantable standing timber inventory is estimated by our land information services group annually, using industry-standard
computer software. The inventory calculation takes into account growth, in-growth (annual transfer of oldest pre-merchantable
age class into merchantable inventory), timberland sales and the annual harvest specific to each business unit. The age at which
timber is considered merchantable is reviewed periodically and updated for changing harvest practices, future harvest age profiles
and biological growth factors.

Acquisitions of timberland can also affect the depletion rate. Upon the acquisition of timberland, we make a determination
whether to combine the newly acquired merchantable timber with an existing depletion pool or to create a new pool. The
determination is based on the geographic location of the new timber, the customers/markets that will be served and species mix.
During 2015, we acquired approximately 35,000 acres of timberlands primarily in Florida, Georgia, Louisiana, Mississippi and
Oregon. We also acquired forestry rights covering approximately 1,800 acres of timberlands in New Zealand. These acquisitions
increased 2015 depletion expense by $1.5 million and are expected to increase 2016 depletion expense by approximately $2.2
million.

Capitalized costs included in timber basis

Timber is stated at the lower of cost or market value. Costs relating to acquiring, planting and growing timber including real
estate taxes, site preparation and direct support costs relating to facilities, vehicles and supplies are capitalized. Annual lease
payments are also capitalized if the remaining lease term is greater than five years. Lease payments made within five years of
expiration are expensed as incurred. Payroll costs are capitalized for time spent on timber growing activities, while interest or any
other intangible costs are not capitalized.

Revenue recognition for timber sales

Revenue from the sale of timber is recognized when title passes to the buyer. We utilize two primary methods or sales channels
for the sale of timber: a stumpage model and a delivered log model. The sales method the Company employs depends upon local
market conditions and which method management believes will provide the best overall margins. Under the stumpage model,
standing timber is sold generally under pay-as-cut contracts, with specified duration (typically one year or less) and fixed prices,
whereby revenue is recognized as timber is severed and the sales volume is determined. We also sell stumpage under lump-sum
contracts where the Company receives cash for the full agreed value of the timber prior to harvest and title and risk of loss pass
to the buyer upon signing the contract. Any uncut timber remaining at the end of the contract period reverts to the Company. We
recognize revenue for lump-sum timber sales when cash is received, the contract is signed and title and risk of loss pass to the
buyer. A third type of stumpage sale is an agreed-volume sale whereby revenue is recognized as periodic physical observations
are made of the percentage of acreage harvested.

Under the delivered log model, the Company hires third-party loggers and haulers to harvest timber and deliver it to a buyer.
Revenue is recognized when the logs are delivered and title and risk of loss transfer to the buyer. Sales of delivered logs generally
do not require an initial payment and are made to third-party customers on open credit terms.
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In the Trading business, revenue on sales of logs is recognized when title and risk of loss passes to the buyer. For domestic
log sales, title and risk are considered passed to the buyer as the logs are delivered to the customer. For export log sales, title and
risk are considered passed to the buyer at the time the ship leaves the port.

Non-timber income included in “Other Operating Income, Net” is primarily hunting and recreational leases. Lease income is
recognized ratably over the period of the lease.

Revenue recognition for real estate sales

The Company recognizes revenue on sales of real estate generally when cash has been received, the sale has closed, and title
and risk of loss have passed to the buyer. Cost of sales associated with real estate sold comprises the cost of the land, the cost of
any timber on the property that was conveyed to the buyer, and any closing costs including sales commissions that may be borne
by the Company. Costs incurred to obtain land use entitlements or for infrastructure such as utilities, roads or other improvements
are charged to cost of sales for a project as a percentage of revenue earned to total anticipated revenue and costs for each project.
Sales of improved or entitled land have been limited, but the Company expects such sales to increase in future years.

Determining the adequacy of pension and other postretirement benefit assets and liabilities

We have one qualified non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering a portion of our employees and an unfunded
plan that provides benefits in excess of amounts allowable under current tax law in the qualified plan. The qualified plan is closed
to new participants.

In 2015, we recognized $4.6 million of pension and postretirement expense. Numerous estimates and assumptions are required
to determine the proper amount of pension and postretirement liabilities and annual expense to record in our financial statements.
The key assumptions include discount rate, return on assets, salary increases, health care cost trends, mortality rates, longevity
and service lives of employees. Although there is authoritative guidance on how to select most of the assumptions, some degree
of judgment is exercised in selecting these assumptions based on input from our actuary. Different assumptions, as well as actual
versus expected results, would change the periodic benefit cost and funded status of the benefit plans recognized in the financial
statements. See Note 15 — Employee Benefit Plans for additional information.

Realizability of both recorded and unrecorded tax assets and tax liabilities

The Timber and Real Estate operations conducted within our REIT are generally not subject to U.S. income taxation. Prior
to the June 27, 2014 spin-off of Rayonier Advanced Materials, our taxable REIT subsidiary operations included the Performance
Fibers business. As such, during 2014 and prior periods, our income taxes varied significantly. Therefore, our projection of estimated
income tax for the year and our provision for quarterly income taxes, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
may have varied significantly. Post-spin, we do not expect significant variability in our effective tax rate and the amount of cash
taxes to be paid as the majority of our business operations are conducted within our REIT. However, the assessment of the ability
to realize certain deferred tax assets, or estimate deferred tax liabilities, remains subjective. See Note 9 — Income Taxes for
additional information about our unrecognized tax benefits.
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Summary of our results of operations for the three years ended December 31:

Financial Information (in millions)

Sales

SOULNEIN TIMDET ....eiiiiiiiiececeiee ettt e e et e s st e e s e eatee e e s eaaeeeesenaeeeas
Pacific NOIthwest TIMDET........cccvoiiiiiiiiiiiiieceeee ettt eaee e
New Zealand TImMDET (Q).......ccueveeierieriiriieiieierie ettt ettt ettt et e et sbeens

Real Estate

Non-Strategic / TImberlands.............ccocoeiririiiiiiininiieceeeee e
Large DIiSPOSILIONS (1) ..cvveverieriieieierieeieeieriesteettetestesteseaesessesseessensesseeseessessessesssessensessenses
Total REAl ESTALE......c..ceiuiiiiiiiiiiieieicrictctet ettt ettt sttt

T4 10 VSRS

Intersegment EIMINAtIONS .....cc.eeierieriirieieieniieieieie sttt ettt ste et e be s st enaesbeeneennesesbeens
TOAL SALES ...ttt ettt ettt b

Operating Income

SOULNEIN TIMDET......eetiitieieiecticietere ettt ettt ste e b e besseeseessessesseessessensesseessensessensean
Pacific NOTtRWESt TIMDET ......cc.evieierieriieiieierieeicetete sttt ettt ettt ettt ettt st see e b ees
New Zealand TIMDET (@) ..ecveeveecverieiiiieiesiieeeteieste e et eteste sttt ebesteeseesaessesseessessessessesssessesesseanns
REAI ESLALE (D) .vicuviiiiieiieie ettt ettt ettt ettt e b e te e s aeeeteeeaaeeabeeaseeaneenseenreeans
TTAQINE -ttt b b et b e bbb e bbbt ettt e h e e bt et beehe et et b eaee

Corporate and OTNET (C) ...veveriiriieieierieeeeieterte ettt ettt te et e st e sbeesee b e besseeseensensesseensensesseenes
OPperating INCOMIE .............ccoiiiiiiiie ettt ettt sttt sbe e

INEIESt EXPEIISE ...eeneiiiiiie ettt ettt et e ettt e e bt e et e et e e bt e e saeeas

Interest/Other (EXPense) INCOME ........cc.eeieieriirieieieitieteie ettt s

JTeTey s T 5 Q513 1 1< i L SRR

Income from Continuing OPerations ................ccoccoviiiiiiiniiieierieeee e

Discontinued Operations, Net ...............ccoiiiiiiiiiiii ettt

INEE INCOMIC ........ooveiiiieeecceceeee e et e e e e et e e e eeaae e e e eeataeeeeenaaeeeeeeateseeeenreeens

Less: Net (Loss) Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest..........cccoeeevevienerericeneneneene

Net Income Attributable to Rayonier Inc. .............ccccoooiiiiiiiiiii e

Adjusted EBITDA (d)
SOULNEIN TIMDET.......viiiiiiieiie ettt et e e e e et e et e e eateeeeaeeeenveeeteeeenteeeeneeesreeeas

Pacific NOTtRWESt TIMDET ......cc.eeiiieieriieiieieieeeeee ettt ettt sttt sbe e
New Zealand TIMDET (@) ..ccveeeeeierieiieieiesieceete ettt et ete sttt et et e stestaesaesbessaeseessessessesssessesesseanes
REAI ESLALE () c.vievvievieiieieeiieett ettt ettt et e et e et e et e et e ebeebeesseebe e teesteesaeesssesasesaseesseenseenseenseennes
16 10V USRS

COrporate ANd OTNET.........ecieiiriicieieeeeeee ettt ettt e et e beeae e st esbenbeeseennenbesreenes
Total Adjusted EBITDA (A)(€)........ccoveiiiiiieiieiieiieie ettt ettt saeesaeeaeesveenseennes

(@)
(b)

(©)
(d)
(e)

2013 included $146.0 million in sales from the consolidation of the New Zealand JV.

2015 2014 2013
$139.1  $141.8  $123.8
76,5 1022 1105
161.6 1824 1477
2.6 — 1.6
6.4 4.8 2.8
227 41.0 27.5
54.8 9.5 37.1
— 22.0 80.0
86.5 773 149.0
812 1037 1317
— 3.9) (3.0)
$5449 ~ $603.5  $659.7
$46.7  $45.7  $37.8
6.9 29.5 32.7
2.8 9.5 10.6
443 47.5 55.9
1.2 1.7 1.8
4.1)  (356)  (30.1)
77.8 983 1087
(B17)  (442)  (40.9)
(3.0) (9.3) 2.4
0.8 9.6 35.7
439 544 1058
— 434 268.0
439 978 ~ 3738
(2.3) (1.5) 1.9
$462  $993  $371.9
$101.0  $97.9  $87.2
217 50.8 54.1
33.0 46.0 383
70.8 48.4 57.8
1.2 1.7 1.8
(19.7)  (313)  (45.3)
$208.0 $213.5  $193.9

The 2013 results included a fourth quarter sale of approximately 128,000 acres of New York timberland holdings for $57.3

million.

The 2013 results included a $16.2 million gain related to the consolidation of the New Zealand JV.
Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Item 6 — Selected Financial Data.

Previously reported 2014 and 2013 Adjusted EBITDA have been restated to exclude large dispositions.
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Southern Timber Overview

Sales Volume (in thousands of tons)

Pine Pulpwood .......ccooiiuieiiiicieeeeeeeeeee e
Pine SAWHMDET ......ccuevuiiiiiiiierieeeeeesee e
Total Pine Volume................cccooeeiiiiieiiiiceecceeeeee e
Hardwood........cooiieiiiiiieeeeeee et

Total Volume..............ccovviiiiiiiiiciee e e

Percentage Delivered Sales..........cccocovereienininieinenencineneceee.

Percentage Stumpage Sales.........cccevvieuieiecienieieieee e

Net Stumpage Prices (dollars per ton)

Pine PUIPWOOd ......ccoovviiiiiiiiiiiiceeeeeeeteee et
Pine SaWtmDer ........cccooveviiiiiiiieiree e
Weighted Average Pine..............ccccoooviiiininiiniiiineeceee
Hardwood.........ooiii e
Weighted Average Total.................ccoovininiinininiicen,

Summary Financial Data (in millions of dollars)

Operating INCOME..........cveverieriieieieieceee et
Adjusted EBITDA () ...euevveveirieieinieieieieesieieseeieieseeiee e

Other Data
Non-Timber Income, net (in millions of dollars) (b)......................
Year-End Acres (in thousands)...........cccceeevevieeeeiecieneneeieiese e

(a) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Item 6 — Selected Financial Data.

(b) Non-Timber Income is presented net of direct charges and allocated overhead.
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2015 2014 2013
3,614 3,284 3,181
1,581 1,701 1,676
5,195 4,985 4,857

297 311 435
5,492 5,296 5,292
27% 33% 28%
73% 67% 72%
$18.13 $18.48 $16.12
27.62 26.45 24.06
$21.01 $21.20 $18.86
14.65 13.01 12.89
$20.66 $20.72 $18.37
$139.1 $141.8 $123.8
(25.7) (32.1) (26.0)
$113.4 $109.7 $97.8
$46.7 $45.7 $37.8
$101.0 $97.9 $87.2
$15.2 $13.2 $14.9
1,876 1,906 1,893



Pacific Northwest Timber Overview

Sales Volume (in thousands of tons)

Northwest Pulpwood.........ccecevierieienienenieieiee,
Northwest SaWtimber...........ccceeveeeeievieneeieieieenee
Total Northwest Volume.........cccoceevvevverenencieniennnnenn
Northeast - New YOrK.......ccoooeeeiiviiiiieiicieeieeeenee,
Total Volume................oocveiiiiiieieeeceee e

Northwest Sales Volume (converted to MBF)

Northwest Pulpwood..........cccevevieievieninieieiee

Northwest SAWHMDET .........ccoovvvveiiiiiiiieieeiieeeeeeee,

Percentage Delivered Sales.........ccoceevveveverceenienienen.

Percentage Stumpage Sales.........ccceeveveeiecieniennenen.

Delivered Log Prices (in dollars per ton)

Northwest Pulpwood..........cccevieeeeievieninieieiee,

Northwest SAWtIMDbEr..........ooeiivviiiiiiiiieeeiecieeeeeens

Operating INCOME.........ccveveeierieriieieieieseeeee e
Adjusted EBITDA (2) ..ccvecvveieiieieeeieiecieeeceeieieeen

Other Data

Non-Timber Income, net (in millions of dollars) (b)

Year-End Acres (in thousands).............cc.cccveeveennenee.
Northwest Sawtimber (in dollars per MBF) .............

Estimated Percentage of Export Volume...................

(a) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Item 6 — Selected Financial Data.

2015 2014 2013
308 262 305
935 1,402 1,538

1,243 1,664 1,843
— — 136
1,243 1,664 1,979
29,208 24,761 28,840
120,932 178,898 197,431
150,140 203,659 226,271
88% 55% 56%
12% 45% 44%
$44.61 $39.20 $37.14
72.13 82.05 78.06
$64.83 $74.44 $71.08
$76.5 $102.2 $110.5
(35.4) (30.1) (35.0)
$41.1 $72.1 $75.5
$6.9 $29.5 $32.7
$21.7 $50.8 $54.1
$2.8 $1.7 $2.0
373 372 372
$565 $632 $608
22% 25% 26%

(b) Non-Timber Income is presented net of direct charges and allocated overhead.
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New Zealand Timber Overview (a) 2015 2014 2013
Sales Volume (in thousands of tons)

Domestic Sawtimber (Delivered)...........cccoeeeirviiiiieiieieeiieeee 684 644 740
Domestic Pulpwood (Delivered)..........coveverieievienieiicieiesieeeeans 434 352 360
Export Sawtimber (Delivered) ........ccocveevevievienieieieneeieiee e 982 827 798
Export Pulpwood (Delivered)..........cccoeeeriieniinieiieeiicieeieeeene 83 71 43
SEUMPAZE .....veenveeiieiieciie ettt ettt e seaeseeeseaesnaeseneas 228 466 464
Total VOIUME. ..........oevneiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeee e 2,412 2,360 2,405
Percentage Delivered Sales .........ccocevieieienieneeierieneceeiee e 91% 80% 81%
Percentage Stumpage Sales .........ccoveeveeieienieneeieienesieee e 9% 20% 19%

Delivered Log Prices (in dollars per ton)

Domestic SAWEHMDET ........coveveeiieiiieieiieieeceiee et $64.05 $78.15 $73.82
Domestic PUIPWOO...........cueeviveeeiciieeeeeceeeeeeeeee e $32.00 $37.84 $36.05
EXPOTt SAWHMDET ......ccviieiiieiiciieieieeeeteee et $88.59 $111.75 $125.77

Summary Financial Data (in millions of dollars)

SALES...eeeiiieieteieiee ettt $155.7 $177.3 $185.8
Less: Cut and Haul .........ccccooviiiieiiiiiiicieieeceeeeee e (71.5) (78.9) (82.0)
Less: Port and Freight CostS........ccoevrieierienieneeieieseeieeeie e (32.0) (35.8) (35.0)
Net Stumpage Sales .............c.ccooovvevieeeiieeeieeeeeeeee e $52.2 $62.6 $68.8
Land Sales / Other .......ccocovviiniririeieieieeeeeeeeeeeee e $5.9 $5.1 $3.0
Total Sales.........occoviiiiiiniiiiic s $161.6 $182.4 $188.8
Operating INCOME ..........ocveuiiereeiieriieieiieteeeeeetee et $2.8 $9.5 $11.2
Adjusted EBITDA (D).....cvooiiiieiieieieieeieieceeeeee e $33.0 $46.0 $45.9
Other Data

New Zealand Dollar to U.S. Dollar Exchange Rate (¢) ................ 0.7031 0.8299 0.8156
Net Plantable Year-End Acres (in thousands)............ccccccveeueenee. 299 309 314
Domestic Sawtimber (in SNZD per tonne) ..........cccceeeeveevereeeenennen $100.47 $103.59 $99.66
Export Sawtimber (in dollars per JAS m®) ........cooovveivoeveereernan, $103.49 $129.66 $145.92

(a) New Zealand Timber was consolidated on April 4, 2013 when we acquired a majority interest in the New Zealand JV. Prior
to the acquisition date, we accounted for our 26% interest in the New Zealand JV as an equity method investment. The 2013
information shown above reflects results as if the New Zealand JV had been consolidated for the full year, though information
presented elsewhere throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflects results only to the extent they were included in
our consolidated financial results.

(b) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Item 6 — Selected Financial Data.

(c) Represents the average of the month-end exchange rates for each year.
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Real Estate Overview 2015 2014 2013
Sales (in millions of dollars)

Improved Development (@) .........ccevereeeerienienieieienieseeeeie e 2.6 — 1.6
Unimproved Development............ccceeeevienieeeeienieneeeeieie e 6.4 4.8 2.8
RUTAL.....cooiiiiiiiciccec et 22.7 41.0 27.5
Non-Strategic / Timberlands.............cccoovvevieniiiiiiiiiee e 54.8 9.5 37.1
Large Dispositions (D).......cccccieeevierierieierienreeeeieiesreeeeesesse e esnenns — 22.0 80.0
TOtal SALES.........coviieieieieieiiieeee et $86.5 $77.3 $149.0
Sales (Development and Rural) (d).........cccoovveveeeveveeereeeeeeeenne $29.1 $45.8 $30.3
Acres Sold

Improved Development (2).........cccceeveeievrerieeeeieieneeeeieie e 74 — 45
Unimproved Development............cccceeeevenieneeieieneneeeeienie e 699 852 281
RULAL.....coiiiiiiiceee ettt 8,754 18,077 13,833
Non-Strategic / Timberlands............ccoccveevevierieiecieneeicieiesie e, 23,602 6,363 13,360
Large Dispositions (D)........ccecveierverenierierienieneeeesiesiesseeienseseeesnenns — 19,556 149,428
Total Acres SOld.............ooooieiiiiieieieeeee e 33,129 44,848 176,947
Acre Sold (Development and Rural) (d).......cccceveevevenieienieniiiennnns 9,454 18,929 14,114
Percentage of U.S. South acreage sold (C).....ccceovevveveieiecieniiiieneennn. 0.6% 1.2% 0.8%

Price per Acre (dollars per acre)

Improved Development (a) $35,131 — $34,680
Unimproved Development...........cccoceeievierienenieieieneeieiene e 9,148 5,623 10,116
RUTAL.....ooiiiic e 2,588 2,265 1,986
Non-Strategic / Timberlands...........cccocceeeveriereeciecieneeeeieiese e 2,324 1,498 2,773
Large Dispositions (D).......ccceeveierieniereerierienienieieiesieseeeenie e esnenes — 1,125 535
Weighted Average (Total excluding Large Dispositions)................ $2,611 $2,186 $2,507
Weighted Average (Development and Rural) (d)...........cocoeveueeeee. $3,073 $2,417 $2,148

(a) Reflects land with capital invested in infrastructure improvements.
(b) Includes 128,000 acres of timberlands in New York sold in the fourth quarter of 2013 for $57.3 million.
(c) Calculated as Southern development and rural acres sold over U.S. South acres owned.

(d) Excludes Improved Development.
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Capital Expenditures By Segment

Timber Capital Expenditures (in millions of dollars)
Southern Timber
Reforestation, silvicultural and other capital expenditures .................
Property taXeS ... .eeueeieieiieiieeiie ettt e e
Lease PAYMENTS ......covviiiiiiiiniiiienieetceeeeee ettt
Allocated overhead...........cooeieiiireiei e
Subtotal Southern Timber ...............ccocoooiiiiiininieceeeeee s
Pacific Northwest Timber
Reforestation, silvicultural and other capital expenditures .................
Property taXeS ...c.ooereeieniiniiieienieeeceeese et
LEaSE PAYMENTS ....eouriieiiiieiiieeiie ettt ettt ettt e seee e e
Allocated overhead...........cooeoiiiiirciiniiiie e
Subtotal Pacific Northwest Timber ..............cccoocoeiiiinininiiiiin,
New Zealand Timber (a)
Reforestation, silvicultural and other capital expenditures .................
PrOPErty tAXES . .ceouvieiiiiieeiieieeieesieeeete ettt
Lease PAYMENLS ......eevviiiieiieeiecie ettt

Allocated overhead..............coovvievviieiiiieiieceee e

Total Timber Segments Capital Expenditures.......................ccocceeee.
Real ESTAte....c..oieiiiiiiiiciieiciecteicrect ettt
COTPOTALE ...t euveeneeteeieesiteete st e e tteeteebeenteeseesseeseeseesseesseesssesssesssennsennsenn

Total Capital Expenditures...............cc.ocooeviininiinnennnenecenn

Timberland Acquisitions

Southern TIMDET ........cc.ooivuiiiiiieeiee et e

New Zealand Timber (D) ........cceeviieiiieiieiieeieeeeeeeee e
Real EState......c.ooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiciccccccce s

Subtotal Timberland ACqQUISItIONS...........ccccvevierieeeerierienieeeeiesesieeenens
Total Capital Expenditures (including Timberland Acquisitions)....

Real Estate Development Investments ................cccccoeoiniiiiniiecnnnen.

2015 2014 2013
$17.7 $18.7 $20.6
59 6.5 6.8
5.7 6.1 6.2
39 4.7 4.5
$33.2 $36.0 $38.1
6.2 7.5 5.5
0.5 0.5 1.2
1.8 1.8 1.7
$8.5 $9.8 $8.4
8.0 9.8 7.4
0.7 0.8 0.6
4.1 3.7 4.8
24 3.0 32
$15.2 $17.3 $16.0
$56.9 $63.1 $62.5
0.3 0.2 0.4
0.1 0.4 0.3
$57.3 $63.7 $63.2
$54.4 $125.7 $20.4
34.1 1.9 —
9.9 0.9 139.9
— 24 —
$98.4 $130.9 $160.3
$155.7 $194.6 $223.5
$2.7 $3.7 $1.3

(a) 2013 includes full year results of New Zealand Timber, which was consolidated on April 4, 2013.
(b) 2013 includes $139.9 million for the acquisition of an additional interest in the New Zealand JV.
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Results of Operations, 2015 versus 2014
(millions of dollars)

The following tables summarize the sales, operating income and Adjusted EBITDA variances for 2015 versus 2014:

Pacific New
Southern  Northwest Zealand Real Intersegment
Sales Timber Timber Timber Estate Trading Eliminations Total
2014 ..o $141.8 $102.2 $182.4 $77.3 $103.7 (83.9) $603.5
Volume/MiX......c.ccovveveveenennennnnne. (1.6) (14.0) 18.2 17.1 6.1 — 25.8
Price. .o (1.1) (11.7) (27.9) 14.1 (26.3) — (52.9)
Foreign exchange (a)..........cc.c...... — (12.7) — — — 12.7)
Other (D) .voveveeeveiereieeiereeeeene — — 1.6 (22.0) (2.3) 39 (18.8)
2015 e $139.1 $76.5 $161.6 $86.5 $81.2 — $544.9
Pacific New
Southern  Northwest  Zealand Real Corporate
Operating Income Timber Timber Timber Estate Trading and Other Total
2014 ... $45.7 $29.5 $9.5 $47.5 $1.7 ($35.6) $98.3
VOolume/MiX .....cccoveeieriiereieieisieeeieenns 22 (12.6) 0.8 11.5 — — 1.9
PTICE . 0.5) (11.2) (13.9) 14.1 — — (11.5)
COSE ittt 2.5) (1.1) 0.2 2.3) 0.6 10.9 5.8
Non-timber income............ccccoverrreeennnnen 1.9 1.1 2.5 — — — 5.5
Foreign exchange (a)........cccoovevveriennnnen. — — 23 — (1.1) — 1.2
Depreciation, depletion & amortization 0.1) 1.2 2.4 (3.6) — 0.6 0.5
Non-cash cost of land and real estate
SOI .o — — (0.5) (1.1) — — (1.6)
Other (¢).... — — 0.5) (21.8) — — (22.3)
2015, $46.7 $6.9 $2.8 $44.3 $1.2 ($24.1) $77.8
Pacific New
Southern  Northwest Zealand Real Corporate
Adjusted EBITDA (d) Timber Timber Timber Estate Trading and Other Total
$97.9 $50.8 $46.0 $48.4 $1.7 ($31.3) $213.5
4.2 (17.9) 1.4 16.6 — — 43
0.5) (11.2) (13.9) 14.1 — — (11.5)
2.5) (1.1) 0.2 2.5) 0.6 11.6 6.3
1.9 1.1 2.5 — — — 5.5
— — 3.1 — (1.1) — 4.2)
— — 0.1) (5.8) — — (5.9)
2015 e $101.0 $21.7 $33.0 $70.8 $1.2 ($19.7) $208.0

(a) Net of currency hedging impact.
(b) 2014 Real Estate sales included $22.0 million in large dispositions.

(c) 2014 Real Estate operating income included $16.0 million in large dispositions and $5.8 million in proceeds from a bankruptcy settlement with respect to
a former land sale customer.

(d) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Item 6 — Selected Financial Data.
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Southern Timber

Full-year 2015 Southern Timber sales of $139.1 million decreased $2.7 million, or 2%, versus the prior year due to a higher
mix of pulpwood (70% versus 66% in the prior year) and a lower proportion of delivered sales (27% versus 33% in the prior year),
partially offset by higher harvest volumes and stronger sawlog pricing. Harvest volumes increased 4% to 5.49 million tons versus
5.30 million tons in the prior year. Average sawtimber stumpage prices increased 4% to $27.62 per ton versus $26.45 per ton in
the prior year, while average pulpwood stumpage prices decreased 2% to $18.13 per ton versus $18.48 per ton in the prior year.
The increase in average sawtimber prices was driven primarily by selling stumpage when demand was strongest, generating
favorable prices throughout the year, partially offset by reduced harvest activity in higher-priced sawtimber regions. The decrease
in average pulpwood prices was primarily attributable to geographic mix and to a price decline in the fourth quarter on the east
coast due to a temporary mill shutdown. Overall, weighted average stumpage prices (including hardwood) were comparable to
the prior year at $20.66 per ton.

Operating income of $46.7 million increased $1.0 million versus the prior year due to higher volumes ($2.2 million), higher
non-timber income ($1.9 million) and lower depletion ($0.1 million), which were partially offset by higher costs ($2.5 million)
and lower pulpwood prices ($0.5 million). Full year 2015 Adjusted EBITDA of $101.0 million increased $3.1 million above the
prior year period.

Pacific Northwest Timber

Full-year 2015 Pacific Northwest Timber sales of $76.5 million decreased $25.7 million, or 25%, versus the prior year due to
the planned reduction of harvest volumes and, to a lesser extent, lower sawtimber prices. Harvest volumes declined 25% to 1.24
million tons versus 1.66 million tons in the prior year. Average delivered sawtimber prices decreased 12% to $72.13 per ton versus
$82.05 per ton in the prior year, while average delivered pulpwood prices increased 14% to $44.61 per ton versus $39.20 per ton
in the prior year. The decrease in average sawtimber prices was driven by weaker demand from China and the shutdown of some
local mills. The increase in average pulpwood prices was driven by strong local demand for pulpwood logs.

Operating income of $6.9 million decreased $22.6 million versus the prior year due to lower volumes ($12.6 million), lower
prices ($11.2 million) and higher costs ($1.1 million), which were partially offset by higher non-timber income ($1.1 million) and
lower depletion rates ($1.2 million). Full year Adjusted EBITDA of $21.7 million was $29.1 million below the prior year period.

New Zealand Timber

Full-year 2015 New Zealand Timber sales of $161.6 million decreased $20.8 million, or 11%, versus the prior year due to
lower domestic and export product prices, which were partially offset by higher delivered volumes. Harvest volumes increased
2% to 2.41 million tons versus 2.36 million tons in the prior year. Average delivered prices for export sawtimber declined 21% to
$88.59 per ton versus $111.75 per ton in the prior year, while average delivered prices for domestic sawtimber declined 18% to
$64.05 per ton versus $78.15 per ton in the prior year. The decline in export sawtimber prices was primarily due to weaker demand
from China, while the decline in domestic sawtimber prices (in U.S. dollar terms) was driven primarily by the fall in the NZ$/US
$ exchange rate (US$0.70 per NZ$1.00 versus US$0.83 per NZ$1.00). Excluding the impact of foreign exchange rates, domestic
sawtimber prices declined 3% versus the prior year.

Operating income of $2.8 million decreased $6.7 million versus the prior year due to the decrease in prices ($13.9 million)
and higher non-cash costs of land sold and forestry right relinquishments ($1.0 million), which were partially offset by higher
volume ($0.8 million), lower depletion rates ($2.4 million), higher non-timber income ($2.5 million), the impact of foreign exchange
rate changes ($2.3 million) and lower costs ($0.2 million). Full-year Adjusted EBITDA of $33.0 million was $13.0 million below
the prior year period.

Real Estate

Full-year 2015 sales of $86.5 million increased $9.2 million versus the prior year, while operating income of $44.3 million
decreased $3.2 million versus the prior year period. Full-year 2015 operating income decreased as the prior year included $5.8
million in proceeds from a bankruptcy settlement with respect to a former land sale customer. Excluding the proceeds from the
bankruptcy settlement and large dispositions, operating income increased $18.6 million due to higher weighted average prices
($2,611 per acre versus $2,186 per acre in the prior year), and higher volumes (33,129 acres sold versus 25,292 acres in the prior

year).
Full-year 2015 Adjusted EBITDA of $70.8 million was $22.4 million above the prior year.
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Trading

Full-year 2015 sales of $81.2 million decreased $22.5 million versus the prior year due to lower prices as a result of unfavorable
China market conditions, partially offset by higher volumes. Sales volumes increased 6% to 926,000 tons versus 873,000 tons in
the prior year. Average prices decreased 25% to $86.89 per ton versus $115.27 per ton in the prior year. Operating income decreased
$0.5 million versus the prior year, primarily due to a NZ$/US$ exchange gain ($1.1 million) in the prior year, partially offset by
lower sourcing and export costs ($0.6 million).

Corporate and Other Expense/Eliminations

Corporate and other expense was $24.1 million in 2015 versus $35.6 million in 2014. The 2015 results included $4.1 million
of costs related to shareholder litigation, while 2014 included $3.4 million of internal review and restatement costs. Excluding
these items, 2015 expense was favorable due to lower selling, general and administrative expenses as a result of the spin-off of
the Performance Fibers business.

Interest Expense

Interest expense of $31.7 million in 2015 decreased $12.5 million from the prior year primarily due to lower outstanding debt.
Interest expense in 2015 includes $0.4 million related to the write-off of capitalized financing costs, while 2014 includes $1.7
million related to the write-off of capitalized financing costs.

Interest and Miscellaneous (Expense) Income, Net

Other non-operating expense was $3.0 million in 2015 versus $9.2 million in 2014. The 2015 results were comprised of
favorable mark-to-market adjustments on New Zealand joint venture interest rate swaps, while 2014 included $3.8 million of costs
related to the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business.

Income Tax Benefit

The full-year 2015 tax benefit from continuing operations was $0.8 million versus $9.6 million in 2014. The current year
income tax benefit is principally related to the New Zealand JV, while the prior year benefit related to the Performance Fibers
business. See Note 9 — Income Taxes for additional information regarding the provision for income taxes.

Outlook for 2016

In2016, we expect a modest increase in Southern harvest volume, reflecting recent acquisitions, at prices generally comparable
to 2015. We continue to believe that U.S. housing starts will improve gradually, but that in 2016 we will not reach conditions
favorable to significantly improve sawlog pricing. In the Pacific Northwest, we expect volumes comparable to 2015 and are
cautiously optimistic that prices will improve from current levels, which will largely depend upon export market conditions. In
our New Zealand joint venture, we anticipate a reduction in harvest volume of approximately 10% due to timber age-class variations,
with average prices broadly in line with 2015. Also, we are on track with our previously announced plans to recapitalize our New
Zealand joint venture and thereby reduce consolidated interest expense while increasing our ownership interest from 65% to an
estimated 77%.

In our Real Estate segment, we expect continued steady demand for rural properties. We also anticipate strengthening interest in
selected development properties, particularly as we begin to sell parcels within Wildlight, our East Nassau mixed use development
project, which we anticipate in the second half of 2016. We are also planning on a higher level of investment in 2016 as we ramp
up our development efforts on this project.

Our 2016 outlook is subject to a number of variables and uncertainties, including those discussed at Item 1A — Risk Factors.
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Results of Operations, 2014 versus 2013

(millions of dollars)

The following tables summarize the sales, operating income and Adjusted EBITDA variances for 2014 versus 2013:

Sales

Foreign exchange ...........ccccoeu......
Other (C) cucoveveeeeiieiieeeeeveeens

Foreign exchange............cccoeeenen.

Depreciation, depletion &
AMOItiZation .........ccceeveeeveeeerecnnene.

Non-cash cost of land and real
estate sold........ccoeeeieiieiieie,

Pacific New
Southern Northwest Zealand Real
Timber Timber Timber (a) Estate Trading Other (b) Total
$123.8 $110.5 $188.8 $149.0 $131.7 ($44.1) $659.7
5.1 (11.3) 2.2 (5.6) (12.4) — (79.7)
12.9 5.4 (7.8) 8.1 (16.2) — (13.8)
— — 0.5 — — — 0.5
— 24 3.1 (58.0) 0.6 40.2 (16.5)
$141.8 $102.2 $182.4 $77.3 $103.7 ($3.9) $603.5
Pacific New
Southern  Northwest Zealand Real Corporate
Timber Timber Timber (a) Estate Trading  and Other (b) Total
$37.8 $32.7 $11.2 $55.9 $1.8 ($30.8) $108.6
0.6 5.1 (0.8) (3.9) — — 9.2)
12.9 5.4 4.2) 8.1 — — 6.0
1.4) 1.4 2.7 9.7 0.8 — 10.4
— — 2.8 — — — 2.8
— — 0.4) — 1.6 — 1.2
2.2) (3.0) 1.7 1.6 — — (1.9)
— — — (1.8) — — (1.8)
(2.0) 0.9 (3.5 (5.9) (2.5) (4.8) (17.8)
$45.7 $29.5 $9.5 $47.5 $1.7 ($35.6) $98.3
Pacific New
Southern  Northwest Zealand Real Corporate
Timber Timber Timber (a)  Estate (f) Trading and Other (b) Total
$87.2 $54.1 $45.9 $57.8 $1.8 ($52.9) $193.9
14 (7.0) (1.5) 54 — — (12.5)
12.9 5.4 4.2) 8.1) — — 6.0
1.4 1.4 2.7 2.1 0.8 — 1.4
— — 2.8 — — — 2.8
— — 0.3 — 1.6 — 1.9
2.2) 0.3) — 6.2 (2.5) 21.6 22.8
$97.9 $50.8 $46.0 $48.4 $1.7 ($31.3) $213.5

(a) New Zealand Timber was consolidated on April 4, 2013 when we acquired a majority interest in the New Zealand JV. Prior to the acquisition date, we
accounted for our 26% interest in the New Zealand JV as an equity method investment. The 2013 to 2014 New Zealand Timber variances shown above
reflect 2013 results as if the New Zealand JV was consolidated for the entire year, though information presented elsewhere throughout this Annual Report

on Form 10-K reflects results only to the extent they were included in our consolidated financial results.

(b) Primarily includes adjustments for 2013 New Zealand Timber sales, operating income, and Adjusted EBITDA that occurred before the consolidation of our
New Zealand JV and were not included in our consolidated financial results.

(c) The 2014 Real Estate sales included $22.0 million in large dispositions versus $80.0 million in 2013.

(d) The 2014 Real Estate operating income included $16.0 million from large dispositions and $5.8 million in proceeds from a bankruptcy settlement with
respect to a former land sale customer versus $16.1 million from large dispositions in 2013.

(e) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Item 6 — Selected Financial Data.

(f)  Previously reported 2014 and 2013 Adjusted EBITDA have been restated to exclude large dispositions.
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Southern Timber

Full-year 2014 Southern Timber sales of $141.8 million increased $19 million from 2013 primarily due to higher pine pulpwood
and sawtimber prices, driven by improved demand as the U.S. housing market and economy continued a slow recovery, as well
as by wet weather conditions through much of the year. Weighted average stumpage prices increased 13% to $20.72 per ton in
2014 versus $18.37 per ton in 2013. Additionally, while total harvest volumes were flat at 5.3 million tons in 2014 and 2013, a
greater mix of delivered sales versus stumpage sales in 2014 versus 2013 led to increased sales during the period.

The increase in sales was partially offset in operating income by higher cut and haul costs, higher depletion expense and lower
non-timber income resulting from a change in income recognition for hunting leases. Full year 2014 Adjusted EBITDA of $97.9
million increased $10.7 million above the prior year period.

Pacific Northwest Timber

Full-year 2014 Pacific Northwest Timber sales of $102.0 million were $7.5 million below 2013, which included $3 million
of sales from the formerly-owned New York timberlands. Sales declined in 2014 primarily due to lower harvest volumes, partially
offset by improved sawtimber and pulpwood pricing. Harvest volumes declined 16% to 1.7 million tons from 2.0 million tons in
2013. The decline in harvest volumes was driven by the sale of the Company’s New York timberlands in fourth quarter 2013 as
well as the reduction of harvest volumes pursuant to the Company’s revised operating strategy. See Item 1 — Business — Our
Strategy for additional information. Average delivered sawtimber prices in the Pacific Northwest increased 5% to $82.05 per ton
versus $78.06 per ton in 2013 and delivered pulpwood prices increased 6% to 39.20 per ton versus $37.14 per ton in 2013. These
increases in average prices reflected strong prices earlier in the year, which weakened in the second half of 2014 primarily due to
lower export demand as log inventory levels rose in China.

Operating income declined $3.2 million due to the lower volumes and a $1.9 million cumulative out-of-period adjustment
for depletion expense, which were partially offset by higher prices. Full year Adjusted EBITDA of $50.8 million was $3.3 million
below the prior year period.

New Zealand Timber

Full-year 2014 New Zealand Timber sales of $182.4 million decreased $6.4 million from 2013, reflecting results as if the
New Zealand JV had been consolidated for the full year 2013. Total harvest volumes in 2014 of 2.4 million tons were comparable
to 2013. Average delivered prices for domestic sawlogs increased 6% to $78.15 per ton versus $73.82 per ton in 2013, while
average delivered prices for export sawlogs declined 11% to $111.75 per ton versus $125.77 per ton in 2013. The increase in
domestic sawlog prices was primarily driven by stronger demand in the first half of the year, while the decline in export sawlog
prices was primarily driven by weaker demand from China.

Operating income declined due to weaker overall pricing and lower volumes, mostly offset by lower depletion and lower
overall logging costs. Full year Adjusted EBITDA of $46.0 million was $0.1 million above the prior year period.

Real Estate

Full-year 2014 sales of $77.3 million decreased $71.7 million versus 2013 primarily due to a $57.3 million sale of New York
timberlands in 2013. Excluding large dispositions, operating income of $47.5 million was $8.3 million below the prior year due
to lower weighted average prices ($2,186 per acre versus $2,505 per acre in the prior year) and lower volumes (25,293 acres sold
versus 27,519 acres in the prior year). Full year Adjusted EBITDA of $48.4 million decreased $9.4 million. Previously reported
2014 and 2013 Adjusted EBITDA have been restated to exclude large dispositions.
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Trading

Full year sales of $103.7 million were $28.0 million below 2013, while operating income and Adjusted EBITDA of $1.7
million were comparable to the prior year.

Corporate and Other Expense/Eliminations

Corporate and other expense was $35.6 million in 2014 versus $30.1 million in 2013. The 2013 results included a $16.2
million gain from the consolidation of the New Zealand JV while 2014 included $3.4 million of internal review and restatement
costs. Excluding these items, 2014 expense was favorable due to lower selling, general and administrative expenses as a result of
the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business.

Interest and Miscellaneous (Expense) Income, Net

Interest expense of $44.2 million in 2014 increased $3.3 million from the prior year as the benefit of lower debt balances was
more than offset by additional interest resulting from the consolidation of the New Zealand JV for the full year and a lower
allocation of interest expense to discontinued operations. Interest/other expense increased $11.7 million over 2013 primarily due
to unfavorable mark-to-market adjustments on New Zealand interest rate swaps.

Income Tax Expense

The full-year 2014 tax benefit from continuing operations including discrete items was $9.6 million versus $35.7 million in
2013. The 2014 income tax benefit reflects a $13.6 million valuation allowance related to the cellulosic biofuel producer credit
(“CBPC”), which was recorded in connection with the spin-off due to Rayonier’s limited potential use of the CBPC prior to its
expiration on December 31, 2017. Income tax expense from discontinued operations was $20.6 million in 2014 versus $106.4
million in 2013. The decline was primarily due to the inclusion of a full year of income from the Performance Fibers business in
2013 discontinued operations versus a half year in 2014. See Note 9 — Income Taxes for additional information regarding the
provision for income taxes and the discrete tax items.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal source of cash is cash flow from operations, primarily the harvesting of timber and sales of real estate. As a
REIT, our main use of cash is dividends. We also use cash to maintain the productivity of our timberlands through replanting and
silviculture. Our operations have generally produced consistent cash flow and required limited capital resources. Short-term
borrowings have helped fund working capital needs while acquisitions of timberlands generally require funding from external
sources.

Summary of Liquidity and Financing Commitments

As of December 31,

(in millions of dollars) 2015 2014 2013

Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENLS..........ceeieriiriieieietieie ettt ettt eee e b e beereeseessesbeseeessebesteessensenns $51.8 $161.6 $199.6
TOLAl AEDL..c.ceeeiee ettt ettt sttt 833.9 751.6 1,574.2
ShareholderS” EQUILY.......cectertirtieiieierteeteettete ettt ettt ettt ettt e st sbe et e b b saeensenees 1,361.7 1,575.2 1,755.2
Adjusted EBITDA () .e.eeoveeeeirieieieieetee ettt ettt st st eenea 208.0 2135 193.9
Total capitalization (total debt PIUS EQUILY)......eeveeeerieriirieieierieeeeteeeeet et 2,195.6 2,326.8 3,3294
Debt t0 CAPILAl TALIO ..c.viteeeieieiecieeteeee ettt sttt et 38% 32% N/M
Debt to Adjusted EBITDA (@)...cc.cecierieriieieienieeiieiieiesie ettt ettt ettt sae et ense b seesneense s 4.0 3.5 N/M
Net debt to Adjusted EBITDA (@)....cecuererieieniiniieieierieeieeteest ettt st sttt s 3.8 2.8 N/M
Net debt to enterprise VAIUE (D) ...c.eeverieririeierieiieieiesieee ettt sae e e ste e esesbesreesnensens 22% 14% N/M

(a) For areconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income see Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations—Performance and Liquidity Indicators.

(b) Enterprise value is calculated as the number of shares outstanding multiplied by the Company’s share price, plus net debt,
at December 31, 2015.
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Liquidity Facilities
Term Credit Agreement

On August 5, 2015, the Company entered into a credit agreement with CoBank, ACB, as administrative agent, and a syndicate
of Farm Credit institutions and other commercial banks to provide $550 million of new credit facilities, including a nine-year
$350 million term loan facility. The periodic interest rate on the term loan facility is subject to a pricing grid based on the Company’s
leverage ratio, as defined in the credit agreement. As of December 31, 2015, the periodic interest rate on the term loan facility was
LIBOR plus 1.625%. Concurrent with the closing of the facilities, the Company entered into an interest rate swap transaction to
fix the cost of the term loan facility over its nine-year term. The Company also expects to receive annual patronage refunds, which
are profit distributions made by a cooperative to its member-users based on the quantity or value of business done with the member-
user. The Company estimates the effective interest rate on the term loan facility to be approximately 3.3% after consideration of
the interest rate swap and estimated patronage refunds. As of December 31, 2015, the Company had additional draws available
of $180 million under the term loan facility.

Revolving Credit Facility

In August 2015, the Company entered into a five-year $200 million unsecured revolving credit facility, replacing the previous
$200 million revolving credit facility and $100 million farm credit facility which were scheduled to expire in April 2016 and
December 2019, respectively. The periodic interest rate on the revolving credit facility is subject to a pricing grid based on the
Company’s leverage ratio, as defined in the credit agreement. As of December 31, 2015, the periodic interest rate on the revolving
credit facility is LIBOR plus 1.250%, with an unused commitment fee of 0.175%.

Net draws of $97.0 million were made on the revolving credit facility to repay the previous facility and for general corporate
purposes. As of December 31, 2015, the Company had available borrowings of $101.2 million under the revolving credit facility,
net of $1.8 million to secure its outstanding letters of credit.

4.50% Senior Exchangeable Notes issued August 2009
The Company paid $131 million of its 4.50% Senior Exchangeable Notes upon maturity in August 2015.
Joint Venture Debt

As of December 31, 2015, the New Zealand JV had $161 million of long-term variable rate debt maturing in September 2016.
The Company will use proceeds from the term loan facility to fund a capital infusion into the New Zealand JV, which the New
Zealand JV will in turn use for repayment of all outstanding amounts under its existing credit facility. The entire balance of the
New Zealand JV Revolving Credit Facility remained classified as long-term at December 31, 2015 due to the ability and intent
of the Company to refinance it on a long-term basis. This debt is subject to interest rate risk resulting from changes in the 90-day
New Zealand Bank bill rate (“BKBM”). However, the New Zealand JV uses interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to interest
rate movements on its bank loan by swapping a portion of these borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates. The notional amount
of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at December 31, 2015 was $130 million, or 81% of the variable rate debt. The
interest rate swap contracts have maturities extending through January 2020. The periodic interest rate on New Zealand JV debt
is BKBM plus 0.80% with an additional 0.80% credit line fee. The Company estimates the periodic interest rate on the New
Zealand JV debt for the fourth quarter was approximately 6.3% after consideration of interest rate swaps.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the New Zealand JV made additional borrowings and repayments of $58.6 million
on its working capital facility. Additional draws totaling $27.4 million remain available on the working capital facility. In addition,
the New Zealand JV paid $1.4 million of its shareholder loan held with the non-controlling interest party. Favorable changes in
exchange rates through December 31, 2015 decreased debt on a U.S. dollar basis for the revolving facility and shareholder loan
by $23.1 million and $3.3 million, respectively.

See Note 5 — Debt for additional information on these agreements and other outstanding debt, as well as for information on
covenants that must be met in connection with our mortgage notes, term credit agreement and the revolving credit facility.
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for each of the past three
years ended December 31 (in millions of dollars):

2015 2014 2013
Total cash provided by (used for):
OPErating ACIVIEIES ......veviievieiietiiet ettt ettt ettt ettt s et s st es et es s s b essesesese e $177.2  $3204  $546.8
TNVESTING ACTIVILIES ...cuveutetietieiteieite ettt ettt b ettt et et b bt ete st saes (166.3)  (196.7)  (470.5)
FINANCING ACHIVILIES ...uvevieeieiieieiictieieteste ettt e st et e et e te st esa e besbeeseessesseeseesaensensesseeseensensesses (116.5) (161.4)  (157.1)
Effect of exchange rate changes 0n Cash .........cceveriiieiiniiinie e 4.2) 0.4) 0.2)
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash eqUIVAIENES ..........ccevverviiieiieriesieieiese e (5109.8) _ ($38.1) _ (881.0)

Cash Provided by Operating Activities

The decline in cash provided by operating activities in 2015 was primarily attributable to the inclusion of the results of the
Performance Fibers business in the prior year period before the June 27, 2014 spin-off and higher working capital requirements.

Cash Used for Investing Activities

Cash used for investing activities in 2015 decreased $30.4 million compared to 2014 primarily due to a $6.4 million and $61.0
million decrease in capital expenditures from continuing and discontinued operations, respectively, a $1.0 million decrease in real
estate development investments and lower timberland acquisitions of $32.5 million and an increase of $2.8 million in proceeds
from the settlement of the net investment hedge. These benefits were partially offset by the change in restricted cash of $79.1
million.

Cash Used for Financing Activities

Cash used for financing activities in 2015 declined $44.9 million from the prior year. Of the decrease, $31.4 million was due
to the net cash disbursed upon spin-off of the Performance Fibers business. Additionally, dividend payments decreased $132.6
million compared to prior year due to the change in the dividend rate from $0.49 per share to $0.25 per share on a post-spin basis
and to the third quarter 2014 special dividend payment of $0.50 per common share. These decreases were partially offset by lower
net debt issuances of $18.0 million and repurchases of common stock of $100.0 million in 2015.

Restricted Cash

At December 31, 2015, the Company had $23.5 million of proceeds from real estate sales classified as restricted cash in
“Other Assets,” which were deposited with a like-kind exchange (“LKE”) intermediary. These funds can be used for acquiring
suitable timberland replacement property, or if the LKE purchases are not completed, returned to the Company after 180 days and
reclassified as available cash.

Credit Ratings

Both our ability to obtain financing and the related costs of borrowing are affected by our credit ratings, which are periodically
reviewed by the rating agencies. As of December 31, 2015, our credit ratings from S&P and Moody’s were “BBB-" and “Baa2,”
respectively, with both services listing our outlook as “Stable.”

Strategy

We continuously evaluate our capital structure. Our strategy is to keep our weighted-average cost of capital competitive with
other timberland REITs and TIMOs, while maintaining an investment grade debt rating as well as retaining the flexibility to
actively pursue capital allocation opportunities as they become available. Overall, we believe we have adequate liquidity and
sources of capital to run our businesses efficiently and effectively and to maximize the value of our timberland and real estate
assets under management.
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Expected 2016 Expenditures

Capital expenditures in 2016 are forecasted to be between $60 million and $65 million, excluding any strategic timberland
acquisitions we may make. Capital expenditures are expected to be primarily comprised of seedling planting, fertilization and
other silvicultural activities, property taxes, lease payments, allocated overhead and other capitalized costs. Aside from capital
expenditures, we may also acquire timberland as we actively evaluate acquisition opportunities. Real estate development
investments are expected to be between $10 million and $15 million.

Our 2016 dividend payments are expected to be approximately $123 million assuming no change in the quarterly dividend
rate of $0.25 per share or material changes in the number of shares outstanding.

We made no discretionary pension contributions in 2015 or 2014. We have no mandatory pension contributions in 2016 but
may make discretionary contributions in the future. On an ongoing basis, cash income tax payments are expected to be minimal.
During 2016, we may repatriate approximately $23 million of proceeds received from the sale of our forestry assets to the New
Zealand JV when it was formed in 2005. If this occurs, we anticipate that cash payments for income taxes in 2016 will be
approximately $1.7 million.

Performance and Liquidity Indicators

The discussion below is presented to enhance the reader’s understanding of our operating performance, liquidity, ability to
generate cash and satisfy rating agency and creditor requirements. This information includes two measures of financial results:
Adjusted Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”), and Cash Available
for Distribution (“CAD”). These measures are not defined by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) and the
discussion of Adjusted EBITDA and CAD is not intended to conflict with or change any of the GAAP disclosures described above.
Management considers these measures to be important to estimate the enterprise and shareholder values of the Company as a
whole and of its core segments, and for allocating capital resources. In addition, analysts, investors and creditors use these measures
when analyzing our operating performance, financial condition and cash generating ability. Management uses Adjusted EBITDA
as a performance measure and CAD as a liquidity measure. Adjusted EBITDA and CAD as defined may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures reported by other companies.

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, depletion, amortization, the non-cash cost of
land and real estate sold, costs related to shareholder litigation, costs related to the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business,
discontinued operations, large dispositions, internal review and restatement costs and the gain related to consolidation of the New
Zealand joint venture. Below is a reconciliation of Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA for the five years ended December 31 (in
millions of dollars):

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA Reconciliation

NEE TNCOMIE ...ttt sttt bbb s s s seses $439  $97.8 $373.8 $278.7 $276.0
Interest, net, cONtiNUING OPETAtIONS ......ccververeereeeierienieeieienieseeeeriesieens 347 49.7 38.5 423 45.1
Income tax benefit, continuing Operations ...........ccceeeeveeveerereeceenenenne (0.9) (9.6) (357 (27.1) (48.3)
Depreciation, depletion and amortization............ccceeeeverierereecieniennenne 113.7 120.0 116.9 84.6 76.5
Non-cash cost of land and real estate sold...........ceceeeevienenenieenienenenne 12.5 13.2 10.2 4.7 43
Large diSpOSIONS (@) ....cvevverveeierieniisiieiesiesieeeesesseseeeessessesssesesseseeens — (21.4) (25.7) — (24.6)
Costs related to shareholder litigation (b) ........ccceveveevievieneneerienenienne 4.1 — — — —
Cost related to spin-off of Performance Fibers ..........cccccoecvvveieeieennnnee. — 3.8 — — —
Internal review and restatement COSES.........evvereerieriereeiierieniesierenieneene — 34 — — —
Gain related to consolidation of New Zealand JV.........ccccocevivcininnnne — — (16.2) — —
Net income from discontinued Operations...........c.eceecvevverrereeverrenennnnns — (43.4) (267.9) (261.8) (217.7)

Adjusted EBITDA........ccooiiiiiiiieiietceeeeseeet ettt eae e $208.0 $213.5 $1939 §121.4 $111.3

(a) Previously reported Adjusted EBITDA for 2014, 2013 and 2011 has been restated to exclude large dispositions. Large
Dispositions are defined as transactions involving the sale of timberland that exceed $20 million in size and do not have any
identified HBU premium relative to timberland value.

(b) Costs related to shareholder litigation include expenses incurred as a result of the securities litigation, the shareholder
derivative demands and the Securities and Exchange Commission investigation. See Note 10 —Contingencies.

See Item 6 — Selected Financial Data for a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Operating Income by segment as well
as Item 7 — Results of Operations for an analysis of changes in Adjusted EBITDA from the prior year.
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CAD is a non-GAAP measure of cash generated during a period which is available for dividend distribution, repurchase of
the Company’s common shares, debt reduction and strategic acquisitions. We define CAD as Cash Provided by Operating Activities
adjusted for capital spending (excluding timberland acquisitions), large dispositions, cash provided by discontinued operations
and working capital and other balance sheet changes. In compliance with SEC requirements for non-GAAP measures, we reduce
CAD by mandatory debt repayments which results in the measure entitled “Adjusted CAD.” Adjusted CAD generated in any
period is not necessarily indicative of the amounts that may be generated in future periods.

Below is a reconciliation of Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Adjusted CAD for the five years ended December 31
(in millions):

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Cash provided by operating activities ..........ceevvevuereseereerieneeeeciesreseeenenn $177.2 $320.4 $546.8 $447.7  $433.7
Capital expenditures from continuing operations () ........c.ccoceeveeeeene (57.3) (63.7) (63.2) (50.5) (44.4)
Large dispositions (D) ..c..ceeeevererierierienienieienienieeeete et — (21.4) (79.7) — (24.6)
Cash flow from discontinued Operations.............ccecveverreeeerrerierennnens — (102.4) (276.3) (314.1) (270.9)
Working capital and other balance sheet changes...........cccccccevueenenee. (2.5) (39.5) (70.0) (71.1) (82.7)
CAD ettt aeneneas $117.4 $93.4 $57.6 $12.0 $11.1
Mandatory debt repayments ...........cccceeeeeerierieneeeenieneneeseeeenieseeeenes (131.0) — (42.0) (323.0) (93.0)
AdJUSEEA CAD ..ottt ($13.6) $93.4 $15.6 (8311.0) ($81.9)
Cash used for investing aCtiVities...........ccoereveveeeeerieeeereeeeeeeeee e ($166.3) ($196.7) ($470.5) ($474.7) ($490.1)
Cash (used for) provided by financing activities .............c.ccocveveerrrenene. ($116.5) ($161.4) ($157.1) $229.0 ($215.1)

(a) Capital expenditures exclude timberland acquisitions of $98.4 million and $130.9 million during the years ended December 31,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. Capital expenditures also exclude $139.9 million for the purchase of an additional
interest in the New Zealand JV and $20.4 million for timberland acquisitions for the year ended December 31, 2013. In 2012,
timberland acquisitions totaled $106.5 million.

(b) Previously reported CAD for 2014, 2013 and 2011 has been restated to exclude large dispositions. Large Dispositions are
defined as transactions involving the sale of timberland that exceed $20 million in size and do not have any identified HBU
premium relative to timberland value

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We utilize off-balance sheet arrangements to provide credit support for certain suppliers and vendors in case of their default
on critical obligations, and collateral for certain self-insurance programs that we maintain. These arrangements consist of standby
letters of credit and surety bonds. As part of our ongoing operations, we also periodically issue guarantees to third parties. Off-
balance sheet arrangements are not considered a source of liquidity or capital resources and do not expose us to material risks or
material unfavorable financial impacts. See Note 11 — Guarantees for further discussion.
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Contractual Financial Obligations

In addition to using cash flow from operations, we finance our operations through the issuance of debt and by entering into
leases. These financial obligations are recorded in accordance with accounting rules applicable to the underlying transaction, with
the result that some are recorded as liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, while others are required to be disclosed in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

The following table aggregates our contractual financial obligations as of December 31, 2015 and anticipated cash spending
by period:

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Financial Obligations (in millions) Total 2016 2017-2018  2019-2020 Thereafter
Long-term debt (@) .......cooveviviveriierieeeeeeeereeceeeee e $833.2 $161.0 $42.0 $112.0 $518.2
Interest payments on long-term debt (b).......ccccoeceveninveencnnee. 135.6 23.6 354 335 43.1
Operating leases — timberland...........cccccecveverenievieneneerenenne. 156.2 9.2 16.2 13.2 117.6
Operating leases — PP&E, offices ........ccooevevirievieninieiene, 6.8 1.9 2.2 1.1 1.6
Purchase obligations — derivatives (c) 40.7 7.1 11.3 7.2 15.1
Purchase obligations — Other..........ccceecverienenieiienienecieiee, 0.8 — 0.3 0.5 —

Total contractual cash obligations...........cccceeeeverieieennenen. $1,173.3 $202.8 $107.4 $167.5 $695.6

(a) Long-term debt is currently recorded at $833.9 million on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet, but upon maturity the
liability will be $833.2 million.

(b) Projected interest payments for variable-rate debt were calculated based on outstanding principal amounts and interest rates
as of December 31, 2015.

(c) Purchase obligations represent payments expected to be made on derivative instruments. See Note 13 —Derivative Financial
Instruments and Hedging Activities.
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Market and Other Economic Risks

We are exposed to various market risks, including changes in interest rates, commodity prices and foreign exchange rates.
Our objective is to minimize the economic impact of these market risks. We use derivatives in accordance with policies and
procedures approved by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. Derivatives are managed by a senior executive committee
whose responsibilities include initiating, managing and monitoring resulting exposures. We do not enter into financial instruments
for trading or speculative purposes.

As of December 31, 2015 we had $282 million of U.S. long-term variable rate debt. Our primary interest rate exposure on
variable rate debt results from changes in LIBOR. However, we use interest rate swaps to manage our exposure to interest rate
movements on our term credit agreement by swapping existing and anticipated future borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates.
The notional amount of outstanding interest rate swap contracts at December 31, 2015 was $350 million. The interest rate swap
contracts and term credit agreement mature in August 2024. At this borrowing level, a hypothetical one-percentage point increase/
decrease in interest rates would result in a corresponding increase/decrease of approximately $1.1 million in interest payments
and expense over a 12-month period.

The fair market value of our long-term fixed interest rate debt is also subject to interest rate risk. The estimated fair value of
our long-term fixed-rate debt at December 31, 2015 was $364 million compared to the $367 million principal amount. We use
interest rates of debt with similar terms and maturities to estimate the fair value of our debt. Generally, the fair market value of
fixed-rate debt will increase as interest rates fall and decrease as interest rates rise. A hypothetical one-percentage point increase/
decrease in prevailing interest rates at December 31, 2015 would result in a corresponding decrease/increase in the fair value of
our long-term fixed-rate debt of approximately $19 million.

We estimate the periodic effective interest rate on U.S. long-term fixed and variable rate debt to be approximately 3.3% after
consideration of interest rate swaps and estimated patronage refunds, excluding unused commitment fees on the revolving credit
facility.

As of December 31, 2015, our New Zealand JV had $161 million of long-term variable rate debt. This debt is subject to
interest rate risk resulting from changes in the 90 day New Zealand Bank bill rate (“BKBM”). However, the New Zealand JV uses
interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its bank loan by swapping a portion of these borrowings
from floating rates to fixed rates. The notional amount of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at December 31, 2015 was
$130 million, or 81% of the New Zealand JV’s variable rate debt. The interest rate swap contracts have maturities extending
through January 2020. The periodic interest rate on New Zealand JV debt is BKBM plus 80 basis points with an additional 80
basis point credit line fee. We estimate the periodic effective interest rate on New Zealand JV debt to be approximately 6.3% after
consideration of interest rate swaps.

The functional currency of the Company’s New Zealand-based operations and New Zealand JV is the New Zealand dollar.
Through these operations and our ownership in the New Zealand JV, we are exposed to foreign currency risk on cash held in
foreign currencies and on foreign export sales and ocean freight payments that are predominantly denominated in U.S. dollars.
To mitigate these risks, the New Zealand JV routinely enters into foreign currency exchange contracts and foreign currency option
contracts to hedge a portion of the New Zealand JV’s foreign exchange exposure. At December 31, 2015, the New Zealand JV
had foreign currency exchange contracts with a notional amount of $21 million and foreign currency option contracts with a
notional amount of $107 million outstanding. The amount hedged represents 46% of forecast U.S. dollar denominated harvesting
sales proceeds over the next 18 months and 40% of log trading sales proceeds over the next 3 months.

In August 2015, we entered into foreign currency option contracts with a notional amount of $331 million. These contracts
are designated as net investment hedges of our New Zealand based-operations to mitigate our risk to fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates. For additional information regarding our derivative balances and activity, see Note 13 — Derivative Financial
Instruments and Hedging Activities.
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INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial REpOTting..........cccccveieviiriiiieiienienieieiesiesie et eeeae e 51
Reports of Independent Registered Public AcCOUNtING FirM ......cccevviviiriieiiiiiiiiieiet e 52
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2015 ......... 54
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 .......oooviiioiiiioiiieeee et 55
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity as of December 31, 2013, 2014, and 2015........cccecvevevenieveneneenne 56
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2015......cccuviiiiiiiieiiicieeeeeieeee e 57
Notes to Consolidated FINancial StatemMEntS ..........c.eoiririerierierieieiesieeeetete sttt eteste st setetessesseessessesseeseessensessesseesensenns 59

50



MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
To Our Shareholders:

The management of Rayonier Inc. and its subsidiaries is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Our system of
internal controls over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s management and Board
of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, misstatements due to error or fraud may not
be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Rayonier Inc.’s management, under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assessed the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015. In making this assessment, we used the
framework included in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on our evaluation under the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2015.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Company’s consolidated financial
statements, has issued an attestation report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015.
The report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, is on page 53.

RAYONIER INC.

By: /s/ DAVID L. NUNES

David L. Nunes
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 29, 2016

By: /s MARK MCHUGH

Mark McHugh
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 29, 2016

By: /s/ H. EDWIN KIKER

H. Edwin Kiker
Chief Accounting Olfficer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

February 29, 2016
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Rayonier Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December
31,2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015. Our audit also included the financial statement schedule
listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements
taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries' internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework), and our report dated February 29, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Jacksonville, Florida
February 29, 2016
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Rayonier Inc.

We have audited Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,2015, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission “(2013 framework)” (the COSO criteria). Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries’ management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2015, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheet of Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated
statements of income and comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2015 of Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries and our report dated February 29, 2016 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Jacksonville, Florida
February 29, 2016
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Years Ended December 31,

(Thousands of dollars, except per share data)

Costs and Expenses
COSE OF SALES ...ttt
Selling and general EXPENSES .........ceeeeieierierierieie ettt
Other operating income, net (NOte 17) .....ccoeviivierininininiiciieceeee e

Equity in income of New Zealand joint VENtUIe .........c.ccocevererinieierienienieneneneseeeeeenes

OPERATING INCOME BEFORE GAIN RELATED TO CONSOLIDATION OF
NEW ZEALAND JOINT VENTURE ............ccccooiiiiiiiieeeeeee s

Gain related to consolidation of New Zealand joint venture (Note 7)......cccccevereeveeeenenne.
OPERATING INCOME ..ottt
INEETESE EXPEIISE ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et et e saae s bt e sbeenbeenees
Interest and miscellaneous (€Xpense) INCOME, N ......c..eveverererieierienenienese e eeeeeeeneenes
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES......

INCOME tAX DENETIE ..ottt
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS ..o
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET (Note 21)

Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax expense of $0, $20,578 and
SL06,397 .ottt ettt et et ettt et et e et e et e et et et e e eereeea

NET INCOME .....c.ocoooiiiiiiiiiiicieetseet ettt
Less: Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest ..............ccccevererereeeenenne.
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC.........ccccceovniiiiiinienen
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of income tax expense (benefit) of
$1,066, ($78) ANA SO ...

Cash flow hedges, net of income tax (expense) benefit of ($91), $861 and ($248)

Actuarial change and amortization of pension and postretirement plan liabilities,
net of income tax effect of $470, $35,852 and $27,786

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME .......ococciciniiiiiiiinineitnneetneereeneeseteesesae et seeneneneas
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest .............cccceeveveeeeeennne.
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC................
EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC.
Continuing OPETAtIONS .......ccvevverrierierieieieieieiesiessesteese et eseestesessessessessesseeseeseessenes
Discontinued Operations

Net Income

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC.

Continuing OPETAtIONS .......ccververvirrierieieerereeteiesiesreeseeseeseeseessessessessessessesseeseeseessenes
Discontinued OPErations ..........cceeeeereeuieieieiesienee et ereeieeeeeeseeseesbeseeeeeeseeneenes
NEtINCOME ...ttt

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2015 2014 2013
$544.874  $603,521  $659,718
441,099 483,860 530,772
45,750 47,883 55,433
(19,759) (26,511) (18,487)
467,090 505,232 567,718
— — 562
77,784 98,289 92,562
— - 16,098
77,784 98,289 108,660
(31,699) (44,248) (40,941)
(3,003) (9,199) 2,439
43,082 44,842 70,158
859 9,601 35,685
43,941 54,443 105,843
— 43,403 267,955
43,941 97,346 373,798
(2,224) (1,491) 1,902
46,165 99,337 371,896
(32,451) (15,847) (5,710)
(9,961) (1,855) 3,629
2,933 54,046 61,869
(39,479) 36,344 59,788
4,462 134,190 433,586
(13,027) (6,462) (1,550)
$17,480  $140.652 _ $435,136
$0.37 $0.44 $0.83
— 0.34 2.13
$0.37 $0.78 $2.96
$0.37 $0.43 $0.80
— 0.33 2.06
$0.37 $0.76 $2.86



RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31,
(Thousands of dollars)
2015 2014
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash €QUIVALENTS ..........ccooiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeseteee et et et et se s et et se et eseseseseseseseaeseeis $51,777 $161,558
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $42 and $42.........ccoveevevvecveeeennnnne. 20,222 24,018
INVENLOTY (INOTE 18) neiiniieiieii ettt ettt sttt ettt e et e e abesaeesaeesbeenbeesaenbeenseens 15,351 8,383
Prepaid 10ZZING T0AAS ..oviiiiiiiiieeee ettt ettt 10,563 12,665
Prepaid EXPENSES ....ccviivieeieiiiieieieteite ettt et ettt et et et et e beeaeeteete e st et et e b e beebeeseeseeseeneeneenaenbansens 2,091 5,049
Other current assets ............. 5,681 2,031
Total current assets 105,685 213,704

TIMBER AND TIMBERLANDS, NET OF DEPLETION AND AMORTIZATION
HIGHER AND BETTER USE TIMBERLANDS AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT

2,066,780 2,088,501

INVESTMENTS (NOTE 6) 65,450 77,433
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land ...ooooeveeieeeeee e 1,833 1,833
Buildings ......ccoovevieveiiiieiieeeeieeeen 9,014 8,961
Machinery and equipment ...........c..cccc.... 3,686 3,503
Construction in Progress ........cccceevererreerrereerereesrenseennens 1,282 579
Total property, plant and equipment, gross 15,815 14,876
Less—accumulated depreCiation ............ccceceeeeieieierierieniesieete ettt etteeeteaetessesteeseeseeseeneeneenaesesens (9,073) (8,170)
Total property, plant and equIPMENt, NEt.........cceoeriririririeieieeeese e 6,742 6,706
OTHER ASSETS (INOEE 19) ....ocuiiiiiiiiieiieiiietieietet ettt ettt ettt ettt et ebese et sseseebessesasseseesessesssseseas 74,606 66,771
TOTAL ASSETS ..ottt ettt e sesse st eaeneas $2,319.263 _ $2.453.115
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY -
CURRENT LIABILITIES
ACCOUNLS PAYADIE ....ovivieeiiieietiietieteettet ettt ettt ettt et ete b e seete s eseebesseseebessesassessesessesessasens $21,479 $20,211
Current maturities of 10ng-term debt ..........ccoiiiiiiiiiiii e — 129,706
ACCTUEA TAXES wveiieveieeeie ettt ettt e et e et e et e e ettt e et e e ete e e aeeeeteeeeaaeeenteeeetseeesssesnteeenseeenseeessseesnseeennes 3,685 11,405
Accrued payroll and benefits ... 7,037 6,390
Accrued interest ................ 6,153 8,433
Other current liabilities ............ 21,103 25,857
Total current liabilities ...... 59,457 202,002
LONG-TERM DEBT (NOte 5) .....cooiiiiiieiiieieieieesieereee e 833,879 621,849
PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS (Note 15) .......cccoccooviiieinieieieieeeenens 34,137 33,477
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ........cooiiiiiiiieeeeee ettt 30,050 20,636
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Notes 8 and 10)
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Shares, 480,000,000 shares authorized, 122,770,217 and 126,77
outstanding ........... 708,827 702,598
Retained €arnings ........coccoeveeieieieieieieeee e 612,760 790,697
Accumulated other comprehensive 10SS .........cocviveriiiiinenenenneees (33,503) (4,825)
TOTAL RAYONIER INC. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY...................... 1,288,084 1,488,470
INONCONTOIING INEEIEST ..c.vevitiiiiiieiieiieiete sttt sttt sbe et e sae e nneene 73,656 86,681
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY ......cocoiiiiiiiiiieieeieetetetetee ettt 1,361,740 1,575,151
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY........coccooiiiiiriirireeeeeae $2,319.263 _ $2,453,115

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(Thousands of dollars, except share data)

Common Shares Accgrtl}:;l? ted Non-
Retained Comprehensive controlling Shareholders’
Shares Amount Earnings Income/(Loss) Interest Equity

Balance, December 31, 2012.. 123,332,444 $670,749 $876,634 ($109,379) — $1,438,004
NEEINCOME ...t — — 371,896 — 1,902 373,798
Dividends ($1.86 per Share)..............o.coovvveeveeerreererenns — — (233,321) — — (233,321)
Issuance of shares under incentive stock plans............ 1,001,426 10,101 — — 10,101
Stock-based compensation............coeeeereeereeeerieennen — 11,710 — — 11,710
Excess tax benefit on stock-based compensation ........ — 8,413 — — — 8,413
Repurchase of common shares.............cccooeviiiinnnns (211,221)  (11,326) — — (11,326)
Equity portion of convertible debt (Note 5)................. — 2,453 — — — 2,453
Settlement of warrants (Note 5) 2,135,221 — — — —
Actuarial change and amortization of pension and

postretirement plan liabilities .........coeevverrerirreniencns — — 61,869 — 61,869
Acquisition of noncontrolling interest ... — — — — 96,336 96,336
Noncontrolling interest redemption of shares.............. — — — (713) (713)
Foreign currency translation adjustment...................... — — — (1,915) (3,795) (5,710)
Joint venture cash flow hedges .........cccoevvveveininnenns — — 3,286 343 3,629
Balance, December 31, 2013................cococoiiinnnnne 126,257,870  $692,100  $1,015,209 ($46,139) $94,073 $1,755,243
NEEINCOME ...ttt — — 99,337 — (1,491) 97,846
Dividends ($2.03 per Share)...........ccc.coooeverevrrvernnens — — (256,861) — — (256,861)
Contribution to Rayonier Advanced Materials............. — (301) (61,318) 80,749 — 19,130
Adjustments to Rayonier Advanced Materials ............ — — (5,670) (2,556) — (8,226)
Issuance of shares under incentive stock plans............ 561,701 5,579 — — 5,579
Stock-based compensation............coeeeereeereeeerenennen — 7,869 — — 7,869
Tax deficiency on stock-based compensation.............. — (791) — — — (791)
Repurchase of common shares............ccccccevveccinnenne (46,474) (1,858) — — (1,858)
Actuarial change and amortization of pension and

postretirement plan liabilities ...........c.coccceverrenenee. — — (24,147) — (24,147)
Noncontrolling interest redemption of shares.............. — — — (931) (931)
Foreign currency translation adjustment...................... — — (11,526) (4,321) (15,847)
Joint venture cash flow hedges — — (1,206) (649) (1,855)
Balance, December 31, 2014.. $702,598 $790,697 ($4,825) $86,681 $1,575,151
NEEINCOME ...t — — 46,165 — (2,224) 43,941
Dividends ($1.00 per share)............ccccocovvvveievernennnns — — (124,943) — — (124,943)
Issuance of shares under incentive stock plans............ 205,219 2,117 — — — 2,117
Stock-based compensation.............ccccceueuriiirieiiininininns — 4,484 — — 4,484
Tax deficiency on stock-based compensation.............. — (250) — — (250)
Repurchase of common shares...........c.c.ccooviernininnnne (4,208,099) (122) (100,000) — — (100,122)
Actuarial change and amortization of pension and

postretirement plan liabilities ..........cceevverrerirenienene — — 2,933 — 2,933
Adjustments to Rayonier Advanced Materials............ — — 841 — — 841
Foreign currency translation adjustment... — — (21,567) (10,884) (32,451)
Cash flow hedges .........cccoevvveciinnenns . — — (10,044) 83 (9,961)
Balance, December 31, 2015.. 122,770,217  $708,827 $612,760 ($33,503) $73,656 $1,361,740

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31,
(Thousands of dollars)

2015 2014 2013
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
INEE IIMCOIMIE .ottt ettt ettt ettt et et e s e s e e e eaeeseesesses e s eme et et eseesenses e et essesseteneeaensensesenseneesensereesansenennaneans $43,941 $97,846 $373,798
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 113,708 119,980 116,854
Non-cash cost of land and real estate sold .... 12,509 13,264 10,212
Non-cash cost of New York timberland Sale.............c..cooioiiiiiiiiieeieeeeeeeeeeeee e — — 53,990
Stock-based incentive COMPENSAION EXPEISE......euvrvirereeririererterieririertesesteeetesseseetesseseesesesesseneesesseneesens 4,484 7,869 11,683
Amortization of debt diSCOUNt/PIEMITIN .......c.euiririiuiiiieieieieee ettt 604 1,092 1,215
DEferITed INCOME TAXES ...veivviieeieeieeteeeteeetee ettt et e et e ettt eeaeeeteeeteeeseeetaeeesseessserseessseesseessensseerseensseessesnseenns (1,475) 1,828 5,857
Tax benefit of AFMC for CBPC exchange........... . — — (18,761)
Non-cash adjustments to unrecognized tax benefit Hability ..........coccoeveviiirininininciceeeeeen 135 (6,597) 3,967
Depreciation and amortization from discontinued Operations ............c.coovueueerirrereenereereineneeeenennnene — 37,985 74,940
Amortization of losses from pension and postretirement plans ...........ccccoeeceverieereienenerineneeneneens 3,403 7,276 22,029
Gain on sale of discontinued OPErations, NEL...........ccevveiririeieierieirieieertet ettt se b e enes — — (42,121)
Gain related to consolidation of New Zealand joint VENtULe..............oeveeviieecceeuiueueueueieieinieeeeeereeeae — — (16,098)
Loss on early redemption of exchangeable NOtES.........c.ccerieirieieirieieirieieeeeeeseee e — — 3,974
ONET ...ttt bbbttt e et £ h et h bt e et h sttt n et e sttt b st netenenen 350 3,307 (6,082)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
RECEIVADIES ... .ottt ettt ettt et et e e e et e e e s e eteett et e et e eteeateseereeae et eereereenean 2,034 4,300 11,100
TIIVEIEOTIES 1.ttt ettt sttt b et b et b etk sa st e bt e st s bt e st b ene e bt b et et e b eneese st eneenen (9,749) 3,926 (19,986)
ACCOUNLES PAYADIE ...ttt ettt b ettt ettt ettt ee st 1,863 29,929 (1,655)
Income tax receivable/payable . . (894) 838 47,232
All Other OPETating ACIVITIES ....veueuirieeiuiiririeteiiirt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt st ese et neenene 6,251 2,669 (6,474)
Payment to exchange AFMOC for CBPC.........cocooiiiiiiiiiniirieeseece ettt — — (70,311)
Expenditures for dispositions and discontinued Operations .............cccoeeeueueririrueuirininieeinnieiecnnereeeeeeereeeenees — (5,096) (8,570)
CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES.......ccoooiieeeieieeeeeeee e 177,164 320,416 546,793
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CaPItAl EXPENAITUIES ......veeiieeieiiitet ettt ettt b st et s et sesea e e esese st e e s eseseeebebeseaeeseseneneanas (57,293) (63,713) (63,203)
Capital expenditures from discontinued OPErations ............coevveirerieirieieirieieteree ettt seeneene — (60,955) (103,092)
Real estate developmENt INVESTMENLS ..........cveveuerirteteiiieteteieereetesese ettt ebes ettt es e eeseseseaessesenesesseseseessesesenes (2,676) (3,674) (1,292)
Purchase of additional interest in New Zealand jOINt VENTUIE........c..eevveiririeieinieineieesieeeesreesresieeeieneenene — — (139,879)
Purchase of tIMDETIANAS ........c.ooiiieiiiiieicieeeeee ettt ettt ettt sa e te s s eseese s eseesenseseesenseneas (98,409) (130,896) (20,401)
Proceeds from settlement of foreign currency hedge..........oevveieiirieirinieiieie e 2,804 — 1,701
Jesup mill cellulose SPEecialties EXPANSION.......c.crviviuiuiririeiiiiirt ettt ettt ettt benes — — (148,262)
Proceeds from disposition of W0o0d Products DUSINESS..........ccueerreiriirieiniinieinenieeseteestee et — — 62,720
Change N TESIHCEA CASL.......euiiiiitci ettt (16,336) 62,256 (58,385)
OBRCT ..ottt ettt etttk b ettt 6,101 306 (447)
CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES.....ccvtiitiriiiniiecineteieteeeeee st (166,309) (196,676) (470,540)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
ISSUANCE OF AEDL ...ttt bbbttt b bbbttt ettt 472,558 1,426,464 622,885
REPAYMENL OF AEDL... ..ttt ettt ae sttt benenes (364,402) (1,289,637) (549,485)
DAVIAEIAS PAIA.......vviiii ittt et bbbttt sttt b bbbttt ettt (124,936) (257,517) (237,016)
Proceeds from the isSuance of COMIMON SNATES ............c.ccviiuiiiierieieteeieete ettt ettt ere et eaeenes 2,117 5,579 10,101
Excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation .... . — — 8,413
Proceeds from repurchase of COMMON SKATES ........c.c.eririeiiiiiriiieiirecc s (100,000) (1,858) (11,326)
DIEDE ISSUAINCE COSES...veuvenrrirtenieietesirtetettetet et et ettt e it ete st s e b et ese et e st e bt et e st eb st eseeb et ebesaestes e st e st ese b eneebeseneebenaeseane (1,678) (12,380) —
Net cash disbursed upon spin-off of Performance Fibers bUSINess. ..........ocueerirueueininieiiinnieieennccesenenenes — (31,420) —
ORET ...ttt ettt (122) (680) (713)
CASH USED FOR FINANCING ACTIVITIES. .... (116,463) (161,449) (157,141)
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH.........ccooiiiiiiieeiteeees e (4,173) (377) (64)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Change in cash and cash @QUIVAIEILS ...........coevieeiiiirieeirree ettt seeenas (109,781) (38,086) (80,952)
Balance, DEZINMING OF YEAT .......c.oiuiiiiiieiiteieeteete ettt ettt ettt st se b e st sb et esesbeneenens 161,558 199,644 280,596
Balance, €Nd OF YEAT .....c.c.cuiururieieieteieieeeee ettt ettt ettt s s st b ettt a ettt eneneseseaen $51,777 $161,558 $199.644

—r— ————— ————
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
For the Years Ended December 31,

(Thousands of dollars)

2015 2014 2013

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid during the year:

TIEETESE -ttt ettt etttk ettt bbbttt $33,011 $47,640 $44,156

TNCOIME TAXES ..vvveeieirieeeeieee ettt et e e et e e e e tte e e e etae e e e aeeeeetaeeeeeesaseeeesreeeennsseeeeessreeeans 277 8,789 99,120
Non-cash investing activity:

Capital assets purchased 0N ACCOUNL........ccivirirerierieieeeee et eenees 3,429 2,444 15,522

Purchase of timberlands 700 — —
Non-cash financing activity:

Shareholder debt assumed in acquisition of New Zealand joint venture...........cccoecerueuenee — — 125,532

Conversion of shareholder debt to equity noncontrolling interest...........occeeveveeeveveerennnnne. — — (95,961)

Partial conversion of Senior Exchangeable Notes t0 equity........cceevrueerieenieiniecnieeneenen — — 2,453

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS

Rayonier Inc., a North Carolina corporation, including its consolidated subsidiaries (“Rayonier” or “the Company”), is a
leading timberland real estate investment trust (“REIT”) with assets located in some of the most productive softwood timber
growing regions in the U.S. and New Zealand and its shares have a $0.00 par value. The Company owns or leases approximately
2.7 million acres of timberland, located in the United States and New Zealand. Included in this property is approximately 0.2
million acres of timberlands located primarily along the coastal region from Savannah, Georgia to Daytona Beach, Florida, some
of which has long-term potential for real estate development. The Company also engages in the trading of logs, primarily to support
the Company’s New Zealand export operations.

Rayonier operates in five reportable business segments: Southern Timber, Pacific Northwest Timber, New Zealand Timber,
Real Estate and Trading. See Note 4 — Segment and Geographical Information for further discussion of its reportable business
segments and Note 21 — Discontinued Operations for additional information on the sale of the Wood Products business and the
spin-off of the Performance Fibers business.

The Company is a REIT and is generally not required to pay federal income taxes on its U.S. timber harvest earnings and
other U.S. REIT operations contingent upon meeting applicable distribution, income, asset, shareholder and other tests. The U.S.
timber operations are primarily conducted by the Company’s wholly-owned REIT subsidiaries. Non-REIT qualifying and certain
foreign operations, which are subject to corporate-level tax on earnings, are operated by taxable subsidiaries. These operations
include the Real Estate segment’s entitlement activities, limited development activities and sale of higher and better use (“HBU”)
properties as well as the log trading business. The Company’s consolidated joint venture, Matariki Forestry Group (“New Zealand
JV™), is subject to entity-level tax in New Zealand.

Southern, Pacific Northwest and New Zealand Timber

The Company’s Timber segments own or lease approximately 2.7 million acres of timberlands located in the U.S. and New
Zealand. The Timber segments conduct timber harvesting activities, manage timberlands and sell timber and logs to third parties.
On April 4, 2013, the Company acquired an additional 39% interest in the New Zealand JV, which currently owns or leases
approximately 439,000 gross acres (299,000 net plantable acres) of New Zealand timberlands. The acquisition of additional interest
brought the Company’s ownership to 65%. As a result, the New Zealand JV’s results of operations have been consolidated and
included within the New Zealand Timber segment since the date Rayonier acquired control. Rayonier’s wholly-owned subsidiary,
Rayonier New Zealand Limited (“RNZ”) serves as the manager of the New Zealand JV forests. See Note 7 — Joint Venture
Investment.

During 2015, the Company acquired approximately 35,000 acres of timberlands in Florida, Georgia, Louisiana, Mississippi
and Oregon for $88.5 million. The Company also acquired forestry rights covering approximately 1,800 acres of timberland with
mature timber in New Zealand for $9.9 million. During 2014, the Company acquired approximately 62,000 acres of timberlands
in the U.S. and approximately 500 acres in New Zealand. See Note 3 — Timberland Acquisitions for additional information.

Real Estate

The vast majority of the Company’s HBU properties are managed as timberland and generate cash flow from timber operations
prior to their sale or, in the case of Improved Development properties, prior to improvement. All of the Company’s U.S. land sales,
including HBU and non-HBU, are reported in the Real Estate segment. Rayonier employs a detailed land classification process
for all of its timberland and HBU acres.

Trading

The Company’s trading business comprises log trading in New Zealand conducted by the New Zealand JV in two core areas
of business: managed export services on behalf of third parties and procured logs for export sale by the New Zealand JV. The
Trading segment complements the New Zealand Timber segment by adding scale and achieving cost savings that directly benefit
the New Zealand Timber segment.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). These statements include the accounts of Rayonier Inc. and its subsidiaries,
in which it has a majority ownership or controlling interest. As of April 2013, the Company held a controlling interest (65%) in
its New Zealand JV, and, as such, consolidates its results of operations and Balance Sheet. The Company also records a
noncontrolling interest in its consolidated financial statements representing the minority ownership interest (35%) of the New
Zealand JV’s results of operations and equity. All intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and to disclose contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. There are risks inherent
in estimating and therefore actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include time deposits with original maturities of three months or less. The consolidated cash balance
includes time deposits of $23.4 million and $0 million at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are primarily amounts due to the Company for the sale of timber and are presented net of an allowance
for doubtful accounts.

Inventory

HBU real estate properties that are expected to be sold within one year are included in inventory at lower of cost or market
value. HBU properties that are expected to be sold after one year are included in a separate balance sheet line, entitled “Higher
and Better Use Timberlands and Real Estate Development Investments.” See below for additional information.

Inventory also includes logs available to be sold by the Trading segment. Log inventory is recorded at the lower of cost or
market and expensed to cost of goods sold when sold to third-party buyers.

Prepaid Logging Roads

Costs for roads in the Pacific Northwest built to access particular tracts to be harvested in the upcoming 24 months are recorded
as prepaid logging roads. The Company charges such costs to expense as timber is harvested using an amortization rate determined
annually as the total cost of prepaid roads divided by the estimated tons of timber to be accessed by those roads. The prepaid
balance is classified as short-term or long-term based on the upcoming harvest schedule.

Timber and Timberlands

Timber is stated at the lower of cost or market value. Costs relating to acquiring, planting and growing timber including real
estate taxes, site preparation and direct support costs relating to facilities, vehicles and supplies are capitalized. Annual lease
payments are also capitalized if the remaining lease term is greater than five years. Lease payments made within five years of
expiration are expensed as incurred. Payroll costs are capitalized for time spent on timber growing activities, while interest or any
other intangible costs are not capitalized. An annual depletion rate is established for each particular region by dividing merchantable
inventory cost by standing merchantable inventory volume, which is estimated annually. The Company charges accumulated costs
attributed to merchantable timber to depletion expense (cost of sales), at the time the timber is harvested or when the underlying
timberland is sold based on the relationship of timber sold to the estimated volume of currently merchantable timber.

Upon the acquisition of timberland, the Company makes a determination on whether to combine the newly acquired
merchantable timber with an existing depletion pool or to create a new, separate pool. This determination is based on the geographic
location of the new timber, the customers/markets that will be served and the species mix. If the acquisition is similar, the cost of
the acquired timber is combined into an existing depletion pool and anew depletion rate is calculated for the pool. This determination
and depletion rate adjustment normally occurs in the quarter following the acquisition.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

Higher and Better Use Timberlands and Real Estate Development Investments

HBU timberland is recorded at the lower of cost or market value. These properties are managed as timberlands until sold or
developed with sales and depletion expense related to the harvesting of timber accounted for within the respective timber segment.
At the time of sale, the cost basis of any unharvested timber is recorded as depletion expense, a component of cost of goods sold,
within the Real Estate segment.

Real estate development investments include capitalized costs for targeted infrastructure improvements, such as roadways
and utilities. HBU timberland and real estate development investments expected to be sold within twelve months are recorded as
inventory. See Note 6 — Higher and Better Use Timberlands and Real Estate Development Investments for additional information.

Property, Plant, Equipment and Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment additions are recorded at cost, including applicable freight, interest, construction and installation
costs. The Company depreciates its assets, including office and transportation equipment, using the straight-line depreciation
method over 3 to 25 years. Buildings and land improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method over 15 to 35 years
and 5 to 30 years, respectively.

Gains and losses on the retirement of assets are included in operating income. Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of
assets that are held and used is measured by net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is the amount the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the assets,
which is based on a discounted cash flow model. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair
value less cost to sell.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in
the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. A three-level hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value was established as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and
liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or
other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value
ofthe assets or liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques
that use significant unobservable inputs.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition cost of the New Zealand Timber segment over the fair value of the net assets
acquired. Goodwill is not amortized, but is periodically reviewed for impairment. An impairment test for this reporting unit’s
goodwill is performed annually and whenever events or circumstances indicate that the value of goodwill may be impaired. In
performing Step 1 (recoverability test) of the impairment test as outlined in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”)
360-10-35, Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, the Company compares the fair value of the New Zealand Timber
segment to its carrying value including goodwill. If the carrying value including goodwill were to exceed the fair value of the New
Zealand Timber segment, Step 2 of the test would be performed. Step 2 of the impairment test requires the carrying value of
goodwill to be reduced to its fair value, if lower, as of the test date.

For Step 1 of the test, the Company estimates the reporting unit's fair value using an independent valuation for the New Zealand
forest assets. The independent valuation of the New Zealand forest assets is based on discounted cash flow models where the fair
value is calculated using cash flows from sustainable forest management plans. The fair value of the forest assets is measured as
the present value of cash flows from one growth cycle based on the productive forest land, taking into consideration environmental,
operational, and market restrictions. These cash flow valuations involve a number of estimates that require broad assumptions and
significant judgment regarding future performance. The annual impairment test was performed as of October 1, 2015; the estimated
fair value of the New Zealand Timber segment exceeded its carrying value and no impairment was recorded.
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Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company’s New Zealand-based operations is the New Zealand dollar. All assets and liabilities
are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the respective balance sheet dates. Translation gains and losses are
recorded as a separate component of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss), (“AOCI”), within Shareholders’ Equity.

U.S. denominated transactions of the New Zealand JV are translated into New Zealand dollars at the exchange rate in effect
on the date of the transaction and recognized in earnings, net of related cash flow hedges. All income statement items of the New
Zealand JV are translated into U.S. dollars for reporting purposes using monthly average exchange rates with translation gains
and losses being recorded as a separate component of AOCI, within Shareholders’ Equity.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generally recognizes revenues when the following criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an agreement
exists, (ii) delivery has occurred or services rendered, (iii) the Company’s price to the buyer is fixed and determinable, and
(iv) collectibility is reasonably assured.

Timber Sales

Revenue from the sale of timber is recognized when title passes to the buyer. The Company utilizes two primary methods or
sales channels for the sale of timber, a stumpage or standing timber model and delivered logs. Under the stumpage model, standing
timber is sold primarily under pay-as-cut contracts, with specified duration (typically one year or less) and fixed prices, whereby
revenue is recognized as timber is severed and the sales volume is determined. The Company also sells stumpage under lump-
sum contracts for specified parcels where the Company receives cash for the full agreed value of the timber prior to harvest and
title and risk of loss pass to the buyer upon signing the contract. The Company retains interest in the land, slash products, and the
use of the land for recreational and other purposes. Any uncut timber remaining at the end of the contract period reverts to the
Company. Revenue is recognized for lump-sum timber sales when payment is received, the contract is signed and title and risk of
loss pass to the buyer. A third type of stumpage sale the Company utilizes is an agreed-volume sale, whereby revenue is recognized
as periodic physical observations are made of the percentage of acreage harvested.

In delivered log sales, the Company hires third-party loggers and haulers to harvest timber and deliver it to a buyer. Revenue
is recognized when the logs are delivered and title and risk of loss transfer to the buyer. Sales of delivered logs generally do not
require an initial payment and are made to third-party customers on open credit terms. The sales method the Company employs
for a given tract of timber depends upon local market conditions and which method is expected to provide the best overall margin.

Non-timber income included in “Other Operating Income, Net” is primarily comprised of hunting and recreational leases.
Lease income is recognized ratably over the period of the lease.

Log Trading

Domestic log trading revenue for sales within New Zealand is recorded when the goods are received by the customer and title
passes. Export log trading revenue is recorded when the ship leaves the port, at which time title passes to the customer.

Real Estate

The Company recognizes revenue on sales of real estate when the sale is consummated, generally when payment is received
and title and risk of loss have passed to the buyer. Cost of sales associated with real estate sold comprises the cost of the land, the
cost of any timber on the property that was conveyed to the buyer, and any closing costs including sales commissions that may be
borne by the Company. Costs incurred to obtain land use entitlements or for infrastructure such as utilities, roads or other
improvements are charged to cost of sales for a project as a percentage of revenue earned to total anticipated revenue and costs
for each project.

Employee Benefit Plans

The determination of expense and funding requirements for Rayonier’s defined benefit pension plan, its unfunded excess
pension plan and its postretirement life insurance plan are largely based on a number of actuarial assumptions. The key assumptions
include discount rate, return on assets, salary increases, mortality rates, longevity and service lives of employees. See Note 15 —
Employee Benefit Plans for assumptions used to determine benefit obligations, and the net periodic benefit cost for the year ended
December 31, 2015.
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Periodic pension and other postretirement expense is included in “Cost of sales,” “Selling and general expenses” and “Income
from discontinued operations, net” in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. At December 31, 2015
and 2014, the Company’s pension plans were in a net liability position (underfunded) of $33.0 million and $31.8 million,
respectively. The estimated amount to be paid in the next 12 months is recorded in “Accrued payroll and benefits” on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets, with the remainder recorded as a long-term liability in “Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits.” Changes in
the funded status of the Company’s plans are recorded through comprehensive income (loss) in the year in which the changes
occur. The Company measures plan assets and benefit obligations as of the fiscal year-end. See Note 15 — Employee Benefit Plans
for additional information.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured pursuant to tax laws using rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years
in which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The Company recognizes the effect of a change in
income tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income in
the period that includes the enactment date of the rate change. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets if it is more-likely-than-not that such deferred tax assets will not be realized.

In determining the provision for income taxes, the Company computes an annual effective income tax rate based on annual
income by legal entity, permanent differences between book and tax, and statutory income tax rates by jurisdiction. Inherent in
the effective tax rate is an assessment of the ultimate outcome of current period uncertain tax positions. The Company adjusts its
annual effective tax rate as additional information on outcomes or events becomes available. Discrete items such as taxing authority
examination findings or legislative changes are recognized in the period in which they occur.

The Company’s income tax returns are subject to audit by U.S. federal, state and foreign taxing authorities. In evaluating the
tax benefits associated with various tax filing positions, the Company records a tax benefit for an uncertain tax position if it is
more-likely-than-not to be realized upon ultimate settlement of the issue. The Company records a liability for an uncertain tax
position that does not meet this criterion. The Company adjusts its liabilities for uncertain tax benefits in the period in which it is
determined the issue is settled with the taxing authorities, the statute of limitations expires for the relevant taxing authority to
examine the tax position or when new facts or information becomes available. Liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits are included
in “Other Non-Current Liabilities” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 9 — Income Taxes for additional
information.

Reclassifications

Certain 2014 and 2013 amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation, including the Consolidated
Balance Sheet and Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows to better reflect the intended use of the assets and funds. These
reclassifications did not affect revenue, total costs and expenses, operating income, or net income.

The following summarizes reclassifications at December 31, 2015:

»  Seeds and seedlings have been reclassified on the Consolidated Balance Sheet from “Inventory” and “Other Assets” to
“Timber and Timberlands, Net” to better reflect the intended use of the assets. As of December 31,2015 and 2014, seeds
and seedlings were $5.5 million and $4.8 million, respectively.

* HBU timberlands and real estate development investments have been reclassified on the Consolidated Balance Sheet
from “Other Assets” to a separate balance sheet caption. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the cost of Rayonier’s HBU
real estate not expected to be sold within the next 12 months was $65.4 million and $77.4 million, respectively.

»  Consistent with the reclassification of HBU timberland and real estate development investments from “Other Assets” to
aseparate balance sheet caption, real estate development investments have been reclassified on the Consolidated Statement
of Cash Flows from “Cash Provided by Operating Activities” to “Cash Used for Investing Activities.” For the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, real estate development investments were $2.7 million and $3.7 million, respectively.

»  Silvicultural expenditures on Rayonier’s HBU real estate have been reclassified on the Consolidated Statement of “Cash
Flows from Cash Provided by Operating Activities” to “Cash Used for Investing Activities.” For the years ended
December 31,2015 and 2014, silvicultural expenditures on Rayonier’s HBU property were $0.3 million and $0.2 million,
respectively.
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New or Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

InMay 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) and the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”)
jointly issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, a comprehensive
new revenue recognition standard that will supersede current revenue recognition guidance. The guidance provides a unified model
to determine when and how revenue is recognized and will require enhanced disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU
No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers — Deferral of the Effective Date. ASU No. 2015-14 provides a one-year
deferral of the effective date of the new standard, with an option for organizations to adopt early based on the original effective
date. This standard will be effective for Rayonier beginning January 1, 2018 and can be applied either retrospectively to each
period presented or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. The Company is currently evaluating the impact
of adopting this new guidance on the consolidated financial statements and has completed a preliminary analysis of the specific
impacts to our New Zealand Timber segment.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Interest — Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30) — Simplifying the
Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs. ASU No. 2015-03 requires that debt issuance costs be presented in the Balance Sheet as a
direct reduction from the carrying amount of the debt liability. ASU No. 2015-03 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning
after December 31, 2015, including interim periods within that reporting period, and is required to be applied on a retrospective
basis. Early adoption is permitted. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-15 which clarified and amended the guidance
so that debt issuance costs related to a line-of-credit arrangement can continue to be deferred and presented as an asset on the
balance sheet, regardless of whether there are any outstanding borrowings on the line-of-credit arrangement. Rayonier intends to
adopt ASU No. 2015-03 in the Company’s first quarter 2016 Form 10-Q and as required will present debt issuance costs as a
deduction of the carrying amount of debt while presenting debt issuance costs related to the Company’s revolving credit facility
as an asset with subsequent amortization over the life of the facility. As of December 31, 2015, the Company had approximately
$3.3 million and $0.6 million of capitalized debt costs related to its outstanding non-revolving debt and revolving credit facilities,
respectively.

In May 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-07, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) — Disclosures for Investments in
Certain Entities that Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or Its Equivalent). ASU No. 2015-07 requires that investments for which
the fair value is measured at NAV using the practical expedient (investments in funds measured at NAV) under “Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures” (Topic 820) be excluded from the fair value hierarchy. ASU No. 2015-07 is effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015, including interim periods within that reporting period. ASU No. 2015-07
is required to be applied retrospectively to all periods presented beginning in the period of adoption. Early adoption is permitted.
Rayonier intends to adopt ASU No. 2015-07 in the Company’s first quarter 2016 Form 10-Q filing, which will not have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740) — Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred
Taxes. ASU No. 2015-17 requires deferred tax assets and liabilities to be classified as noncurrent in a classified balance sheet. ASU
No. 2015-17 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within that reporting
period. Early adoption is permitted. Rayonier adopted ASU No. 2015-17 in its Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31,
2015 in this annual report on Form 10-K. The Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2014 was not retrospectively
adjusted. See Note 9 — Income Taxes for additional information.

Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated events occurring from December 31, 2015 to the date of issuance for potential recognition or
disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.

Share Repurchase

On February 10, 2016, the Board of Directors approved the repurchase of an additional $100 million of Rayonier’s common
shares (the “share repurchase program”). The program has no time limit and may be suspended or discontinued at any time.
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3. TIMBERLAND ACQUISITIONS

In eight separate transactions throughout 2015, Rayonier purchased approximately 35,000 acres of timberland located in
Florida, Georgia, Louisiana, Mississippi and Oregon, for approximately $88.5 million. These acquisitions were funded with cash
on hand, like-kind exchange proceeds from real estate and timberland sales, or through the revolving credit facility and were
accounted for as asset purchases. Additionally, in one transaction during 2015, the Company acquired forestry rights covering
approximately 1,800 acres of timberland with mature timber in New Zealand for approximately $9.9 million. This acquisition was
funded with cash on hand.

In 12 separate transactions throughout 2014, Rayonier purchased approximately 62,000 acres of timberland located in Alabama,
Florida, Georgia, Texas and Washington, for approximately $130 million. These acquisitions were funded with cash on hand, like-
kind exchange proceeds from real estate and timberland sales, or through the revolving credit facility and were accounted for as
asset purchases. Additionally, in one transaction during 2014, approximately 500 acres were purchased in New Zealand for
approximately $0.9 million. This acquisition was funded with cash on hand.

The following table summarizes the timberland acquisitions at December 31, 2015 and 2014:

2015 2014
Cost Acres Cost Acres
ALBDAMA. .....c.oiiiiiiciieiicicceeete et e — — $41,453 18,113
FLOTIAA. c..eveeeieieeiecteece et 5,031 3,428 22,157 15,774
GEOTZIA vevvivienieiieiietete ettt ettt ettt ettt sttt et sttt e e besaeenseneas 1,495 1,443 46,525 16,573
LOUISIANG ....evvveei it 47,840 24,494 — —
IMIISSISSIPPI cevvenvenverreenreiesreesiesesseeseentessesseeseessensesseeseensessesseensenses 42 40 — —
OFEZOM .ttt ettt ettt sttt st 34,052 5,578 — —
1S & TSRS — — 17,960 10,900
WaASHINGLON .....eeitiriieieiirieeee et — — 1,878 438
New Zealand (2) .....cocveveeeieeieeieee et 9,949 1,767 923 546
Total AcquUiSitions...............c..coeviiieiieieieeeeceeee e, $98,409 36,750 $130,896 62,344

(a) The 2015 New Zealand transaction represents the purchase of a forestry right.

4. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Rayonier operates in five reportable segments: Southern Timber, Pacific Northwest Timber, New Zealand Timber, Real Estate
and Trading.

The Company’s timber businesses are disaggregated into Southern Timber, Pacific Northwest Timber and New Zealand Timber
segments. Sales in the Timber segments include all activities related to the harvesting of timber and other non-timber income
activities such as the leasing of properties for hunting, mineral extraction and cell towers.

Real Estate sales include all U.S. property sales, including those lands designated as higher and better use (HBU). The
Company’s Real Estate sales categories include Improved Development, Unimproved Development, Rural and Non-Strategic /
Timberlands. In the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company added a fifth sales category entitled “Large Dispositions.” This category
includes sales of timberland that exceed $20 million in size and do not have any identified HBU premium relative to timberland
value. Previously, these sales were reported as Non-Strategic / Timberlands. All prior period amounts have been presented to reflect
the newly realigned sales categories.

Improved development includes sales of development property for which Rayonier, through one of its taxable REIT
subsidiaries, has invested in infrastructure to enhance the value and marketability of the property. The unimproved development
sales category comprises properties sold for commercial, industrial or residential development purposes and for which Rayonier
has not invested in improvements such as utilities or roads.
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The Trading segment comprises log trading in New Zealand, conducted by the Company’s New Zealand JV in two core areas
of business, managed export services on behalf of third parties and procured logs for export sale by the New Zealand JV. The
Trading segment complements the New Zealand Timber segment by adding scale and achieving cost savings that directly benefit
the New Zealand Timber segment, and by contributing to income with minimal investment.

Sales between operating segments are made based on estimated fair market value, and intercompany sales, purchases and
profits (losses) are eliminated in consolidation. The Company evaluates financial performance based on segment operating income
and Adjusted EBITDA. Asset information is not reported by segment, as the company does not produce asset information by
segment internally.

Operating income as presented in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income is equal to segment
income. Certain income (loss) items in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income are not allocated to
segments. These items, which include gains (losses) from certain asset dispositions, interest income (expense), miscellaneous
income (expense) and income tax (expense) benefit, are not considered by management to be part of segment operations and are
included under “Corporate and other.”

Segment information for each of the three years ended December 31, 2015 follows:

Sales
2015 2014 2013

SOULNEIN TIMDET.......oviiviieiiiecee ettt ettt ettt eae et et ereeteenseeaeere e $139,093  $141,833  $123,804
Pacific NOIthweSt TIMDET .......coviiiiiiiiciiie ettt ettt eaeeeeaeeas 76,488 102,232 110,494
NeW Zealand TimMDET.........cccoiieiiriiiiiieieieteeeee sttt be s bt ees 161,570 182,421 147,716
REAL ESTALE (@) 1ouvivievreieiiieeieieitiseeteteste st etete e st eseesbestesteesaessesseesaensensesseessessessesssessensensens 86,493 77,281 148,955
THAQING ettt ettt ettt ettt et et e st st e e st et e s beese e b e beeseeneentebesneennenbentean 81,230 103,678 131,711
Intersegment EIMINations ........cocceceevereniriienininieesesi ettt st — (3,924) (2,962)

1] ) BTSSRSO URSR P $544,874  $603,521 $659,718

(a) 2013 included a fourth quarter sale of approximately 128,000 acres of New York timberlands for $57.3 million.

Operating Income/(Loss)

2015 2014 2013

SOULNEIN TIMDET ...ttt ettt ettt st eaeentesbe bt enaeneas $46,669  $45,651  $37,847
Pacific NOIthWeESt TIMDET ........cooiiiiiiiecieeie et e e et e e e eaaeee e e enes 6,917 29,539 32,669
NeW Zealand TIMDET .........oooviiiiiiiieieee et ete et e e eteeeeaaeeeeteeeenree s 2,775 9,474 10,566
REAI ESTALE ..ottt e e ettt e e et e e e et ae e e s seatateesseataeeesenaaeeesennes 44,263 47,474 55,894
THAING. . .ve vttt ettt ettt et et et e bt e st e besseestente s eeseeseensaeseeseensensesseessensenteeseensenes 1,247 1,687 1,823
Corporate and OThET (8) ......cecverierierieieierieeeeterte ettt ettt sttt sbe et et b sbeenee e (24,087)  (35,536) (30,139)

Total Operating INCOME.........cocieriiiieeiiieie ettt ettt ettt see e et e e e eaeeneeens 77,784 98,289 108,660
Unallocated interest eXpense and Other ..........ccocvevveriririeniniiieeie et (34,702)  (53,447) (38,502)
Total income from continuing operations before iNCOME taxes.........ccvevrereeerrrerienerereenne $43,082  $44,842  $70,158

(a) 2013 included a $16.2 million gain related to the consolidation of the New Zealand JV. See Note 7 — Joint Venture Investment.
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Gross Capital Expenditures

2015 2014 2013

Capital Expenditures (a)
SOULNEIT TIMDET. ...ttt ettt e e et e e eeeee et e e eeeee et eeeseeenenenes $33,245 $36,033 $38,093
Pacific NOrthwest TIMDET .......ccovviiiiiiiiiieceie ettt ettt ettt eeveeeetreeenaeenareeenns 8,515 9,742 8,404
NEW Zealand TIMDET..........ooiiiiiiiii ettt e e et e e e eare e e e e entaeeeeeennes 15,143 17,344 16,030
REAL ESAL....cueiiiiiieiieiiciieietee ettt ettt ettt ettt et et e ste e st et e beeseeseensenbesseensensesseennens 313 195 366
TTAQINE -ttt ettt ettt h e bt et e bt s b e bt et e st bt ea et et bt et et b eaeens — — —
Corporate aNd OTNET.........ccverieriieieieieeeet ettt ste et e s e e teeseesesbesbeesnensesreesnens 77 399 310

Total capital EXPENAItULES. .........ocveviieieriiereeieieteietetetet ettt eb et b et seseeseseseseseesens $57,293 $63,713 $63,203
Timberland Acquisitions
SOULNEIT TIMDET ...ttt eee e $54,408 $125,650 $20,364
Pacific NOIthwest TIMDET ......ccvooiiviiiiiiiciie ettt e e eaeas 34,052 1,878 —
New Zealand TImDET (D) ......coveieriiririeierienierieetetese ettt ettt et s eneen 9,949 923 139,879
REAL ESTALE.......vviiieeiieeeie ettt ettt e et e et e e eaa e e enteeeeaeeeenteseesaesenseeeenaeeenneeeanes — 2,445 37
TTAQINE -ttt ettt ettt ettt et s be e st et e s bt e st et e b e ebeentenbenbeebeentenbesbeeneens — — —
COorporate ANd OtHET.......ecciieeieiecie ettt e st e s e et e et e enseenseenseenseenns — — —

Total timberland aCqUISIEIONS...........ccveievirieieiitiieeieesiet ettt ese e s seeeseenas $98,409 $130,896 $160,280
Total Gross Capital EXpenditures...................ococcoeiiiiieiiiiiieeeiereeeeeeeeee e $155,702 $194,609 $223,483

(a) Excludes timberland acquisitions presented separately.

(b) Includes $139.9 million related to the purchase price of the additional 39 percent JV interest acquired in 2013. See Note 7 —
Joint Venture Investment for additional information.

Depreciation,
Depletion and Amortization
2015 2014 2013
SOULNEIT TIMDET. ...ttt ettt et et e e e e e e e e e eteeeeeeeeeseeeeenenes $54,299 $52,307 $49,402
Pacific NOItRWESE TIMDET .......viiiiiiiiiiieeieie ettt ettt e eaaaeeas 14,842 21,282 21,371
NEW Zealand TIMIDET .......c..oiiiiiiiiii ettt e et e e et eeeaaeeenaeeeenaeean 29,741 32,161 27,650
REAI ESTAL.....ccuiiieiieiieie ettt ettt ettt et e e et e et e eabeetbeenbeeaseenseenseenreenns 14,533 13,355 17,365
TLAQINE ettt et e et e et e et e et e e bt esae bt esstensaessteasseesbeanseenseenseenseenseennes — — —
Corporate aNd OTNET.........ccverieriieieieieeeceete ettt ste et esbe et et e s e sbeeseesnensesbeennens 293 875 1,066
Ottt et e e e e et e e eta e e eetteeeabeeeetaeeeraeeatreeenns $113,708 $119,980 $116,854
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Non-Cash Cost of Land and Real
Estate Sold

2015 2014 2013

SOULNEIN TIMDET ...eviiieiieiiciicietee ettt ettt ettt st e e e besbeeseensensessesneensensenes — — —
Pacific NOTthwesSt TIMDET ........cciiiiiiiiiiieciecee ettt ettt steestee st eetaeseaeseseesneeens — — —
NEW Z€aland TIIMIDET........ccoviiiiiiiiiie ettt e e et e et e e sae e eateesnaeeenes 467 4,328 —
REAL ESTALE ..ottt ettt ettt st a et e st s bt et et e besbe et et e s besneenbenbe e 12,042 8,936 10,212
216 12V RSP SUSP — — —
COorporate ANd OTNET........c.eevieiiiiieieie ettt et st e e et e besaeeneensesbesneensenbenee — — —

TOtAL vttt ettt ettt ettt tb et e et e e teesb et e e teesa e b e aeereesbesbeeteerbenbesbeeaeensenbens $12,509 $13,264 $10,212

Sales by Product Line
2015 2014 2013

SOUTHEIN TIMDET ..ottt ettt et et eee e $139,093 $141,833 $123,804
Pacific NOIthWeESt TIMDET ........oiiiiiiiiiiieeeee ettt e eeaaae e 76,488 102,232 110,494
NEeW Zealand TIMIDET.......c..ooiviiiiiii ittt e et e eeaaeeeaeeeenaeean 161,570 182,421 147,716
Real Estate

IMProved DEVEIOPIMENT .......ccuiiuieeieieieeeetteieie ettt e sae st ae et sesre e essessesreeseens 2,610 — 1,568

Unimproved Development ...........ccocvevieririeiienieiieietese sttt ettt s 6,399 4,794 2,839

RUTAL .ottt ettt ettt et b et e et et e s besteessesbesseeseessessesseessensensesreessans 22,653 40,954 27,471

Non-Strategic / TIMbErlands...........ccecceeeeiecieriiiiieiere sttt eeeens 54,831 9,533 37,049

Large DiISPOSItIONS (@) .....c.ccveererueieiriniiieieenteteeteee ettt ettt et sse e eeneenes — 22,000 80,028
TOtal REAI ESTALE ....ccuvviiieeieiiiieceeie ettt ettt ete et e et e e eaa e e eteseenaeseaeeeenneeenneeeenns 86,493 77,281 148,955
TIAQING -ttt ettt ettt et e et s b e e st et e s bt e st et et e ebeentenbenbeebeentenbesbeeneens 81,230 103,678 131,711
Intersegment liMINATIONS ..........oviiiieeiieie ettt ettt et e e et esnaesbeesbeenseenseenseenseenns — (3,924) (2,962)

TOtAL SALES.......ceoieieiiiiiciieeee ettt sttt sttt sreeneens $544,874  $603,521  $659,718

(a) 2013 included a fourth quarter sale of approximately 128,000 acres of New York timberlands for $57.3 million.

Geographical Operating Information

Sales Operating Income Identifiable Assets
2015 2014 2013 2015 2014 2013 2015 2014
United States .......... $302,074 $317,422  $380,575 $73,749 $87,116 $80,158 $1,826,462 $1,884,585
New Zealand (a)..... 242,800 286,099 279,143 4,035 11,173 28,502 492,801 568,530
Total.............. $544,874  $603,521  $659,718 $77,784 $98,289  $108,660 $2,319,263 $2,453,115

(a) 2013 included a $16.2 million operating income gain from the consolidation of the New Zealand JV. See Note 7 — Joint
Venture Investment.
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5. DEBT
Rayonier’s debt consisted of the following at December 31, 2015 and 2014:

2015 2014

Senior Notes due 2022 at a fixed interest rate 0f 3.75%.......cueeeriiieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $325,000 $325,000
Senior Exchangeable Notes due 2015 at a fixed interest rate 0f 4.50% ........cccovereeriinenercnineenns — 129,706
Mortgage notes due 2017 at fixed interest rates 0f 4.35% (2) ..o.vevververeeiienienirieeeeee e 42,638 53,801
Solid waste bonds due 2020 at a variable interest rate of 1.3% at December 31, 2015 .................... 15,000 15,000
Revolving Credit Facility borrowings at a variable interest rate of 1.34% at December 31, 2014 ... — 16,000
Revolving Credit Facility borrowings due 2020 at a variable interest rate of 1.6% at December

R IO 1 B SO 97,000 _
Term Credit Agreement borrowings due 2024 at a variable interest rate of 1.9% at December 31,
2005 et b ettt ettt e e nes 170,000 —
New Zealand JV Revolving Credit Facility due 2016 at a variable interest rate of 3.54% at

DECEMDBET 31, 2015 ..ottt ettt e et et eeae et et et e et eeee e enens 160,999 184,099
New Zealand JV Noncontrolling interest shareholder loan at 0% interest rate............c.ccceecereeennnne. 23,242 27,949
TOAL AEDL ...ttt ettt ettt 833,879 751,555
Less: Current maturities of long-term debt............ccooiiiiiiiii — (129,706)
LONG-EIM OBttt sttt st et e bbbt st et b e s bt et et sbe e e enees $833,879 $621,849
Principal payments due during the next five years and thereafter are as follows:
2076 () c-vvevereereertetentete et ettt ettt ettt stttk et b bbbttt h e e bbbt h etk h bt h et bbbt st b et bkttt st be et eae et ene $160,999
2007 (D) etttk b ekt h et s b ekttt e bt e e 42,000
20T8 bbb a et b e st —
2079 ettt e h bkt h et b h bt e bbbt b et st b et bkt e et e bttt ee e —
2020 1. bbbt h e e bbbt h et h b h e st s e bbbt 112,000
[N 1S (= U= PSSR 518,242
TOLAL AEDL..eeieeieeeceeeee ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et eeteeae et e aeeteeat et e eteeteerteeteeaeeae et eeteeaeert et e eteeaeerteteeteeteenean $833,241

(a) The Company will refinance this debt in 2016 with proceeds from the term loan facility.

(b) The mortgage notes due in 2017 were recorded at a premium of $0.6 million and $1.3 million as of December 31, 2015 and
2014, respectively. Upon maturity the liability will be $42 million.

Term Credit Agreement

On August 5, 2015, the Company entered into a credit agreement with CoBank, ACB, as administrative agent, and a syndicate
of Farm Credit institutions and other commercial banks to provide $550 million of new credit facilities, including a five-year $200
million unsecured revolving credit facility (see below) and a nine-year $350 million term loan facility. The Company has entered
into an interest rate swap transaction to fix the cost of the term loan facility over its nine-year term. The periodic interest rate on
the term credit agreement is LIBOR plus 1.625%, with an unused commitment fee of 0.175%. The Company receives annual
patronage refunds, which are profit distributions made by a cooperative to its member-users based on the quantity or value of
business done with the member-user. The Company estimates the effective interestrate to be approximately 3.3% after consideration
of the estimated patronage refunds and interest rate swaps. As of December 31, 2015, the Company had additional draws available
of $180.0 million under the term credit agreement.

Revolving Credit Facility

In August 2015, the Company entered into a five-year $200 million unsecured revolving credit facility, replacing the previous
$200 million revolving credit facility and $100 million farm credit facility which were scheduled to expire in April 2016 and
December 2019, respectively. The periodic interest rate on the revolving credit facility is LIBOR plus 1.250%, with an unused
commitment fee of 0.175%. At December 31, 2015, the Company had $101.2 million of available borrowings under this facility,
net of $1.8 million to secure its outstanding letters of credit.
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Joint Venture Debt

On April 4, 2013, Rayonier acquired an additional 39% interest in its New Zealand JV, bringing its total ownership to 65%
and as a result, the New Zealand JV’s debt was consolidated effective on that date. See Note 7 — Joint Venture Investment for
further information.

Senior Secured Facilities Agreement

The New Zealand JV is party to a $188 million variable rate Senior Secured Facilities Agreement comprised of two tranches.
Tranche A, a $161 million revolving cash advance facility expires September 2016 and Tranche B, a $27 million working capital
facility expires June 2016. Although the maximum amounts available under the agreement are denominated in New Zealand dollars,
advances on Tranche A are also available in U.S. dollars. This agreement is secured by a Security Trust Deed that provides recourse
to the New Zealand JV’s assets, as well as recourse to Rayonier Inc. and any of its subsidiaries.

Revolving Credit Facility

As of December 31, 2015 the Senior Secured Facilities Agreement had $161 million outstanding on Tranche A at 3.54%
due September 2016, with a commitment fee of 80 basis points. In 2016, the Company will use proceeds from the term loan
facility to fund a capital infusion into the New Zealand JV, which the New Zealand JV will in turn use for repayment of all
outstanding amounts under its existing credit facility. The entire balance of the New Zealand JV Revolving Credit Facility
remained classified as long-term debt at December 31, 2015 due to the ability and intent of the Company to refinance it on a
long-term basis. The interest rate is indexed to the 90 day New Zealand Bank bill rate and is generally repriced quarterly. The
margin on the index rate fluctuates based on the interest coverage ratio. The New Zealand JV manages these rates through
interest rate swaps, as discussed at Note 13 — Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities. The notional amounts
of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at December 31, 2015 were $130 million, or 81% of the variable rate debt. The
interest rate swaps have maturities extending through January 2020. The periodic interest rate on New Zealand JV debt is
BKBM plus 0.80% with an additional 0.80% credit line fee. The periodic effective interest rate on New Zealand JV debt is
approximately 6.3% after consideration of the interest rate swaps.

Working Capital Facility

The $27 million Working Capital Facility is available for short-term operating cash flow needs of the New Zealand JV.
This facility holds a variable interest rate indexed to the Official Cash Rate set by the Reserve Bank of New Zealand. The
margin ranges from 0.94% to 1.04% based on the interest coverage ratio and the length of time each borrowing is outstanding.
At December 31, 2015, there was no outstanding balance on the Working Capital Facility.

Shareholder Loan

The shareholder loan is an interest-free loan from the noncontrolling New Zealand JV partner in the amount of $23 million.
This loan represents part of the noncontrolling party’s investment in the New Zealand JV. The loan is secured by timberlands
owned by the New Zealand JV and is subordinated to the Senior Secured Facilities Agreement. Although Rayonier Inc. is not
liable for this loan, the shareholder loan instrument contains features with characteristics of both debt and equity and is therefore
required to be classified as debt and consolidated. As the loan is effectively at par, the carrying amount is deemed to be the fair
value. The entire balance of the shareholder loan remained classified as long-term debt at December 31, 2015 due to its absence
of a fixed maturity date.

3.75% Senior Notes issued March 2012

In March 2012, Rayonier Inc. issued $325 million of 3.75% Senior Notes due 2022, guaranteed by certain subsidiaries. The
guarantors were revised in October 2012, leaving TRS and Rayonier Operating Company LLC as the remaining guarantors.
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$105 Million Secured Mortgage Notes Assumed

In November 2011, in connection with the acquisition of approximately 250,000 acres of timberlands, the Company assumed
notes totaling $105 million, secured by mortgages on certain parcels of the timberlands acquired. The notes bear fixed interest
rates of 4.35% with original terms of seven years maturing in August 2017. The Company prepaid $21.0 million of principal on
the mortgage notes concurrent with the acquisition and an additional $10.5 million during each of the years 2012 through 2015,
the maximum amounts allowed without penalty at the respective dates. The notes were recorded at fair value on the date of
acquisition. At December 31, 2015, the carrying value of the debt outstanding was $42.6 million; however, the liability will be
$42.0 million at maturity.

4.50% Senior Exchangeable Notes issued August 2009
The Company paid $131 million of its 4.50% Senior Exchangeable Notes upon maturity in August 2015.

The amounts related to convertible debt in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2014 are as follows:

2014

Liabilities:
Principal amount of debt

4.50% Senior EXChangeable NOTES .......c..oociiiiiieieese ettt eaes $130,973
Unamortized discount (a)

4.50% Senior EXchangeable INOLES .......ccoiiiiiiiriiriiieterert ettt ettt ettt st (1,267)
Net carrying amOUNTE OF AEDE .......cccveriiriieiiiiieceeieiee ettt ettt et st e st e besbeeseessesseeseessensensesseensensessesseenes $129,706
Equity:
COIMIMON STOCK ...ttt ettt ettt et e e e et e e e e et e e et e et e et e eaeeeeeeseeeseeesasesaseenseenseereeeeseesnsesseesseesnsesaeesrseenssenseenteeseennes $8,850

(a) The discount for the 4.50% notes was amortized through August 2015.

The amount of interest related to the convertible debt recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive
Income for the years December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

2015 2014 2013

Contractual interest coupon

4.50% Senior EXchangeable NOLES ........ccvecieriirieierieii ettt sie e sae e e eenns $3,438  $5,930 $7,271
Amortization of debt discount

4.50% Senior EXchangeable NOLES .........cvecieriiiieieieieieeiesie et ie e se s saeste e esesse e esnens 1,267 1,957 2,281
Total interest EXPEense rECOZMIZEM. ... ...ovrrirreieirririeieriereietereeteteseesessessesessessesseseesesseseeseesesseseesenns $4,705  $7,887  $9,552

The effective interest rate on the liability component for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was 6.21%.
Debt Covenants

In connection with the Company’s $350 million term credit agreement and $200 million revolving credit facility, customary
covenants must be met, the most significant of which include interest coverage and leverage ratios. In connection with the New
Zealand JV’s Senior Secured Facilities Agreement, customary covenants must be met, the most significant of which include interest
coverage and leverage ratios.

In addition to the financial covenants listed above, the mortgage notes, senior notes, term credit agreement and revolving
credit facility include customary covenants that limit the incurrence of debt and the disposition of assets, among others. At
December 31, 2015, the Company was in compliance with all covenants.
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6. HIGHER AND BETTER USE TIMBERLANDS AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT INVESTMENTS

Rayonier continuously assesses potential alternative uses of its timberlands, as some properties may become more valuable
for development, residential, recreation or other purposes. The Company periodically transfers, via a sale or contribution from the
REIT to TRS, HBU timberlands to enable land-use entitlement, development or marketing activities. The Company also acquires
HBU properties in connection with timberland acquisitions. These properties are managed as timberlands until sold or developed.
While the majority of HBU sales involve rural and recreational land, the Company also selectively pursues various land-use
entitlements on certain properties for residential, commercial and industrial development in order to enhance the long-term value
of such properties. For selected development properties, Rayonier also invests in targeted infrastructure improvements, such as
roadways and utilities, to accelerate the marketability and improve the value of such properties.

An analysis of higher and better use timberlands and real estate development costs from December 31, 2014 to
December 31, 2015 is shown below:

Higher and Better Use Timberlands and
Real Estate Development Investments

Land and Development
Timber Investments Total
Non-current portion at December 31, 2014 $65,959 $11,474 $77,433
Plus: Current portion (a) 4,875 57 4,932
Total Balance at December 31, 2014 70,834 11,531 82,365
Non-cash cost of land and real estate sold (5,101) (344) (5,445)
Timber depletion from harvesting activities and basis of timber sold in real estate sales (4,820) — (4,820)
Capitalized real estate development investments — 2,676 2,676
Capital expenditures (silviculture) 308 — 308
Intersegment transfers 2,695 — 2,695
Other — 77) 77
Total Balance at December 31, 2015 63,916 13,786 77,702
Less: Current portion (a) (6,019) (6,233) (12,252)
Non-current portion at December 31, 2015 $57,897 $7,553 $65,450

(a) The current portion of Higher and Better Use Timberlands and Real Estate Development Investments is recorded in
Inventory. See Note 18 — Inventory for additional information.

7. JOINT VENTURE INVESTMENT

On April 4, 2013 (the “acquisition date”), the Company acquired an additional 39 percent ownership interest in Matariki
Forestry Group, a joint venture ("New Zealand JV") that owns or leases approximately 0.4 million legal acres of New Zealand
timberlands. As a result of the acquisition, Rayonier is a 65 percent owner of the New Zealand JV and subsequent to April 4, 2013
it consolidated the JV’s Balance Sheet and results of operations. The portions of the consolidated financial position and results of
operations attributable to the New Zealand JV’s 35 percent noncontrolling interest are also shown separately. Rayonier New Zealand
Limited (“RNZ”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rayonier Inc., serves as the manager of the New Zealand JV forests.

Prior to the acquisition date, the Company accounted for its 26 percent interest in the New Zealand JV as an equity method
investment. The additional 39 percent interest was acquired for $139.9 million and resulted in the Company obtaining a controlling
financial interest in the New Zealand JV and accordingly, the purchase was accounted for as a step-acquisition. Upon consolidation,
the Company recognized a $10.1 million deferred gain, which resulted from the original sale of its New Zealand operations to the
joint venture in 2005 and a $6.1 million benefit due to the required fair market value remeasurement of the Company’s equity
interest in the New Zealand JV held before the purchase of the additional interest. The acquisition-date fair value of the previous
equity interest was $93.3 million.
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The Company’s operating results for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflect 26 percent of the New Zealand JV’s income
prior to the acquisition date, as reported in “Equity in income of New Zealand joint venture” in the Consolidated Statements of
Income and Comprehensive Income. The following represents the pro forma (unaudited) consolidated sales and net income for
the three years ended December 31, 2015 as if the additional interest in the New Zealand JV had been acquired on January 1, 2013.

2015 2014 2013
SALES ..ttt ettt sttt b et sttt $544,874 $603,521  $1,742,348
INEt INCOME ... 43,941 97,846 372,039

8. COMMITMENTS

The Company leases certain buildings, machinery and equipment under various operating leases. Total rental expense for
operating leases amounted to $2.3 million, $1.9 million and $2.3 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The Company also
has long-term lease agreements on certain timberlands in the Southern U.S. and New Zealand. U.S. leases typically have initial
terms of approximately 30 to 65 years, with renewal provisions in some cases. New Zealand timberland lease terms range between
30 and 99 years. Such leases are generally non-cancellable and require minimum annual rental payments. Total expenditures for
long-term leases and deeds on timberlands (including Crown Forest Licenses) amounted to $11.3 million, $12.8 million and $13.2
million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

At December 31,2015, the future minimum payments under non-cancellable operating and timberland leases were as follows:

Operating Timberland Purchase
Leases Leases (a) Obligations (b) Total
2006 et $1,865 $11,174 $7,253 $20,292
2007 e e 1,444 10,873 6,023 18,340
2018 ot 736 9,372 5,585 15,693
2009 e e e 606 8,874 4,114 13,594
2020 1t erae e 521 8,432 3,455 12,408
Thereafter (C) ...ooveeereririieierie et 1,584 161,101 15,057 177,742
$6,756 $209,826 $41,487 $258,069

(a) The majority of timberland leases are subject to increases or decreases based on either the Consumer Price Index, Producer
Price Index or market rates.

(b) Purchase obligations include payments expected to be made on derivative financial instruments (foreign exchange contracts
and interest rate swaps) and standby letters of credit fees for industrial revenue bonds.

(c) Includes 20 years of future minimum payments for perpetual Crown Forest Licenses (“CFL”). A CFL consists of a license to
use public or government owned land to operate a commercial forest. The CFL's extend indefinitely and may only be terminated
upon a 35 year termination notice from the government. If no termination notice is given, the CFLs renew automatically each
year for a one year term. As of December 31, 2015, the New Zealand JV has four CFL’s under termination notice, terminating
in 2034, two in 2044 and 2049 as well as two fixed term CFL’s expiring in 2062. The annual license fee is determined based
on current market rental value, with triennial rent reviews.
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9. INCOME TAXES

The operations conducted by the Company’s REIT entities are generally not subject to U.S. federal and state income taxation.
The New Zealand JV is subject to corporate level tax in New Zealand. Non-REIT qualifying operations are conducted by the
Company’s taxable REIT subsidiaries. Prior to the June 27, 2014 spin-off of Rayonier Advanced Materials, the Company’s taxable
REIT subsidiaries (“TRS”) operations included the Performance Fibers manufacturing business. During 2014 and 2013, the income
tax benefit from continuing operations was significantly impacted by the TRS businesses. During 2015, the primary businesses
performed in Rayonier’s taxable REIT subsidiaries included log trading and certain real estate activities, such as the sale and
entitlement of development HBU properties.

The Company was subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on built-in gains (the excess of fair market value over tax
basis for property held upon REIT election at January 1, 2004) on taxable sales of such property during calendar years 2004 through
2013. In 2013, the law provided a built-in gains tax holiday, which impacted the Company’s 2013 tax provision.

Alternative Fuel Mixture Credit (“AFMC”) and Cellulosic Biofuel Producer Credit (“CBPC”)

The U.S. Internal Revenue Code allowed two credits for taxpayers that produced and used an alternative fuel in the operation
of their business during calendar year 2009. The AFMC is a $0.50 per gallon refundable excise tax credit (which is not taxable),
while the CBPC is a $1.01 per gallon credit that is nonrefundable, taxable and has limitations based on an entity’s tax liability.
Rayonier produced and used an alternative fuel (“black liquor”) in its Performance Fibers business, which qualified for both credits.
The Company claimed the AFMC on its original 2009 income tax return. In 2013, management approved an exchange of black
liquor gallons previously claimed under the AFMC for the CBPC. The net tax benefit from this exchange of $18.8 million was
recorded in discontinued operations. As a result of the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business in 2014, the Company recorded
a $13.6 million valuation allowance in continuing operations related to CPBC remaining with the Company’s taxable REIT
subsidiary and the limited potential use of the CBPC prior to its expiration on December 31, 2019. In 2015, a $1.0 million return-
to-accrual adjustment was recorded related to the CBPC which resulted in a corresponding increase in the CBPC valuation allowance
to $14.6 million.

Provision for Income Taxes from Continuing Operations

The (provision for)/benefit from income taxes consisted of the following:

2015 2014 2013
Current
ULS. £ACTAL ...ttt sttt neeaens ($624) $27,521 $27,338
AL, 1t e euveteetietteteste et et et e s te et et et e te st et e teeae e st e b e e teesb et e seeseent e teeseeneenbebeereensenaenreas 226 1,353 1,462
FOT@IGN ...ttt ettt ettt et be b bt eneenbesbe s (308) — (261)
(706) 28,874 28,539
Deferred
ULS. FEACTAL ..ottt et ettt et beeteeasensesaeenis 3,702 (7,260) 22,649
SEALC. . vtevveuteetieteete e et et et e st e et et et e te et e e be et et et e et e e s b et et e ese e st e beeseentenbebeeteentenbenreas 107 (357) 1,211
FOT@IGN ..ttt ettt ettt be bt et et b 2,360 1,633 (2,119)
6,169 (5,984) 21,741
Changes in valuation allOWancCe ...........cceeerueriinieienienieeeiee ettt (4,604) (13,289) (14,595)
TOtAL .ttt ettt et ettt e et ettt e b e te e te e b e beeteetaenbebeeseessenbenbeereessebeareas $859 $9,601 $35,685
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A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the actual income tax rate was as follows:

2015 2014 2013
U.S. federal statutory income tax rate ............c.ccoeeneee ($15,079) 35.0%  ($15,695) 35.0%  ($24,555) 35.0 %
U.S. and foreign REIT income and U.S. TRS
taXable LOSSES...cvireieieiiiieiieierieeieetee e 19,446 (45.1) 32,058 (71.5) 52,812 (75.3)
U.S. net deferred tax asset valuation allowance........ (3,607) 8.4 — — —
Foreign TRS operations ...........cceceevververeeneenienieneeennn 1,097 (2.6) (159) 0.4 95) 0.1
Loss on early redemption of Senior Exchangeable
NOLES 1.vvveviieieieeeieiete ettt be s s s sesssebesens — — — — (859) 1.2
OMhET ... 5 112 (0.3) 101 (0.1)
Income tax benefit before discrete items..................... 1,862 4.3) 16,316 (36.4) 27,404 (39.1)
CBPC valuation allowance ............cccceevevvveeveeneenen. (997) 2.3 (13,644) 30.4 —
Deferred tax inventory valuations............ccccceeverennenn — 5,151 (11.5) 983 (1.4)
Uncertain tax poSItioNS.........ceeeeeerververrereeruenveneennes — — 1,830 4.1 800 (1.1)
Gain related to consolidation of New Zealand joint
VEINEULC ...ttt eeeee ettt — — — — 5,634 (8.0)
Reversal of REIT BIG tax payable ........c..ccccevennennee. — — — 485 (0.7)
OFRCT ..o (©6) — (52) 0.2 379 (0.6)
Income tax benefit as reported for continuing
OPCTALIONS ..eoeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e $859 (2.0)% $9,601 21.4)% $35,685 (50.9)%

The Company’s effective tax rate is below the 35 percent U.S. statutory rate primarily due to tax benefits associated with

being a REIT.

Provision for Income Taxes from Discontinued Operations

On June 27, 2014 Rayonier completed the spin-off of its Performance Fibers business. Income tax expense related to
Performance Fibers discontinued operations was $20.6 million and $84.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 and

2013, respectively.

During 2013, Rayonier completed the sale of its Wood Products business for $80 million plus a working capital adjustment.
Income tax expense related to the Wood Products business was $22.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.

See Note 21 — Discontinued Operations for additional information on the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business and
the sale of the Wood Products business.
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Deferred Taxes

Deferred income taxes result from recording revenues and expenses in different periods for financial reporting versus tax
reporting. The nature of the temporary differences and the resulting net deferred tax asset/liability for the two years ended
December 31, were as follows:

2015 2014
Gross deferred tax assets:
Pension, postretirement and other employee benefits .........cocvvevevieriieieiienienieeeeeese e $1,040 $1,994
NEeW Zealand JV .....cciiiiiiiiiiiicieie ettt ettt ettt et 65,078 71,482
CBPC Tax Credit Carry FOrwards (@) .......cceecueeeuerieeiieieesieesieeseesieeseeeseeseestesae e seesseesseesseenes 14,641 13,644
CapitaliZed 1Al ESTALE COSTS...viruirirriiriieieierieeteetteteste st etetesteettetestesseestesesseeseensensessesseensensesseenns 9,378 9,554
U.S. TRS Net Operating LOSS ....c..ceveeieieiieieieireieteieetenteeee sttt s ene e 2,327 —
ORET ..ttt b et a bttt ettt s h et b e bbbt h et neeaenee 7,050 8,067
Total gross deferred taX ASSELS.......evueruiririerieriietieiente sttt ettt ettt et et ettt e e sbe bt eneeneesbeene 99,514 104,741
Less: Valuation allOWANCE..........ccuevveruieieierieeieeieiesie ettt ettt stesseessessesseeseessessesseessessessesseenns (18,248) (13,644)
Total deferred tax assets after valuation allOWaNCE..........cc..covveeeeveeevieeeiie et $81,266 $91,097
Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Accelerated dePrECIAtiON .........cveverieriieeieieriesteeeteteste et etetesteeteetestesseessessesseeseessensessesseensensesseenns (1,357) (1,796)
Repatriation of fOreign EarMiNgS . ......cc.eeeeierieririieienerieeiete sttt ettt sttt st sbeeseenee b eae (7,251) (8,817)
NEW ZAlaNA TV ..ooeiiiiiieieeeeeeeee ettt sttt ettt et e s teese e s e s be e st et ebesteesnensenreereens (68,551) (78,008)
Timber INStAIIMENT SALE .......cviiiieiieiiiiiecieeei ettt ettt et e e ae e ebeeebeeabeesseesbeesaesseesseenes (7,511) (7,511)
(31 < TSRS (311) (1,304)
Total gross deferred tax Habilities .......cveierierieieiereeieiee ettt eee (84,981) (97,436)
Net deferred tax (Liability)/aSSEL. ......coveieiierieieeieieieee ettt ettt e st sae e neesenee ($3,715) ($6,339)
Noncurrent portion of deferred tax asset (b) — 8,057
Current portion of deferred tax Hability (D).......ccceoeriiiecieriiiieieiereeeeeee e — (7,893)
Noncurrent portion of deferred tax liability (b).......cccevievieriiririieierieieieeseeeeeee e (3,715) (6,503)
Net deferred tax (Liability)/aSSEL. ... ..eoueieiiereeieieiee ettt se e ne e nes ($3,715) ($6,339)

(a) In2015, a $1.0 million return to accrual adjustment was made in conjunction with the filing of the Company’s 2014 U.S. federal income
tax return.

(b) Rayonier adopted ASU No. 2015-17, which requires deferred tax assets and liabilities to be classified as noncurrent, in its Consolidated
Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2015. Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2014 have not been retrospectively
adjusted.

Included above are the following foreign net operating loss (“NOL”) and tax credit carryforwards as of December 31, 2015:

Gross Valuation
Item Amount Allowance Expiration
New Zealand JV NOL Carryforwards ..........cceecvevierienienienieeie e sie e eieesee e $232,846 — None
U.S. Net DEferred TaX ASSEL.....uueiiieeiieieeeeieee ettt ettt e et e e e e eatteeeeeaaeessseaeeesesareeesas 3,607 (3,607) None
Cellulosic Biofuel Producer Credit (@).........c.eeeviecueerieeriieriesiieriieseesiiesee e seveevesseeae e 14,641 (14,641) 2019
Total Valuation ATIOWANCE.........cccecververeriieieieniieteiete sttt ($18,248)

(a) In 2015, a $1.0 million return to accrual adjustment was made in conjunction with the filing of the Company’s 2014 U.S. federal income
tax return.

76



RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

Prepaid Taxes

As of December 31,2015 and 2014, the Company has recorded a long-term prepaid federal income tax of $14.4 million related
to recognized built-in gains on 2006, 2008 and 2010 intercompany sales of timberlands between the REIT and the TRS. Taxes for
the transactions were paid at the time of sale, but the gain and income tax expense were deferred in accordance with U.S. Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles. As the timberlands are sold to third parties, the appropriate gain and related income tax expense
will be recognized and the prepaid income tax will be reduced.

Other Tax Items

In 2015 and 2014, the Company recorded tax deficiencies on stock-based compensation of $0.3 million and $0.8 million,
respectively. In 2013, the Company recorded excess tax benefits of $8.4 million related to stock-based compensation. These
amounts were recorded directly to shareholders’ equity and were not included in the consolidated tax provision.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

In accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, the Company recognizes the impact of a tax position if a
position is “more-likely-than-not” to prevail.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending unrecognized tax benefits for the three years ended December 31 is as follows:

2015 2014 2013
Balance at JANUATY 1, ......ccociviiiiiiiiiieiecetcieeeec ettt eve bbb besa e se s —  $10,547 $6,580
Decreases related to prior year taX POSITIONS ....c..eeueeverierieerieniirteeieientesieete et eaee e sbesieenees — (10,547) (800)
Increases related to Prior year taX POSIIONS ......cvecverveiieierieriieieiesiesteeeerestessesseesesseseeesneneas 135 — 4,767

Balance at DECEMDBET 31, .....cc.oiuiiiiiiiiceiceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt $135 —  $10,547

The unrecognized tax benefit of $135 thousand as of December 31, 2015 relates to a prior year deduction, in conjunction with
the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business.

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would have affected the effective tax rate at December 31,
2015, 2014 and 2013 is $0, $0 and $6.6 million, respectively.

The Company records interest (and penalties, if applicable) related to unrecognized tax benefits in non-operating expenses.
The Company recorded $0 million and $0.5 million benefit to interest expense in 2015 and 2014, respectively. For the year ended
December 31, 2013, the Company recorded interest expense of $0.1 million. The Company had no recorded liabilities for the
payment of interest at December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Tax Statutes

The following table provides detail of the tax years that remain open to examination by the IRS and other significant taxing
jurisdictions:

Taxing Jurisdiction Open Tax Years
U.S. INternal REVEINUE SEIVICE.....uviiiriiiieiieiieieeeeee ettt eeee et e e et e eeae e et e eeaeeeeaeeesaeeeeaesesaseesnaeeens 2012 - 2015
New Zealand Inland REVENUE..........c..cooviiiiriiiiiiii et e e e e et eaeeeeaveeeree s 2011 - 2015
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10. CONTINGENCIES

Following the Company’s November 10, 2014 earnings release and filing of the restated interim financial statements for the
quarterly periods ended March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2014 (the “November 2014 Announcement”), shareholders of the Company
filed five putative class actions against the Company and Paul G. Boynton, Hans E. Vanden Noort, David L. Nunes, and H. Edwin
Kiker arising from circumstances described in the November 2014 Announcement, entitled respectively:

*  Satingv. Rayonier Inc. et al, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-01395; filed November 12, 2014 in the United States District Court
for the Middle District of Florida;

*  Keasler v. Rayonier Inc. et al, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-01398, filed November 13, 2014 in the United States District
Court for the Middle District of Florida;

»  Lake Worth Firefighters’ Pension Trust Fund v. Rayonier Inc. et al, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-01403, filed November 13,
2014 in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida;

»  Christie v. Rayonier Inc. et al, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-01429, filed November 21, 2014 in the United States District
Court for the Middle District of Florida; and

*  Brown v. Rayonier Inc. et al, Civil Action No. 1:14-cv-08986, initially filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York and later transferred to the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida
and assigned as Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-01474.

On January 9, 2015, the five securities actions were consolidated into one putative class action entitled In re Rayonier Inc.
Securities Litigation, Case No. 3:14-cv-01395-TJC-JBT, in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. The
plaintiffs alleged that the defendants made false and/or misleading statements in violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. The plaintiffs sought unspecified monetary damages
and attorneys’ fees and costs. Two shareholders, the Pension Trust Fund for Operating Engineers and the Lake Worth Firefighters’
Pension Trust Fund moved for appointment as lead plaintiff on January 12, 2015, which was granted on February 25, 2015. On
April 7, 2015, the plaintiffs filed a Consolidated Class Action Complaint (the “Consolidated Complaint”). In the Consolidated
Complaint, plaintiffs added allegations as to and added as a defendant N. Lynn Wilson, a former officer of Rayonier. With the
filing of the Consolidated Complaint, David L. Nunes and H. Edwin Kiker were dropped from the case as defendants. Defendants
timely filed Motions to Dismiss the Consolidated Complaint on May 15, 2015. After oral argument on Defendants' motions on
August 25, 2015, the Court dismissed the Consolidated Complaint without prejudice, allowing plaintiffs leave to refile. Plaintiffs
filed the Amended Consolidated Class Action Complaint (the “Amended Complaint”) on September 25, 2015, which continued
to assert claims against the Company, as well as Ms. Wilson and Messrs. Boynton and Vanden Noort. Defendants timely filed
Motions to Dismiss the Amended Complaint on October 26, 2015, which are pending. At this preliminary stage, the Company
cannot determine whether there is a reasonable likelihood a material loss has been incurred nor can the range of any such loss be
estimated.

On November 26, 2014, December 29, 2014, January 26, 2015, February 13, 2015, and May 12, 2015, the Company received
separate letters from shareholders requesting that the Company investigate or pursue derivative claims against certain officers and
directors related to the November 2014 Announcement. Although these demands do not identify any claims against the Company,
the Company has certain obligations to advance expenses and provide indemnification to certain current and former officers and
directors of the Company. The Company has also incurred expenses as a result of costs arising from the investigation of the claims
alleged in the various demands. At this preliminary stage, the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be predicted, nor can the
range of potential expenses the Company may incur as a result of the obligations identified above be estimated.

In November 2014, the Company received a subpoena from the SEC seeking documents related to the Company’s amended
reports filed with the SEC on November 10, 2014. The Company cooperated with the SEC and complied with its requests. The
Company does not currently believe that the investigation will have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition, results
of operations, or cash flow, but cannot predict the timing or outcome of the SEC investigation.

The Company has also been named as a defendant in various other lawsuits and claims arising in the normal course of business.
While the Company has procured reasonable and customary insurance covering risks normally occurring in connection with its
businesses, it has in certain cases retained some risk through the operation of self-insurance, primarily in the areas of workers’
compensation, property insurance and general liability. These pending lawsuits and claims, either individually or in the aggregate,
are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flow.
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11. GUARANTEES

The Company provides financial guarantees as required by creditors, insurance programs, and various governmental agencies.

As of December 31, 2015, the following financial guarantees were outstanding:

Maximum Potential Carrying Amount
Financial Commitments Payment of Liability
Standby letters Of CTEdit (8) .....ovevevirveiriereieieiieieeie ettt s e $16,685 $15,000
GUATANTEES (D) .vvevieeeiieiieeieeie ettt et et et e et eeteente et e bt e st esteesseesseesseeenseenseenseenseenseennean 2,254 43
SULELY DONAS (C).envvenventirvieiieiesiieiietete ettt sttt et sttt et st eae et et e sbeeseeneensesbesneenseneas 896 —
Total financial COMMUITIMENTS .........cocveiiiiiiiieieeieeeeeie et e e e e e e eaeee st e esaaeeeereesaeeessnneenns $19,835 $15,043

(a) Approximately $15 million of the standby letters of credit serve as credit support for industrial revenue bonds. The remaining
letters of credit support various insurance related agreements, primarily workers’ compensation. These letters of credit will

expire at various dates during 2016 and will be renewed as required.

(b) In conjunction with a timberland sale and note monetization in the 2004, the Company issued a make-whole agreement
pursuant to which it guaranteed $2.3 million of obligations of a special-purpose entity that was established to complete the
monetization. At December 31, 2015, the Company has recorded a de minimis liability to reflect the fair market value of its

obligation to perform under the make-whole agreement.

(c) Rayonier issues surety bonds primarily to secure timber harvesting obligations in the State of Washington and to provide
collateral for the Company’s workers’ compensation self-insurance program in that state. These surety bonds expire at various

dates in 2016 and 2017 and are expected to be renewed as required.
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EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing net income attributable to Rayonier by the weighted average number

of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net income attributable to Rayonier by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding adjusted to include the potentially dilutive effect of outstanding stock
options, performance shares, restricted shares and convertible debt.

The following table provides details of the calculation of basic and diluted EPS for the three years ended December 31:

2015 2014 2013
Income from coNtiNUING OPETALIONS ......c.ceveuerueuirreirieiirieiinteieneetenteestetee ettt ereeeresesresesnene $43,941 $54,443 $105,843
Less: Net (loss) income from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling interest (2,224) (1,491) 1,902
Income from continuing operations attributable to Rayonier Inc. .........ccccoeeverevnennccnnnne $46,165 $55,934 $103,941
Income from discontinued operations attributable to Rayonier Inc..........cccceevecveveinrennnene — $43,403 $267,955
Net income attributable to Rayonier INC. ........ccevveuirireniiinieeeieee e $46,165 $99,337 $371,896
Shares used for determining basic earnings per common Share ............ccccecveeveeeeeeeneenenene 125,385,085 126,458,710 125,717,311
Dilutive effect of:
StOCK OPHIONS ...ttt sttt ettt neeneeneeseenes 116,792 323,125 463,949
Performance and restricted shares 39,863 149,292 158,319
Assumed conversion of Senior Exchangeable Notes (@)........ccveevevereeirieeeininennns 358,449 2,149,982 1,965,177
Assumed conversion 0f Warrants () ........ceceeeeerererererereneneneseeneeeeteeeeeeeeeeene — 1,957,154 1,800,345
Shares used for determining diluted earnings per common share ...........cccceeveevevieiecieiennnne 125,900,189 131,038,263 130,105,101
Basic earnings per common share attributable to Rayonier Inc.:
COoNtiNUING OPEIALIONS ........oviviiiiiieieieiiiri ettt ettt bbb $0.37 $0.44 $0.83
Discontinued operations.. — 0.34 2.13
INEE INICOIMIE .ttt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e aeeeeeeeeeesaeesaaaaeeeeeeesesaseesasaaaaeeees $0.37 $0.78 $2.96
Diluted earnings per common share attributable to Rayonier Inc.:
CoNtINUING OPETALIONS .......vvviniieiieieiiiteieteteteie ettt sttt ettt se e ebe e bt eaesnenene $0.37 $0.43 $0.80
DiScONtINUE OPETALIONS. ...c.cveueienieteniieiieteierteieeteiertet ettt ettt ettt b etk be et be e ne bt — 0.33 2.06
NEEINCOIME ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt st sa et n et sae e nnen $0.37 $0.76 $2.86
2015 2014 2013
Anti-dilutive shares excluded from the computations of diluted earnings per share:
Stock options, performance and restricted Shares.............cceveveeiveeeriericeeeiereieeeenne 897,800 461,663 337,145
Assumed conversion of exchangeable note hedges (a).........cocecevieerieeneenieenieine, 358,449 2,149,982 1,965,177
1,256,249 2,611,645 2,302,322

@

In September and October 2013, $41.5 million of the Senior Exchangeable Notes due 2015 (the “2015 Notes”) were redeemed by the
noteholders; however, no additional shares were issued due to offsetting hedges. Similarly, Rayonier did not issue additional shares upon
the August 2015 maturity of the remaining 2015 Notes due to offsetting hedges. ASC 260, Earnings Per Share requires the assumed
conversion of the Notes to be included in dilutive shares if the average stock price for the period exceeds the strike prices, while the assumed
conversion of the hedges is excluded since they are anti-dilutive. The dilutive effect of the 2015 Notes was included for the portion of the
periods presented in which the notes were outstanding.

The warrants sold in conjunction with the Senior Exchangeable Notes due 2012 began maturing on January 15, 2013 and matured ratably
through March 27, 2013, resulting in the issuance of 2,135,221 shares. For the year ended 2013, the dilutive impact of these warrants was
calculated based on the length of time they were outstanding before settlement. Rayonier will distribute additional shares upon the February
2016 maturity of the warrants sold in conjunction with the 2015 Notes if the stock price exceeds $28.11 per share. The exchange price on
the warrants is lower than periods prior to 2014 as it has been adjusted to reflect the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business. The
warrants were not dilutive for the year ended 2015 as the average stock price did not exceed the strike price. For further information, see
Note 5 — Debt.
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13. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The Company is exposed to market risk related to potential fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.
The Company uses derivative financial instruments to mitigate the financial impact of exposure to these risks. The Company also
uses derivative financial instruments to mitigate exposure to foreign currency risk due to the translation of the investment in
Rayonier’s New Zealand-based operations from New Zealand dollars to U.S. dollars.

Accounting for derivative financial instruments is governed by Accounting Standards Codification Topic 815, Derivatives
and Hedging, (“ASC 815”). In accordance with ASC 815, the Company records its derivative instruments at fair value as either
assets or liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in the instruments’ fair value are accounted for based on their
intended use. Gains and losses on derivatives that are designated and qualify for cash flow hedge accounting are recorded as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) and reclassified into earnings when the hedged transaction
materializes. Gains and losses on derivatives that are designated and qualify for net investment hedge accounting are recorded as
a component of AOCI and will not be reclassified into earnings until the Company’s investment in its New Zealand operations is
partially or completely liquidated. The ineffective portion of any hedge, changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated as
hedging instruments and those which are no longer effective as hedging instruments, are recognized immediately in earnings. The
Company's hedge ineffectiveness was de minimis for all periods presented.

Foreign Currency Exchange and Option Contracts

The functional currency of Rayonier’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Rayonier New Zealand Limited, and the New Zealand JV
is the New Zealand dollar. The New Zealand JV is exposed to foreign currency risk on export sales and ocean freight payments
which are mainly denominated in U.S. dollars. The New Zealand JV typically hedges 50% to 90% of its estimated foreign currency
exposure with respect to the following three months forecasted sales and purchases, 50% to 75% of its forecasted sales and purchases
for the forward three to 12 months and up to 50% of the forward 12 to 18 months. Foreign currency exposure from the New Zealand
JV’s trading operations is typically hedged based on the following three months forecasted sales and purchases. As of December 31,
2015, foreign currency exchange contracts and foreign currency option contracts had maturity dates through June 2017 and May
2017, respectively.

Foreign currency exchange and option contracts hedging foreign currency risk on export sales and ocean freight payments
qualify for cash flow hedge accounting. The fair value of foreign currency exchange contracts is determined by a mark-to-market
valuation which estimates fair value by discounting the difference between the contracted forward price and the current forward
price for the residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest rate. The fair value of foreign currency option contracts is
based on a mark-to-market calculation using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The Company may de-designate cash flow hedge relationships in advance or at the occurrence of the forecasted transaction.
The portion of gains or losses on the derivative instrument previously accumulated in AOCI for de-designated hedges remains in
AOCI until the forecasted transaction affects earnings. Changes in the value of derivative instruments after de-designation are
recorded in earnings. De-designated cash flow hedges are included in “Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments” in the
table below.

In August 2015, the Company entered into foreign currency option contracts (notional amount of $332 million) to mitigate
the risk of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates when translating Rayonier New Zealand Limited and the New Zealand
JV’s balance sheet to U.S. dollars. These contracts hedge a portion of the Company’s net investment in New Zealand and qualify
as a net investment hedge. The fair value of these option contracts is determined by a mark-to-market valuation which estimates
fair value by discounting the difference between the contracted forward price and the current forward price for the residual maturity
of the contract using a risk-free interest rate. The hedge qualifies for hedge accounting whereby fluctuations in fair market value
during the life of the hedge are recorded in AOCI and remain there permanently unless a partial or full liquidation of the investment
is made. At each reporting period, the Company reviews the hedge for ineffectiveness. Ineffectiveness can occur when changes
to the investment or the hedged instrument are made such that the risk of foreign exchange movements are no longer mitigated
by the hedging instrument. At that time, the amount related to the ineffectiveness of the net investment hedge is recorded into
earnings. The foreign currency option contracts mature in the first quarter of 2016.
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Interest Rate Swaps

The Company uses interest rate swaps to manage the New Zealand JV’s exposure to interest rate movements on its variable
rate debt attributable to changes in the New Zealand Bank bill rate. By converting a portion of these borrowings from floating
rates to fixed rates, the Company has reduced the impact of interest rate changes on its expected future cash outflows. As of
December 31, 2015, the Company’s interest rate contracts hedged 81 percent of the New Zealand JV’s variable rate debt and had
maturity dates through January 2020. Initially, these hedges qualified for hedge accounting; however, upon consolidation of the
New Zealand JV in 2013, the hedges no longer qualified requiring all future changes in the fair market value of the hedges to be
recorded in earnings.

The Company is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on its variable-rate Term Credit Agreement (as discussed below), and
uses variable-to-fixed interest rate swaps to hedge this exposure. For these derivative instruments, the Company reports the gains/
losses from the fluctuations in the fair market value of the hedges in AOCI and reclassifies them to earnings as interest expense
in the same period in which the hedged interest payments affect earnings.

In August 2015, the Company entered into a nine-year interest rate swap agreement for a notional amount of $170 million.
This agreement fixes the LIBOR-related portion of the interest rate (LIBOR plus 1.625%) to an average rate of 2.20%. This
derivative instrument has been designated as an interest rate cash flow hedge and qualifies for hedge accounting.

Also in August 2015, the Company entered into a nine-year forward interest rate swap agreement with a start date in April
2016 for a notional amount of $180 million. This agreement fixes the LIBOR-related portion of the interest rate (LIBOR plus
1.625%) to an average rate of 2.35%. This derivative instrument has been designated as an interest rate cash flow hedge and
qualifies for hedge accounting.

Fuel Hedge Contracts

The Company has historically used fuel hedge contracts to manage its New Zealand JV’s exposure to changes in New Zealand’s
domestic diesel prices. Due to the low volume of diesel fuel purchases made by the New Zealand JV in 2013, the Company decided
to no longer hedge its diesel fuel purchases effective November 2013. There were no contracts remaining as of December 31,
2015.

The following table demonstrates the impact of the Company’s derivatives on the Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013.

Location on Statement of Income

and Comprehensive Income 2015 2014 2013
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Foreign currency exchange contracts......................... Other comprehensive (loss) income ($205)  ($1,069) $950
Other operating (income) expense — — 652
Foreign currency option Contracts ............c.coeceueuenene. Other comprehensive (loss) income 370 (1,647) 460
Interest rate SWapPS........ccveeerierieeeerieieeieeee e Other comprehensive (loss) income (10,197) — —
Derivatives designated as a net investment hedge:
Foreign currency exchange contract.......................... Other comprehensive (loss) income 2,875 (145) —
Foreign currency option contracts ..............ccceevevenene. Other comprehensive (loss) income 4,606 — —
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency exchange contracts......................... Other operating expense (income) — 25 (1,607)
Foreign currency option contracts ...............ccceeveenee. Other operating expense (income) 1,394 7 1,147
Interest rate SWapPS.......cooveeeerieerierienieeiesteeeere e Interest and miscellaneous (expense)
income (4,391) (5,882) 6,085
Fuel hedge contracts ............ccccoeeveeeveeeeeeceeeeeene, Cost of sales (benefit) — 160 (255)

During the next 12 months, the amount of the December 31, 2015 AOCI balance, net of tax, expected to be reclassified into
earnings as a result of the maturation of the Company’s derivative instruments is a loss of approximately $1.6 million.
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The following table contains the notional amounts of the derivative financial instruments recorded in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets at December 31, 2015 and 2014:

Notional Amount

2015 2014

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:

Foreign currency eXchange CONtIracts..........cvviruerierierirerieriseieesieeereeeeseeeeesesseneeeeenens $21,250 $28,540

Foreign currency option CONIACES.........vecverierrieierieniesieeeesiesteeteeseessessesseesessesseesnenns 107,200 79,400

TNEEIEST TALE SWAPS ..euveuvievienieienteetteiete st eitetestesteetesteseeeseensessesseeseensesesseensensessesseenes 350,000 —
Derivatives designated as a net investment hedge:

Foreign currency eXchange CONtract ...........ccveevievueeiieeiieieiieeie e — 27,419

Foreign currency option CONIACES.........eecverierrieieriesiesieeiesiesseeseeseessesseeseessessesseeenens 331,588
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

TNEETESE TALE SWAPS ..evvieniieeieiiieeie ettt ettt ettt et e st e s eeeenbesateenteenteeseeseenseennes 130,169 161,968
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The following table contains the fair values of the derivative financial instruments recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
at December 31, 2015 and 2014. Changes in balances of derivative financial instruments are recorded as operating activities in
the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Fair Value Assets (Liabilities) (a)

Location on Balance Sheet 2015 2014
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Foreign currency exchange contracts.................... Other current assets $43 $132
Other assets — 59
Other current liabilities (1,449) (272)
Other non-current liabilities (219) —
Foreign currency option contracts............cccevueneene Other current assets 560 299
Other assets 408 198
Other current liabilities (1,393) (1,439)
Other non-current liabilities (217) (196)
Interest rate SWaPS ....c.eeveeeeerverveeeeierieneeeeeienieseeenns Other non-current liabilities (10,197) —
Derivatives designated as a net investment hedge:
Foreign currency exchange contract ...................... Other current liabilities — (223)
Foreign currency option contracts............cccevueneene Other current assets 4,630 —
Other current liabilities (24) —
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate SWaps .....c.ceceeveereenienieeie e Other non-current liabilities (8,047) (7,247)
Total derivative contracts:
OtHET CUITENE SSEES.....nveeneeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e et e et eeeeeeeeeaeeeeeseeeeeeeeeeeeeaeenseeneeeseeseessnesnes $5,233 $431
OFRET @SSELS ....c..cviieteiieiieiertctetet ettt sttt sttt et eae e 408 257
Total dErIVALIVE @SSELS....c..uviieeiiieieetieeeiee et e et ettt e et e e st e e et e e saaeeesaeeesnaeeenneeas $5,641 $688
Other current Habilities .......c.ccveieriiiieieieiecteceet ettt eas b (2,866) (1,934)
Other non-current labilities. ...........c.ooouiiiiiiiieiccicceeeeee e (18,680) (7,443)
Total derivative Habilities ..........cccvevvieuierieiecieeie ettt ($21,546) ($9,377)

(a) SeeNote 14— Fair Value Measurements for further information on the fair value of our derivatives including their classification
within the fair value hierarchy.

Offsetting Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments are presented at their gross fair values in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company’s
derivative financial instruments are not subject to master netting arrangements which would allow the right of offset.
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14. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

A three-level hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value was established in the Accounting Standards

Codification as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1.

Level 3— Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value

of the assets or liabilities.

The following table presents the carrying amount and estimated fair values of financial instruments held by the Company at
December 31,2015 and 2014, using market information and what the Company believes to be appropriate valuation methodologies

under generally accepted accounting principles:

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014
Carrying Carrying
Asset (liability) (a) Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 1 Level 2

Cash and cash equivalents........................ $51,777 $51,777 — $161,558 $161,558 —
Restricted cash (D) ....cccvevveveenienieiiens 23,525 23,525 — 6,688 6,688 —
Current maturities of long-term debt........ — — — (129,706) — (156,762)
Long-term debt........coceeeveveneneenieniniens (833,879) — (830,203) (621,849) — (628,476)
Interest rate SWaps (C)..e.cevververeeruenerennns (18,244) — (18,244) (7,247) — (7,247)
Foreign currency exchange contracts (c) (1,625) — (1,625) (304) — (304)
Foreign currency option contracts (c) ...... 3,964 — 3,964 (1,138) — (1,138)

(a) The Company did not have Level 3 assets or liabilities at December 31, 2015.

(b) Restricted cash is recorded in “Other Assets” and represents the proceeds from LKE sales deposited with a third-party

intermediary.

(c) See Note 13 — Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities for information regarding the Balance Sheet
classification of the Company’s derivative financial instruments.

Rayonier uses the following methods and assumptions in estimating the fair value of its financial instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash — The carrying amount is equal to fair market value.

Debt — The fair value of fixed rate debt is based upon quoted market prices for debt with similar terms and maturities.
The variable rate debt adjusts with changes in the market rate, therefore the carrying value approximates fair value.

Interest rate swap agreements — The fair value of interest rate contracts is determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows, for each instrument, at prevailing interest rates.

Foreign currency exchange contracts — The fair value of foreign currency exchange contracts is determined by a mark-
to-market valuation which estimates fair value by discounting the difference between the contracted forward price and the
current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest rate.

Foreign currency option contracts — The fair value of foreign currency option contracts is based on a mark-to-market
calculation using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
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15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has one qualified non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering a portion of its employees and an
unfunded plan that provides benefits in excess of amounts allowable under current tax law in the qualified plans. The Company
closed enrollment in its pension plans to salaried employees hired after December 31, 2005. Employee benefit plan liabilities are
calculated using actuarial estimates and management assumptions. These estimates are based on historical information, along with
certain assumptions about future events. Changes in assumptions, as well as changes in actual experience, could cause the estimates
to change.

In connection with the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business, Rayonier entered into an Employee Matters Agreement
with Rayonier Advanced Materials, (see See Note 3 — Discontinued Operations in the 2014 Form 10-K for further details), which
provides that employees of Rayonier Advanced Materials will no longer participate in benefit plans sponsored or maintained by
Rayonier. Upon separation, the Rayonier Pension and Postretirement Plans transferred assets and obligations to the Rayonier
Advanced Materials Pension and Postretirement Plans resulting in a net decrease in sponsored pension and postretirement plan
obligations of $100 million. This was based on a revaluation of plan obligations using a 4.0% discount rate versus 4.6% at December
31,2013. In addition, $78 million of other comprehensive losses were transferred to Rayonier Advanced Materials, net of taxes of
$45 million.

The Company sold its Wood Products business in March 2013. As a result of the sale, all employees covered by the Wood
Products defined benefit pension plan are considered terminated employees. Amendments to the plan in June 2013 resulted in all
such employees automatically vesting in the plan. Additionally, a one-time lump sum distribution was offered to terminated Wood
Products plan participants or their beneficiaries. Based upon acceptance of that offer by certain participants, $3.0 million was paid
from the plan assets during 2013, with a corresponding decrease of $2.8 million in the benefit obligation. As a result of the lump
sum distribution, a settlement loss of $0.5 million, net of tax, was recorded in “Income from Discontinued Operations, net” in the
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income as it was directly related to the sale of the Wood Products business.
For additional information on the sale of the Wood Products business, see Note 21 — Discontinued Operations.
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The following tables set forth the change in the projected benefit obligation and plan assets and reconcile the funded status and
the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the pension and postretirement benefit plans for the two years ended
December 31:

Pension Postretirement
2015 2014 2015 2014
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year ............ccccccoeuenenn. $87,355  $413,638 $1,226 $21,999
SEIVICE COSE veiiunriiintiiietiie ettt eee et eee e et e e e eteeeenaeseraeeenaeean 1,484 3,923 11 402
TNEETEST COSE v ee s 3,319 10,707 52 537
Actuarial (Zain) L0SS ...ueeevierieiieeieeir e e (5,332) 43,093 (123) 2,250
Employee contribUtions. .........ccecveveriirieienienieeeeiesiesie et — — — 484
Benefits Paid.......cccoeeieieiieeee e (2,821) (11,288) @) (888)
Transferred to Rayonier Advanced Materials...........ccceeeveviereiienennene — (372,718) — (23,558)
Projected benefit obligation at end of year ..............cccoevevrrnenene. $84,005 $87,355 $1,159 $1,226
Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year..........c.ceceevvevvrvenennnn. $55,546  $341,905 — —
Actual return on plan aSSELS .........ccevereerverierieeieieene e (1,241) 21,399 — —
Employer contributions ...........ceceevverinieiinenenieieseneseeeie e 29 1,103 7 404
Employee contribUtions..........cecvevveriiierienieneeieienienieeeeeeie e eeeeeens — — — 484
Benefits Paid.......ccceeeeerieieirieeeeee e e (2,821) (11,288) @) (888)
Other EXPEINSE...eoveeurerierieieieetteieteste et etestesseeseesessesseeseesaessesseessensens (543) (607) — —
Transferred to Rayonier Advanced Materials...........cocoeceeviereninnennene — (296,966) — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of year..........ccccceeevevirrenrennnns $50,970 $55,546 — —
Funded Status at End of Year:
Net accrued benefit COSt.......oviiiiiririiiiiirieeeeeceeeeee e ($33,035)  ($31,809) ($1,159) ($1,226)
Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets Consist of:
NONCUITENE ASSELS ..eveenvieiieiriiiieeieeie et s — — — —
Current Habilities........c..ccoverieiiinineiiincecceceeeee e 32) (15) (24) (25)
Noncurrent Habilities. .......coerveirerereieeree e (33,003) (31,794) (1,135) (1,201)
Net amount reCOZNIZEd . .........ovveviirieriiereeiieieeeieieiereeieeeieenas ($33,035)  ($31,809) ($1,159) ($1,226)

Net gains or losses, prior service costs or credits and plan amendment gains recognized in other comprehensive income for the
three years ended December 31 are as follows:

Pension Postretirement
2015 2014 2013 2015 2014 2013
Net (10SS€S) GAINS .....ovevreeeeieeieeieeeeee e ($477)  (837,559) $60,171 $123 (82,250)  $3,206
Prior SErviCe COSt.....cccvievieiiieiieciieeiieciie e, — — — — — —
Negative plan amendment............cocceceeveneneeniennenne. — — — — — 3,372
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Net gains or losses and prior service costs or credits reclassified from other comprehensive income and recognized as a
component of pension and postretirement expense for the three years ended December 31 are as follows:

Pension Postretirement
2015 2014 2013 2015 2014 2013
Amortization Of 10SSES .....ccuvvvvvveveeiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeee e $3,733 $6,542 $20,914 $12 $288 $675
Amortization of prior SErvice COSt .......cevvvrvrrverrerereennen 13 576 1,356 — 8 66
Amortization of negative plan amendment.................... — — — — (137) (105)

Net losses and prior service costs or credits that have not yet been included in pension and postretirement expense for the
two years ended December 31, which have been recognized as a component of AOCI are as follows:

Pension Postretirement
2015 2014 2015 2014
PTIOT SEIVICE COSt..vviririieritiieteeiet et ettt ettt ettt et eae st ee s seeseseenas — ($13) — —
INEt (I0SSES) ZAINS ..eeuveiieiieieiieiieierte ettt ettt sttt st s (27,710) (30,965) 45 (90)
Negative plan amendment..........c.cccoovivveieriniieiierieneee e — — — —
Deferred income tax benefit (EXPense) .......coecvevverereeeerierieneeeerienieseeeennens 1,927 2,425 6 (22)
AOCT ..ttt ne ettt enea ($25,783)  ($28,553) $51 ($112)

For pension and postretirement plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets, the following table sets
forth the projected and accumulated benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for the two years ended December 31:

2015 2014
Projected benefit ODIIZAtION ........ccviiiiiieieiicieeeei ettt ettt ettt se e b e aeebeessesbesbeebeessebesreenes $84,005 $87,355
Accumulated Denefit ODIIZAtION .......c.evieierieriieieieee ettt sae st eebestesseenseseesneens 78,779 81,141
Fair value Of Plam @SSETS .....ccueiuiriiiiiriiiieieest ettt ettt et ettt sttt b e s bt et nbeshe e 50,970 55,546

The following tables set forth the components of net pension and postretirement benefit cost that have been recognized during
the three years ended December 31:

Pension Postretirement
2015 2014 2013 2015 2014 2013

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

SEIVICE COSE vttt $1,484 $3,923 $8,452 $11 $402 $1,056

INtEreSt COSt .nvriiiiiitieie et 3,319 10,707 16,682 52 537 937

Expected return on plan assets ..........cccceevereeenneen. (4,027)  (15,258) (25,302) — — —

Amortization of prior Service cost.........cc.cerveneene. 13 576 1,296 — 8 66

Amortization of 10SSES.......ccceevvvvveeveiiiiieiiieeeneennn 3,733 6,542 20,097 12 288 675

Amortization of negative plan amendment........... — — — — (137) (105)

Curtailment XPense........c.evverreeeerrerrereerrerieseenens — — 60 — — —

Settlement eXPense.........cvevverereereeriereeieenreneneenns — — 817 — — —
Net periodic benefit cost (a).......ccovvvevereevereeeeeeenereenenen. $4,522 $6,490  $22,102 $75 $1,098 $2,629

(a) Netperiodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31,2014 and 2013 included $4.0 million and $14.9 million, respectively,
recorded in “Income from discontinued operations, net” on the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

The estimated pre-tax amounts that will be amortized from AOCI into net periodic benefit cost in 2016 are as follows:

Pension Postretirement
AmOrtization 0f 10SS (ZAIN) ...eeverveieeiriiieieti ettt b ettt ebesse st se s e s eneesessenes $2,426 (1)
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The following table sets forth the principal assumptions inherent in the determination of benefit obligations and net periodic
benefit cost of the pension and postretirement benefit plans as of December 31:

Pension Postretirement
2015 2014 2013 2015 2014 2013

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31:
DISCOUNL TALE ...ttt 420% 3.80% 4.60% 4.34% 3.96% 4.60%
Rate of compensation iNCrease..........ooeevereerereesieneneeeienenieneens 4.50% 4.50% 4.60% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50%

Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for years
ended December 31:

Discount rate (pre-spin off) .......cceecveieenieniereeee e — 4.60%  3.70% — 4.60% 3.60%
Discount rate (post-spin off)........cccoccevirierenenieeieenerceee e 3.80% 4.04% — 3.96% 4.00% —
Expected long-term return on plan assets .........cccceeveveevenenennens 7.70% 8.50%  8.50% — — —
Rate of compensation INCIease...........vevververeeeerverienreeeeieneesenenns 4.50% 4.50% 4.60% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50%

At December 31, 2015, the pension plan’s discount rate was 4.2%, which closely approximates interest rates on high quality,
long-term obligations. In 2015, the expected return on plan assets decreased to 7.7%, which is based on historical and expected
long-term rates of return on broad equity and bond indices and consideration of the actual annualized rate of return. The Company,
with the assistance of external consultants, utilizes this information in developing assumptions for returns, and risks and correlation
of asset classes, which are then used to establish the asset allocation ranges.

Investment of Plan Assets

The Company’s pension plans’ asset allocation (excluding short-term investments) at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and target
allocation ranges by asset category are as follows:

Percentage of Plan Assets A;fszgteit)n
Asset Category 2015 2014 Range
DOMESHIC @QUILY SECUITHIES . .veeuveuretieiieiiestietietete st ettete sttt testesteestebesbesseeseentesaesaeenseneesees 40% 42% 35-45%
International EqUILY SECUTITHIES ...c..evueruieteriirtieteierteeit ettt ettt s s e 25% 23% 20-30%
Domestic fixed INCOME SECUTIICS ......cevervireieieieriieiieierieetetesiesteeetetesteeseeseeseseesreenseneesees 27% 27% 25-29%
International fixed INCOME SECUIIIES ... .cc.viiieereeiieiieieeiiereesiiesiee e eereeae e ebeeseesseesseens 5% 4% 3-7%
Real €5tate fUNG........ccoeiiiieiieieieeeceee ettt st nre s 3% 4% 2-4%

TOTAL...oe s 100% 100%

The Company’s Pension and Savings Plan Committee and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors oversee the pension
plans’ investment program which is designed to maximize returns and provide sufficient liquidity to meet plan obligations while
maintaining acceptable risk levels. The investment approach emphasizes diversification by allocating the plans’ assets among asset
categories and selecting investment managers whose various investment methodologies will be minimally correlative with each
other. Investments within the equity categories may include large capitalization, small capitalization and emerging market securities,
while the international fixed income portfolio may include emerging markets debt. Pension assets did not include a direct investment
in Rayonier common stock at December 31, 2015 or 2014.

89



RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

Fair Value Measurements

The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy (see Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies for definition), the assets of the plans as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Fair Value at December 31, 2015 Fair Value at December 31, 2014

Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1 Level 2 Total

Domestic equity SECUTTHES .....cveviveriiireriiereeieierieeeveenaas $3,781  $16,171  $19,952 $4,557  $18,326  $22,883
International equity SECUIItICS......cccverrerverrrereeieeneeenne 6,062 6,287 12,349 6,277 6,488 12,765
Domestic fixed InCOMe SECUTItIES ........covveevvvreerrreenneenns — 13,654 13,654 14,643 14,643
International fixed income securities...........c.cceeveeennen... 2,348 — 2,348 2,428 — 2,428
Real estate fund..........cccoeovvveeiiiiiciiiieeeeee e 1,583 — 1,583 1,887 — 1,887
Short-term INVEStMENtS ............covveeeeeeeeireeeeeeeereeeereeenns — 1,084 1,084 940 940
TOtAL .ttt esaens $13,774  $37,196  $50,970  $15,149  $40,397  $55,546

The valuation methodology used for measuring the fair value of these asset categories was as follows:
Level 1 — Net asset value in an observable market.

Level 2— Assets classified as level two are held in collective trust funds. The net asset value of a collective trust is calculated
by determining the fair value of the fund’s underlying assets, deducting its liabilities, and dividing by the units outstanding
as of the valuation date. These funds are not publicly traded; however, the unit price calculation is based on observable
market inputs of the funds’ underlying assets.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of
the assets or liabilities.

The Company did not have Level 3 assets at December 31, 2015 and there were no changes in the methodology used during
the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Cash Flows

Expected benefit payments for the next 10 years are as follows:

Pension Postretirement

Benefits Benefits
2076ttt e e ettt e e b e e e tb e e e b eeeatbee e baeeetbae e baeearbaeetbeeanbaeenbeeebaeenrsaeans $3,043 $25
20 L7 e et e e e e e e e e —— e e e et h—aeeeeebaa e e e e bbaeaeaa—aaeeaaabateeeaabaeeeaabateeeaaarraeeeanes 3,204 27
20T e et e e e e be e e tae e e baeeatbee e taeearbeeabaeearbaeataeeabeeeraeeabaeenrraeans 3,346 29
2009 et ettt e e te e ettt e et e e e s b ee e bt e et eeanbaeeanbeeenbeeenbeeenbeeebeeennsaeans 3,543 32
2020 et e et e e e ta e e e teeeetteeateeeatteeabaeeattaeabaeeabeeetteeateeeareeeateeearreeans 3,811 34
2021 = 2025ttt ettt e e e et e e et e e nabae e be e e tbaeebteearbaeetteearreeesbeeenaeenrsaenns 21,825 211

The Company has no mandatory pension contribution requirements in 2016, but may make discretionary contributions.

Defined Contribution Plans

The Company provides defined contribution plans to all of its hourly and salaried employees. Company contributions charged
to expense for these plans were $0.7 million, $1.6 million and $4.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. Rayonier Hourly and Salaried Defined Contribution Plans include Rayonier common stock with a fair market value
of $11.1 million and $16.3 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

As discussed above, the defined benefit pension plan is currently closed to new employees. Employees not eligible for the
pension plan are immediately eligible to participate in the Company’s 401(k) plan and receive an enhanced contribution. Company
contributions related to this plan enhancement for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 were $0.4 million, $0.5
million and $1.1 million, respectively.
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16. INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS

The Rayonier Incentive Stock Plan (“the Stock Plan”) provides up to 15.8 million shares to be granted for incentive stock
options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, restricted stock and restricted stock units,
subject to certain limitations. At December 31, 2015, a total of 5.6 million shares were available for future grants under the Stock
Plan. Under the Stock Plan, shares available for issuance are reduced by 1 share for each option or right granted and by 2.27 shares
for each performance share, restricted share or restricted stock unit granted. The Company issues new shares of stock upon the
exercise of stock options, the granting of restricted stock, and the vesting of performance shares.

A summary of the Company’s stock-based compensation cost is presented below:

2015 2014 2013
Selling and general EXPENSES........c.erueuieerierieietirteieneeteseeeeeetee e esseaene e sseneeneenens $3,752 $7,100 $10,700
COSE OF SALES....vevieeieiieiiitieieie sttt ettt sttt e b e besteeseebesbeeseestensensesseensensesseaneans 635 678 942
Timber and Timberlands, net (a) 97 91 68
Total stock-based COMPENSALION. ......ccueevierierieieriieieierieeteeestesteee et esesre e esesseseeennens $4,484 $7,869 $11,710
Tax benefit recognized related to stock-based compensation expense........................ $302 $1,714 $3,077

(a) Represents amounts capitalized as part of the overhead allocation of timber-related costs.

As a result of the spin-off and pursuant to the Employee Matters Agreement, the Company made certain adjustments to the
exercise price and number of Rayonier stock-based compensation awards. For additional information on the spin-off of the
Performance Fibers business, see Note 21 — Discontinued Operations.

Fair Value Calculations by Award
Restricted Stock

Restricted stock granted to employees under the Stock Plan generally vests in thirds on the third, fourth, and fifth anniversary
of the grant date. Periodically, other one-time restricted stock grants are issued to employees for special purposes, such as new
hire, promotion or retention, and can vest ratably over, or upon completion of, a defined period of time. Restricted stock granted
to members of the board of directors generally vests immediately upon issuance and is subject to certain holding requirements.
The fair value of each share granted is equal to the share price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant. Rayonier has elected
to value each grant in total and recognize the expense on a straight-line basis from the grant date of the award to the latest vesting
date.

Restricted stock was impacted by the spin-off as follows:

*  Holders of Rayonier restricted stock, including Rayonier non-employee directors, retained those awards and also
received restricted stock of Rayonier Advanced Materials, in an amount that reflects the distribution to Rayonier
stockholders, by applying the distribution ratio (one share of Rayonier Advanced Materials for every three shares of
Rayonier stock held) to Rayonier restricted stock awards as though they were unrestricted Rayonier common shares.

*  Performanceshareawards granted in 2013 (witha2013-2015 performance period) were cancelled as of the distribution
date and were replaced with time-vested restricted stock of the post-separation employer of each holder (Rayonier
or Rayonier Advanced Materials, as the case may be). The restricted shares will vest 24 months after the distribution
date, generally subject to the holder’s continued employment. The number of shares of restricted stock granted was
determined in a manner intended to preserve the original value of the performance share award.

The Company compared the fair value of the reissued restricted stock held by Rayonier employees with the fair value of the
restricted stock and 2013 performance share awards immediately before the modification. The replacement of the 2013 performance
share awards with restricted stock resulted in $0.7 million of incremental value. After adjusting the incremental value for
cancellations prior to December 31, 2015, the additional expense to be recognized over the remaining two-year vesting period
ending in the second quarter of 2016 totaled $0.4 million.
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As of December 31, 2015, there was $4.0 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to Rayonier and Rayonier
Advanced Materials restricted stock held by Rayonier employees. The Company expects to recognize this cost over a weighted
average period of 3.6 years.

A summary of the Company’s restricted shares is presented below:

2015 2014 2013
Restricted Shares Granted..........c.ccueeieeiieieieiierieeeiee ettt sbe e s sbesteesaennas 96,088 186,783 33,607
Weighted average price of restricted shares granted...........coccoveevievienerieiienenineeiene e $26.28 $36.42 $57.54
Intrinsic value of restricted stock outstanding (@) .........coceeverererieneneninieeneee e 4,434 5,142 1,652
Grant date fair value of restricted StOCK VESTEd .........oooviiieuiiiiiiiiciie e 2,632 1,318 1,266
Cash used to purchase common shares from current and former employees to pay
minimum withholding tax requirements on restricted shares vested.............ccccccvvverrrennene. $122 $24 $277

(a) Intrinsic value of restricted stock outstanding is based on the market price of the Company’s stock at December 31, 2015.

2015
Weighted

Number of Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value

Non-vested Restricted Shares at January 1, .........ccceevverienienienierieseeee e 184,023 $37.53
GIANTEA......viieeieecee e et e e et ea e et e e eae e eeaeeeeteeeetreeeateeetreeeaeeenaneas 96,088 26.28
VESEEA. ..ttt ettt ettt et b ettt et e e be st e b e s teetb et e beeaeesaesbeeteersensebeets (76,421) 34.45
CanCEIlEd......c.oiiiiiiic s (3,951) 40.88
Non-vested Restricted Shares at December 31, .......ccoeoieiiiiiiiiiiieeieeee e 199,739 (a) $33.09

(a) Represents all Rayonier restricted shares outstanding as of December 31, 2015, including restricted share awards held by Rayonier Advanced Materials
employees.

Performance Share Units

The Company’s performance share units generally vest upon completion of a three-year period. The number of shares, if any,
that are ultimately awarded is contingent upon Rayonier’s total shareholder return versus selected peer group companies. The
performance share payout is based on a market condition and as such, the awards are valued using a Monte Carlo simulation model.
The model generates the fair value of the award at the grant date, which is then recognized as expense over the vesting period.

Performance share awards outstanding as of the spin-off were treated as follows:

e Performance share awards granted in 2012 (with a 2012-2014 performance period) remained subject to the same
performance criteria as applied immediately prior to the spin-off, except that total shareholder return at the end of
the performance period was based on the combined stock prices of Rayonier and Rayonier Advanced Materials and
any payment earned was to be in shares of Rayonier common stock and shares of Rayonier Advanced Materials
common stock.

¢ Performance share awards granted in 2013 (witha2013-2015 performance period) were cancelled as of the distribution
date and were replaced with time-vested restricted stock of the post-separation employer of each holder, as discussed
in the Restricted Stock section above.

*  Performance share awards granted in 2014 (with a 2014-2016 performance period) were cancelled and replaced with
performance share awards of the post-separation employer of each holder (Rayonier or Rayonier Advanced Materials,
as the case may be), and are subject to the achievement of performance criteria that relate to the post-separation
business of the applicable employer during a performance period ending December 31, 2016. The number of shares
underlying each such performance share award were determined in a manner intended to preserve the original value
of the award.
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A comparison of the fair value of modified performance share awards held by Rayonier employees with the fair value of the
awards immediately before the modification did not yield any incremental value. As such, the Company did not record any
incremental compensation expense related to performance shares. The replacement of the 2013 performance share awards with
time-vested restricted stock did result in incremental compensation expense, as discussed above.

The Stock Plan allows for the cash settlement of the minimum required withholding tax on performance share unit awards.
As of December 31, 2015, there was $3.2 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to the Company’s performance share
unit awards, which is solely attributable to awards granted in 2014 and 2015 to Rayonier employees. This cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 2.0 years.

A summary of the Company’s performance share units is presented below:

2015 2014 2013
Common shares of Company stock reserved for performance shares granted during year. 219,844 130,164 276,240
Weighted average fair value of performance share units granted............cccceeevervenenennenne. $29.62 $40.33 $59.16
Intrinsic value of outstanding performance share units (a).........cccceeevereevienenenienenenene. 3,822 5,840 22,092
Fair value of performance shares vested...........covevireiriinineininieiecseeeeeeeceieen — — 6,961

Cash used to purchase common shares from current and former employees to pay
minimum withholding tax requirements on performance shares vested............c.cccecene. — $1,834 $11,048

(a) Intrinsic value of outstanding performance share units is based on the market price of the Company's stock at December 31, 2015.

2015
Weighted
Number Average Grant
of Units Date Fair Value
Outstanding Performance Share units at January 1, ........ccocovveieiiiiienienieieeeeeeeen 209,024 $51.01
GIANERA ...ttt ettt ettt b sttt ettt naeae 109,922 29.62
Other Cancellations/ AdJUStMENTS ........c.ccueeieriiiriirieieitieteeeesteste et et eeeeaesresaeessese v (146,790) (a) 56.00
Outstanding Performance Share units at December 31, .......cccccvevevienenineenieneneeieieennn 172,156 $33.12

(a) Includes primarily 2012 performance shares issued to Rayonier and Rayonier Advanced Material employees that did not meet the minimum performance
requirement for vesting.

Expected volatility was estimated using daily returns on the Company’s common stock for the three-year period ending on
the grant date. The risk-free rate was based on the 3-year U.S. treasury rate on the date of the award. The dividend yield was not
used to calculate fair value as awards granted receive dividend equivalents. The following table provides an overview of the
assumptions used in calculating the fair value of the awards granted for the three years ended December 31, 2015:

2015  2014(a) 2013
EXPected VOIAtIIILY ......coouiiiiiiiiicece et e 21.9% 19.7%  23.2%
RISKATTEE TALE ..ottt e e e at e et e e et e e ete e e eaaeesaeeesaaeeeeaeeesaneeenneeeenneas 0.9% 0.7% 0.4%

(a) Represents assumptions used in the July 2014 valuation of re-issued 2014 performance share units with a remaining term of 2.5 years. The initial fair value
of the 2014 awards assumed an expected volatility of 22.8% and a risk-free rate of 0.8%.
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Non-Qualified Employee Stock Options

The exercise price of each non-qualified stock option granted under the Stock Plan is equal to the closing market price of the
Company’s stock on the grant date. Under the Stock Plan, the maximum term is ten years from the grant date. Awards vest ratably
over three years. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
The expected volatility is based on historical volatility for each grant and is calculated using the historical change in the daily
market price of the Company’s common stock over the expected life of the award. The expected life is based on prior exercise
behavior. The Company has elected to value each grant in total and recognize the expense for stock options on a straight-line basis
over three years.

At the time of the spin-off, each Rayonier stock option was converted into an adjusted Rayonier stock option and a Rayonier
Advanced Materials stock option. The exercise price and number of shares subject to each stock option were adjusted in order to
preserve the aggregate value of the original Rayonier stock option as measured immediately before and immediately after the spin-
off. A comparison of the fair value of modified awards held by Rayonier employees, including options in both Rayonier and
Rayonier Advanced Materials shares, with the fair value of the awards immediately before the modification did not yield any
incremental value. As such, the Company did not record any incremental compensation expense related to stock options.

The following table provides an overview of the weighted average assumptions and related fair value calculations of options
granted for the two years ended December 31, 2014 as no options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2015:

2014 (a) 2013

EXPECEd VOIALIIILY ...veiiiiiiieiiiiccieeee ettt et sttt st et eae e 39.3% 39.0%
DiIVIAENA YICIA...c.uieiiiiiiieieie ettt ettt et ettt st e st e be s te e st e besseeseessessaeseeseensensesseessensenseesaensansas 4.6% 3.4%
Risk-free rate........cccceeereeveveiruennennnn. 2.2% 1.0%
Expected life (in years) 6.3 6.3
Fair value per share of options granted (D) .......ceoveierierieieieerieeteieie sttt ees $10.58 $14.01
Fair value of options granted (in MillIONS).......c.eovruirieriiieiiee et $3.2 $2.7

(a) The majority of 2014 stock option awards were granted prior to the spin-off. As such, the weighted average assumptions and fair values reflect pre-spin
information, including dividends, stock prices and grants to Rayonier Advanced Materials employees in addition to Rayonier employees.

(b) The fair value per share of each option grant was adjusted at the spin-off to preserve the aggregate value of the original Rayonier stock option. The adjusted
weighted average fair value per share applied to Rayonier employee awards was $8.23 for 2014 grants and $10.70 for 2013 grants.

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock options as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015 is presented below.
The information reflects options in Rayonier common shares, including those awards held by Rayonier Advanced Materials
employees.

2015
Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Exercise Remaining Aggregate
Number of Price Contractual Term Intrinsic
Shares (per common share) (in years) Value
Options outstanding at January 1, ........ccccecvevenenievrenennns 1,369,900 $27.21
Granted .......coooveervieeieeieiieeie e eie e e e eeeseee e — —
Exercised (113,082) 18.95
Cancelled or expired............cceenennee. (37,084) 32.86
Options outstanding at December 31, 1,219,734 $27.80 5.3 $1,380
Options exercisable at December 31,.......ccccccecevenevncnnne. 1,003,510 $26.63 4.7 $1,380
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A summary of additional information pertaining to the Company’s stock options is presented below:

2015 2014 2013
Intrinsic value of options eXerciSed () ......cecveverireerieiriireieistereee et $773 $4,044  $12,263
Fair value of OPHIONS VESTEA ....eveevieieieiieiieieie sttt ettt ereeeae s stesseenaessesneennens 1,938 3,054 2,558
Cash received from eXercise Of OPLIONS ......evvevueeierieriirieieie ettt 2,117 5,579 10,101

(a) Intrinsic value of options exercised is the amount by which the fair value of the stock on the exercise date exceeded the exercise price of the option.

As of December 31, 2015, there was $0.2 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to Rayonier and Rayonier
Advanced Materials stock options held by the Company’s employees. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of 1.0 years.

17. OTHER OPERATING INCOME, NET

The following table provides the composition of Other operating income, net for the three years ended December 31:

2015 2014 2013

Lease income, primarily from hUnting............cocoevveviininieienenieeeeseeee e $19,216 $17,569 $19,479
Other NON-TIMDET INCOIME ... ..eiiviiiiiie ettt ettt ettt et eeaee e st e e saseesaaeesnees 3,597 2,621 2,714
Foreign exchange (10SS) SaIN .......ccverieruieieieiecieieiesie ettt te ettt sbeseaenaas (89) 3,498 901
Gain on sale or disposal of property plant & eqUIPMENt .........c.ocvevveereerieieriierieeeieere e 7 48 287
(Loss) gain on foreign Currency CONIACS, NET........c.evvirueecrerrereeeesiesieseeeessesseseeessessesseeseenens (5,338) 32 (192)
Legal and corporate development COSES ........cciririrrieririeienienieteieiesteeeete e e eereeeseeeseenees — (222) (2,242)
Bankruptcy claim SEttIemENnt..........c.couiiuieieiiiiiitieieieeic ettt — 5,779 —
Gain (1oss) on sale of carbon CrEdits (@)......c.eoirirrierieriiieieriereeeeiere e et eae e erebe e eseeneas 352 (307) —
Log trading agency and marketing fees ..........coccuvveriiriiieienieneeeiee e 1,191 — —
Miscellaneous iNCOME (EXPENSE), L .....eeveruerrieierierriirieeetesteeseessessesseeseesessesseessessessesseessans 823 (2,507) (2,460)

TOTAL ...ttt ettt ettt ettt b et et b e se et b bt te b sseteeae b et eseebe b enteneens $19,759  $26,511  $18,487

(a) Loss in 2014 reflects surrender of carbon credit units.

18. INVENTORY

In the first quarter of 2015, Rayonier reclassified seeds and seedlings from Inventory and Other Assets to Timber and
Timberlands, Net to better reflect the intended use of the assets, as discussed in Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, Rayonier’s inventory was solely comprised of finished goods, as follows:

2015 2014
Finished S00dS INVENTOTY ......cotiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeit ettt bttt et sbe et e e b eeeen
Real €State INVENTOTY () ..vevvieieieriieierierieeteeietesteettestetesteeseestessesseessessassesssensesessesssensensesseessensessenses $12,252 $4,932
LLOZ IMIVEIEOTY ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et s h e b et shees b e e s bt ebten b et e s bt esteatebesbesaeenbenbesneens 3,099 3,451
TOLAl INVEIILOTY ...vveveevivieieieete ettt ettt ettt ettt et e te b e st seete b essesaebesbessessebessenseseerabesseseesenns $15,351 $8,383

(a) Represents cost of HBU real estate (including capitalized development investments) expected to be sold within 12 months.
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19. OTHER ASSETS

Included in Other Assets are non-current prepaid and deferred income taxes, restricted cash, goodwill in the New Zealand JV,
long-term prepaid roads, and other deferred expenses including debt issuance and capitalized software costs.

Beginning in 2015, Rayonier reclassified HBU timberlands and real estate development costs from “Other Assets™ to a separate
balance sheet caption. See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for additional information on HBU real estate.
As of December 31,2015 and 2014, the cost of Rayonier’s HBU real estate not expected to be sold within the next 12 months was
$65.4 million and $77.4 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2015, New Zealand JV goodwill was $8.5 million and was included in the assets of the New Zealand
Timber segment. Based on a Step 1 impairment analysis performed as of October 1, 2015, there is no indication of impairment of
goodwill as of December 31, 2015. Except for changes in the New Zealand foreign exchange rate, there have been no adjustments
to the carrying value of goodwill since the initial recognition. See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for
additional information on goodwill.

Changes in goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 were:

2015 2014
Balance, January 1 (net of $0 of accumulated iMpairment).............coceevevirereerieeieeerieeeeeeeeneeenns $9,694 $10,179
Changes to carrying amount
ACGUISTEIONS ...ttt sttt ettt ettt et et e be st e et et e be s bt essenbesseeseentensessesneeseensesbeeneensenes — —
0380803 14 1<) L USSP — —
Foreign currency adjuStmMeEnt ..........cccvevueririerieniiiieienieseeeeiesteeteesteaesseeseesessesteesaesestesneensenes (1,216) (485)
Balance, December 31 (net of $0 of accumulated impairment)............ccooeeeeerinesieceneneree e $8.478 $9,694

In order to qualify for like-kind (“LKE”) treatment, the proceeds from real estate sales must be deposited with a third-party
intermediary. These proceeds are accounted for as restricted cash until a suitable replacement property is acquired. In the event
that the LKE purchases are not completed, the proceeds are returned to the Company after 180 days and reclassified as available
cash. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company had $23.5 million and $6.7 million, respectively, of proceeds from real
estate sales classified as restricted cash in “Other Assets,” which were deposited with an LKE intermediary.

Costs for roads in the Pacific Northwest and New Zealand built to access particular tracts to be harvested in the upcoming 24
months to 60 months are recorded as prepaid logging and secondary roads. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, long-term prepaid
roads in the Pacific Northwest were $5.7 million and $4.7 million, respectively. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, long-term
secondary roads in New Zealand were $2.3 million and $3.3 million, respectively.

Debt issuance costs are capitalized and amortized to interest expense over the term of the debt to which they relate using a
method that approximates the interest method. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, capitalized debt issuance costs were $3.9 million
and $3.7 million, respectively. Software costs are capitalized and amortized over a period not exceeding five years using the
straight-line method. At December 31,2015 and 2014, capitalized software costs were $3.9 million and $4.2 million, respectively.
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20. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

The following table summarizes the changes in AOCI by component for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. All

amounts are presented net of tax and exclude portions attributable to noncontrolling interest.

. Net
Foreign investment
currency hedges of
translation New Cash flow Employee
adjustments  7aaland JV hedges benefit plans Total
Balance as of December 31,2013 ............... $36,914 — ($342) ($82,711) ($46,139)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) before
reclassifications..........c..oooveueeeverueiennnnns (11,381) (145) 510 47,938 (a) 36,922
Amounts reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive 10SS............coceueee. — — (1,716) 6,108 (b) 4,392
Net other comprehensive income/(loss)....... (11,381) (145) (1,206) 54,046 41,314
Balance as of December 31,2014 ............... $25,533 ($145) ($1,548) ($28,665) ($4,825)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) before
reclassifications..........c.cooeveveveeirveieeinnnns (27,983) 6,416 (14,444) (o) (354) (36,365)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive 10Ss.............c........... — — 4,400 3,287 (d) 7,687
Net other comprehensive income/(loss)....... (27,983) 6,416 (10,044) 2,933 (28,678)
Balance as of December 31, 2015 ............... ($2,450) $6,271 ($11,592) ($25,732) ($33,503)

(a) Reflects $78 million, net of taxes, of comprehensive income due to the transfer of losses to Rayonier Advanced Materials
Pension Plans. This comprehensive income was offset by $30 million, net of taxes, of losses as a result of revaluations required
due to the spin-off and at year-end. The actuarial losses were primarily caused by a decrease in the discount rate from 4.6
percent as of December 31,2013 to 3.8 percent as of December 31, 2014. See Note 15— Employee Benefit Plans for additional

information.

(b) This accumulated other comprehensive income component is comprised of $5 million from the computation of net periodic
pension cost and the $1 million write-off of a deferred tax asset related to the revaluation and transfer of liabilities as a result

of the spin-off.

(¢) Includes $10.2 million of other comprehensive loss related to interest rate swaps entered into in the third quarter 2015. See

Note 13 — Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities for additional information.

(d) This component of other comprehensive income is included in the computation of net periodic pension cost. See Note 15 —

Employee Benefit Plans for additional information.
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The following table presents details of the amounts reclassified in their entirety from AOCI for the years ended December 31,

2015 and 2014:

Amount reclassified from

Details about accumulated other comprehensive accumulated other Affected line item in the income
income components comprehensive income statement
2015 2014

Realized loss (gain) on foreign currency exchange o

COMETACES vttt e e eee e e et e e eeeeeeeennas $5,366 ($2,858) Other operating income, net
Realized loss (gain) on foreign currency option

CONETACES ...vveuvenrierieereiesteeeeeeesteeteeseesesseseeessesesreessensas 4,035 (1,007) Other operating income, net

Comprehensive loss attributable

Noncontrolling interest ..........ceeeeeevierereeeeriesieseeenenes (3,290) 1,352 to noncontrolling interest
Income tax (benefit) expense from foreign currency

[oT0) 118 2101 1SR (1,711) 797 Income tax benefit
Net (gain) loss on cash flow hedges reclassified from

accumulated other comprehensive income ................ 4,400 (1,716)
Income tax expense on pension plan contributed to

Rayonier Advanced Materials..........c.ccoccvevienniineennnn. — 843 Income tax benefit
Net loss (gain) reclassified from accumulated other

COMPTEhensive INCOME.........c.oveievereriereriiereeereresinens $4,400 ($873)
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21. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Spin-Off of the Performance Fibers Business

On June 27, 2014, Rayonier completed the tax-free spin-off of its Performance Fibers business and retained its timber, real
estate and trading businesses. The spin-off resulted in two independent, publicly-traded companies, with the Performance Fibers
business being spun off to Rayonier shareholders as a newly formed public company named Rayonier Advanced Materials. On
June 27, 2014, the shareholders of record received one share of Rayonier Advanced Materials common stock for every three
common shares of Rayonier held as of the close of business on the record date of June 18, 2014.

In connection with the spin-off, Rayonier Advanced Materials distributed $906.2 million in cash to Rayonier from $550 million
in Senior Notes issued by Rayonier A.M. Products (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rayonier Advanced Materials), $325 million
in term loans, and $75 million from a revolving credit facility Rayonier Advanced Materials entered into prior to the spin-off.
Pursuant to the terms of the Internal Revenue Service spin-off ruling, $75 million of this cash was paid to Rayonier’s shareholders
as dividends. Of this $75 million, $63.2 million was paid to shareholders as a special dividend in the third quarter of 2014.

In order to effect the spin-off and govern the Company’s relationship with Rayonier Advanced Materials after the spin-off,
Rayonier and Rayonier Advanced Materials entered into a Separation and Distribution Agreement, an Intellectual Property
Agreement, a Tax Sharing Agreement, an Employee Matters Agreement and a Transition Services Agreement. See Note 3 —
Discontinued Operations in the 2014 Form 10-K for further details concerning these agreements.

Rayonier will not have significant continuing involvement in the operations of the Performance Fibers business going forward.
Accordingly, the operating results of the Performance Fibers business, formerly disclosed as a separate reportable segment, are
classified as discontinued operations in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for all
periods presented. Certain administrative and general costs historically allocated to the Performance Fibers segment are reported
in continuing operations, as required.

The following table summarizes the operating results of the Company's discontinued operations related to the Performance
Fibers spin-off for the years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, as presented in "Income from discontinued
operations, net" in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income:

2014 2013
SALES ettt ettt e h ettt e bttt a et bt e a e et e b e et e et e beeheententenbeeheeneenbente e $456,180 $1,048,104
CoSt 0f SIS ANA OTNET .....eeeniieiieie e te ettt e seesnaenneens (369,210) (736,471)
TTANSACHION EXPEIISES. . e.vievrerrererreentertesteestentesesseaseessessesseessessesseessensessassesnsessessesseensessessesssensensens (22,989) (3,208)
Income from discontinued operations before iNCOME taXes.........cevververeerierienereerieneneeienennens 63,981 308,425
TNCOME tAX EXPEIISE ...eutieueieniietieetie ittt ettt ettt et e et e st e e steesaeesseeestesateenseenseenseenseeseenseenaeans (20,578) (84,398)
Income from discontinued OPErations, NEt..........c.ccerueveererieirerreieieesseeereesesseeereesesseseeseesennes $43,403 $224,027

In accordance with ASC 205-20-S99-3, Allocation of Interest to Discontinued Operations, the Company elected to allocate
interest expense to discontinued operations where the debt is not directly attributed to the Performance Fibers business. Interest
expense was allocated based on a ratio of net assets discontinued to the sum of consolidated net assets plus consolidated debt (other
than debt directly attributable to the Timber and Real Estate operations). The following table summarizes the interest expense
allocated to discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013:

2014 2013
Interest expense allocated to the Performance Fibers business ...........coceevevevereenienenencienennne ($4,205) ($8,964)
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The following table summarizes the depreciation, amortization and capital expenditures of the Company's discontinued
operations related to the Performance Fibers business:

2014 2013
Depreciation and amMOTtIZATION ..........ecueeeerierieeeeierteseeeetesteseeeeessessesseessessessesseessessessesssessessessens $37,985 $74,386
Capital EXPENAITUTES. .....eeeeieriiiiieiete ettt ettt et et ebesbeseeestesbesseestensessesseeseensensesseensensesseas 60,443 97,874
Jesup mill cellulose specialties EXPANSION ........ccvverveeriierierieiie e ete e ereeteesteeseeessaesseesereenseesnas — 148,262

The major classes of Performance Fibers assets and liabilities included in the spin-off are as follows:

June 27, 2014

ACCOUNES TECEIVADIE, TEL .....uvviiieeiiieiieceie ettt ettt e e e e et e e esaeeeeaaeeeteeeesaeesnseeesnseessaeesnseesnseeens $66,050
TIIVEIEOTY ..ttt ettt ettt et e bt e b e e sh e e et e e eat e sateeat e eabeen b e e bt enbe e beebeennes 121,705
Prepaid and Other CUITENE @SSELS.........c.erverieieiirieieiete ettt ettt ettt st et e e st eseneeseesesseneeseenas 70,092
Property, plant and eqUIPIMENT, NEt..........cccccverieriiiieieriereeeeeeieste sttt et e te e eaesteste e e essessessesseessesesseessenns 862,487
OTNET @SSELS ..eeeiiieeeiee ettt e et et e e e ettt e e eeeteesee e aeeessaaseeeseaaaaeeesaasseeesaasseeesassseessanssseessasaeeesssnsseeesans 103,400

TOEAL ASSEES ...ttt et et e e e e e e et et e e e e et e e e e e e e et et eeee e e et eeae e e eeeneane $1,223,734
ACCOUNLES PAYADIE .....veuvieieeietieieeeeeeeteeeeee ettt ettt ettt eaeete et et ese et et et eteete et enseseeseesenseseesesenseseesenseseenes $65,522
Other CUITENT THADIIIIES .....oovviiiiiiiieiieeeie ettt et e et e et e et e et e e e emaeesnteeesnseesraeesaaeesnnaeeas 51,006
03T 15 w30 I (<] o) OO TR U SRPRR 950,000
Non-current environmental HabIlItIes ...........c..covioiiiieeieei ettt ens 66,434
Pension and other postretirement BENETILS ............ccccvevierierieiecieiecicteie e 102,633
Other NON-CUITENT HADIIITIES .....oeiiieeiieieeeiie ettt ettt e e et e e e et e e e s eeeateessaaateesssraeeesssaseeeeans 7,269
DIETICHE. ..ttt ettt ettt ettt et ettt ettt et ettt et et et ete et et e st ete e te b ettete et et ertete et et eaeeteete b entereete s erserea (19,130)

Total liabilities and @QUILY .................ccoovoviiiiiiicieieeece ettt $1,223,734

In the third and fourth quarters of 2014 and 2015, the Company made immaterial adjustments to the valuation of certain classes
of Performance Fibers assets and liabilities included in the spin-off as the segregation of the pension and postretirement plans were
finalized and tax obligations were updated based upon filing of the 2013 and 2014 tax returns and allocated based on the terms of
the Tax Sharing Agreement. The effect of these adjustments have been reflected in discontinued operations and equity for the year
ended December 31, 2014 and equity for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Pursuant to a Memorandum of Understanding Agreement, Rayonier may provide Rayonier Advanced Materials with up to
120,000 tons of hardwood annually through July 30,2017. Prior to the spin-off, hardwood intercompany purchases were transactions
eliminated in consolidation as follows:

2014 2013
HAardwood PUICRASES ........c.cviveviierieiiieiiietetiiet ettt ettt s et b et st es et ebese s esessesesnssesesens $3,935 $3,051
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Sale of Wood Products Business

On March 1, 2013, Rayonier completed the sale of its Wood Products business (consisting of three lumber mills in Baxley,
Swainsboro and Eatonton, Georgia) to International Forest Products Limited (“Interfor”) for $80 million plus a working capital
adjustment. Accordingly, the operating results of the Wood Products business, formerly disclosed as a separate reportable segment,
are classified as discontinued operations in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for
the year ended December 31, 2013.

Rayonier recognized an after-tax gain of $42.1 million on the sale, which included the acceleration of pension settlement costs
of $0.5 million resulting from a lump sum distribution to Wood Products participants. The gain is included in “Income from
discontinued operations, net” in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

The following table summarizes the operating results of the Company’s Wood Products discontinued operations as presented
in “Income from discontinued operations, net” in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for the year
ended December 31, 2013:

2013
T 1SRRI $16,968
COSt OF SA1ES ANA OTNET ......ooiiiiiiiiiticceece ettt ettt et et e ete e s teeeteeeaaeeaseesseeaseenseeseeseenanan (14,258)
Gain on sale of diSCONtINUE OPETALIONS ......c..ccueuiriiiiiiiiirieieieteeete ettt sttt 63,217
Income from discontinued operations before INCOME TAXES .....ccvevveeierierierieieiesieeteterte e et esee e seeeseeseseeseeesaeeens 65,927
INCOMME tAX EXPEIISE. ... eeuteutitieiienienteetteiterte st et et e st e eteest et e s bt eatestenbesbeeaeestesbesbeestentesbeesten b e beeseestensenbesbeententenbesseensenses (21,999)
Income from diScONtinUEd OPETAtIONS, NEL.......ccvervieieierierieetieierteeteeterteste e estesteseeesaessessesseeseessessesseessessessesseessenses $43,928

The sale did not meet the “held for sale” criteria prior to the period it was completed. The major classes of Wood Products
assets and liabilities included in the sale were as follows:

March 1, 2013

ACCOUNES TECEIVADIE, NEL ....eiviiiiiiieiiieeiie ettt ettt ettt e ette s taeeabeesbeesbeesbeesseesseesseessaeseensaesssasssanns $4,127
B3NS4 110 TSRS 4,270
Prepaid and Other CUITENT ASSELS.......c.uerueriiiieieriirtieiieierte ettt ettt ettt st e e besbe s st estebesaesbeeneesesbesneenes 2,053
Property, plant and @qUIPMENT, NEL..........ccueicieeiiieiieieete et et et et et eseeseeeseeeseeesseeesaesseanseesseenseenseenseenses 9,990
TOLAL ASSEES ......voiviiieiiieie ettt eee e et e e e e enteeae e eaa e et e eeeeeseesteeeneesreeereeeneesneesnneenneennean $20,440
TOtal HADIIEIES. ..........coooveieieieieieieiecc ettt bbbt s s $596

Cash flows from the Wood Products business were de minimis both individually and in the aggregate. As such, they were
included with cash flows from continuing operations in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the year ended December
31,2013.

The following table reconciles the operating results of both the Performance Fibers and Wood Products discontinued operations,
as presented in "Income from discontinued operations, net" in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income:

2014 2013
Performance Fibers income from discontinued operations, net .............coccecveerveveeeeervenennnn. $43,403 $224,027
Wood Products income from discontinued operations, Net..........eceverereereererenieereneneennen — 43,928
Income from discontinued OPerations, NEt.............ocvevererrerieeeierireeeeesreeeeere e eeresseseeseens $43,403 $267,955
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22, LIABILITIES FOR DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

An analysis of activity in the liabilities for dispositions and discontinued operations for the two years ended December 31,
2014 follows:

2014 2013
Balance, JANUATY 1 ....ccvoiiiiieieiiiieieieieite ettt sttt et et e et e e et et e besteeteesbesbeeteessessasseessessassesseessessessesseessansans $76,378 $81,695
Expenditures charged t0 HabDIlIties ........ccecverieririeiieriicieieie sttt s eeaenees (5,096) (8,570)
INCIEASE 10 HHADIIITIES .....vvveieiieeieie ettt e e et e e e et e e e e e ettt e e e seaaaeeseeaaaeeesenaaeeeeas 2,558 3,253
Contribution to Rayonier Advanced Materials............cccecveriirieienieniesieieieseeeeeesie e see e sve e esneneas (73,840) —
Balance, DECEMBDET 31 ......ccooviiiiiiiiiieeieee ettt ettt e e et e e aeeeeareeeaeeeeareeeaeeesaneeeeteeeeaseeentreeeaeeenns — 76,378
| B 115 (< 0 LA 0 10) 4104 SRS — (6,835)
NON-CUITENE POTTIOMN. ... evetietiveeietietistesteteeteeteteseetessesteseesessesseseesessesseseesesseseesaasessessesesessessesessessessesessensesenns —  $69,543

In connection with the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business, all remaining liabilities associated with prior dispositions
and discontinued operations were assumed by Rayonier Advanced Materials. As part of the separation agreement, Rayonier has
been indemnified, released and discharged from any liability related to these sites. For additional information on the Performance
Fibers spin-off, see Note 21 — Discontinued Operations.
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23. QUARTERLY RESULTS FOR 2015 and 2014 (UNAUDITED)

(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 Total Year
2015

SALES ..ot $140,305 $115,801 $151,657 $137,111 $544,874
CoSt OF SALES ...evreeeieeeeeee e 107,234 103,689 116,044 114,132 441,099
Net income (10SS) .covevveeveerinieieineeec e 18,180 (2,860) 19,181 9,440 43,941
Net income (loss) attributable to Rayonier Inc. . 17,747 (1,536) 19,669 10,285 46,165
Basic EPS attributable to Rayonier Inc.

Net Income (LOSS) ...ovvvevieeveriiereeinieriiereeeanas $0.14 ($0.01) $0.16 $0.08 $0.37
Diluted EPS attributable to Rayonier Inc.

Net Income (LOSS) ...ovevevieeveeirereeeeieriiereeeanas $0.14 ($0.01) $0.16 $0.08 $0.37

2014

SALES ...ttt 143,187 163,145 149,829 147,360 603,521
CoSt OF SALES ...eveeeieieieeeeee e 115,900 123,096 118,088 126,776 483,860
Income from continuing operations ................... 10,335 4,024 32,059 8,025 54,443
Income from discontinued operations................ 31,008 12,084 — 311 43,403
NEt INCOME ...oneeiiieiieieieeeeee e 41,343 16,108 32,059 8,336 97,846
Net income attributable to Rayonier Inc. ........... 41,426 16,353 32,701 8,857 99,337
Basic EPS attributable to Rayonier Inc.

Continuing Operations..............ccceevevevrnnennn. $0.08 $0.03 $0.26 $0.07 $0.44

Discontinued Operations ...........cccceeevereennene 0.25 0.10 — — 0.34

Net INCOME ... $0.33 $0.13 $0.26 $0.07 $0.78
Diluted EPS attributable to Rayonier Inc.

Continuing Operations..............ocvevvererveeennnn. $0.08 $0.03 $0.25 $0.07 $0.43

Discontinued Operations ...........ccceeerereennene 0.24 0.09 — — 0.33

Net INCOME ... $0.32 $0.12 $0.25 $0.07 $0.76

Rayonier completed the spin-off of its Performance Fibers business on June 27, 2014, as discussed at Note 21 — Discontinued
Operations. Accordingly, the operating results of this business is reported as discontinued operations in the Company’s 2014
Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income, including the quarterly periods shown above.
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24, CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The condensed consolidating financial information below follows the same accounting policies as described in the consolidated
financial statements, except for the use of the equity method of accounting to reflect ownership interests in wholly-owned subsidiaries,
which are eliminated upon consolidation, and the allocation of certain expenses of Rayonier Inc. incurred for the benefit of its
subsidiaries.

In March 2012, Rayonier Inc. issued $325 million of 3.75% Senior Notes due 2022. In connection with these notes, the Company
provides the following condensed consolidating financial information in accordance with SEC Regulation S-X Rule 3-10, Financial
Statements of Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed Securities Registered or Being Registered.

The subsidiary guarantors, Rayonier Operating Company LLC (“ROC”) and Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc., are wholly-owned by
the Parent Company, Rayonier Inc. The notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several basis by the guarantor
subsidiaries.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Rayonier Inc.

(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
SALES ...t _ _ $544,874 _ $544,874
Costs and Expenses
COSt OF SALES ...ttt — — 441,099 _ 441,099
Selling and general expenses... _ 20,468 25,282 _ 45,750
Other operating iNCOME, NEL........ccerverrereereeieieieieeeneeeeeeeneas — (404) (19,355) — (19,759)
— 20,064 447,026 — 467,090
OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME..........ccoooeeeeeeeeeeeee — (20,064) 97,848 — 77,784
TETESE EXPENSE....vvovrivsoivsseissrissnsississsss s (12,703) (9,135) (9,861) — (31,699)
Interest and miscellaneous income (expense), Net........ccvevvevveeereennane 7,789 2,612 (13,404) _ (3,003)
Equity in income from subsidiaries ...........ceoerereereerienierieieieeeeenene 51,079 75,532 — (126,611) —
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
INCOME TAXES........co oottt 46,165 48,945 74,583 (126,611) 43,082
Income tax benefit (EXPENnSe).......coevververeerienienieieieeeieieeeeeeienes — 2,134 (1,275) _ 859
NET INCOME .......cooiiiiiiiieeeeeeeee et ns 46,165 51,079 73,308 (126,611) 43,941
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest .............ccocce..... _ _ (2,224) _ (2,224)
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC........... 46,165 51,079 75,532 (126,611) 46,165
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Foreign currency translation adjustment ..............cccooeeiiennnnnn. (21,567) 7,922 (40,373) 21,567 (32,451)
New Zealand joint venture cash flow hedges.........cccoceoveencnennee (10,042) (10,195) 234 10,042 (9,961)
Actuarial change and amortization of pension and
postretirement plan liabilities ...........ccccoviiciiinnnncccee 2,933 2,933 — (2,933) 2,933
Total other comprehensive (loss) income..........ccccevveveeennnnen. (28,676) 660 (40,139) 28,676 (39,479)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ..........ccccoooimiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeee 17,489 51,739 33,169 (97,935) 4,462
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest..... _ — (13,027) — (13,027)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO
RAYONIER INC.......cooccoiiiiiiiiiniiieeiceeeeeeesee e $17,489 $51,739 $46,196 ($97,935) $17,489
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Rayonier Inc.

(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
SALES ... et — — $603,521 _ $603,521
Costs and Expenses
COSt OF SALES ..ottt _ _ 483,860 _ 483,860
Selling and general eXPenses.........covevveruereerveriereereeierieneeeeeens _ 14,578 33,305 _ 47,883
Other operating expense (INCOME), NEt ......ccvevereeeeeeeveeannns _ 3,275 (29,786) — (26,511)
— 17,853 487,379 — 505,232
OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME ..........ccooieeeeeeeeeeee _ (17,853) 116,142 _ 98,289
INTETESt EXPENSE.....euvvinrieieviieienieiitetereetetetent ettt ettt n e (13,247) (23,571) (7,430) — (44,248)
Interest and miscellaneous income (€Xpense), Net........ccevvevervruereenene 9,186 (3,100) (15,285) — (9,199)
Equity in income from subsidiaries 103,398 138,719 _ (242,117) _
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
INCOME TAXES........ccooioieieieeeeseseseeetesie e 99,337 94,195 93,427 (242,117) 44,842
Income tax Benetit ........occevererierieriereeeeeeee e — 9,203 398 — 9,601
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 99,337 103,398 93,825 (242,117) 54,443
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET
Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax.................. _ _ 43,403 _ 43,403
NET INCOME ........ocooiiiiiiiieiieeeteeeieee e 99,337 103,398 137,228 (242,117) 97,846
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest .............ccccoe..... _ — (1,491) _ (1,491)
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC........... 99,337 103,398 138,719 (242,117) 99,337
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Foreign currency translation adjustment ............cccceevevvevevceeenenne. (11,525) (11,527) (15,847) 23,052 (15,847)
New Zealand joint venture cash flow hedges..........ccccecevueeriennnee (1,206) (1,206) (1,855) 2,412 (1,855)
Actuarial change and amortization of pension and
postretirement plan lHabilities ..........ccceveveverenenieiieiiieceene 54,046 54,046 88,174 (142,220) 54,046
Total other comprehensive income..... 41,315 41,313 70,472 (116,756) 36,344
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ..........cccooooiiiiiiieeeeeee, 140,652 144,711 207,700 (358,873) 134,190
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest..... _ _ (6,462) _ (6,462)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO
RAYONIER INC.......coociiiiiiieiieceeeeseee e $140,652 $144,711 $214,162 ($358,873) $140,652
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Rayonier Inc.

(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
SALES ... et — — $659,718 _ $659,718
Costs and Expenses
COSt OF SALES ..o — — 530,772 — 530,772
Selling and general eXPenses.........covevveruereerveriereereeierieneeeeeens _ 9,821 45,612 _ 55,433
Other operating (income) eXpense, Net ..........cevverveeereeveeennns (1,701) 4,730 (21,516) — (18,487)
(1,701) 14,551 554,868 — 567,718
Equity in income of New Zealand joint venture...........ccccoeerevenennene _ _ 562 _ 562
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE GAIN RELATED
TO CONSOLIDATION OF NEW ZEALAND JOINT
VENTURE ... 1,701 (14,551) 105,412 _ 92,562
Gain related to consolidation of New Zealand joint venture ............. _ _ 16,098 _ 16,098
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)......ooieeeeeeeeeeeee s 1,701 (14,551) 121,510 — 108,660
INtETESt EXPENSE.....cuvvieiiiiiiieiirieiiietee ettt (13,088) (28,430) 577 — (40,941)
Interest and miscellaneous income (expense), Net........oovevevveeereennane 9,828 (4,297) (3,092) _ 2,439
Equity in income from subsidiaries ...........ceoerererierierienieieieeeeenene 373,455 407,722 — (781,177) —
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
INCOME TAXES........co oottt 371,896 360,444 118,995 (781,177) 70,158
Income tax benefit........ccoccevieriieiiiieiicieee e _ 13,011 22,674 _ 35,685
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS............ccccueuee. 371,896 373,455 141,669 (781,177) 105,843
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET
Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax.................. — — 267,955 — 267,955
NET INCOME ..ottt 371,896 373,455 409,624 (781,177) 373,798
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest — — 1,902 — 1,902
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC. 371,896 373,455 407,722 (781,177) 371,896
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Foreign currency translation adjustment ..........c.ccceceeevevvcncnnnnne. (1,915) (1,915) (5,710) 3,830 (5,710)
New Zealand joint venture cash flow hedges..........ccccevvevvenrnenne. 3,286 3,286 3,629 (6,572) 3,629
Actuarial change and amortization of pension and
postretirement plan liabilities ............cccooiiciiinnnecicne 61,869 61,869 20,589 (82,458) 61,869
Total other comprehensive iNCOME ..........ccoevevveveereeeeeeeeenene 63,240 63,240 18,508 (85,200) 59,788
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ..........ccooooiiiiiiiiieeeeee, 435,136 436,695 428,132 (866,377) 433,586
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest..... _ — (1,550) _ (1,550)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO
RAYONIER INC. $435,136 $436,695 $429,682 ($866,377) $435,136
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31, 2015
Rayonier Inc.
(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents............ccocuervereerrerierierierieeeeeieeeeens $2,472 $13,217 $36,088 _ $51,777
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts.... _ 1,870 18,352 _ 20,222
INVENLOTY ..o — — 15,351 — 15,351
Prepaid 10ggIing roads........ccecveveirirenerieriesieseseeee e _ — 10,563 _ 10,563
Prepaid EXPenses ......ccoveeeeeieenenirese e _ 443 1,648 _ 2,091
Other CUITent ASSELS ........ccvveeeiureerieeieeereeete e et eve e _ 4,876 805 _ 5,681
Total Current aSSEtS .......cecvvvereereereereeriereeeerieieeeeeeenene 2,472 20,406 82,807 — 105,685
TIMBER AND TIMBERLANDS, NET OF DEPLETION
AND AMORTIZATION.....coeoitiiriiiieieieieceeeeereesce e — — 2,066,780 — 2,066,780
HIGHER AND BETTER USE TIMBERLANDS AND REAL
ESTATE DEVELOPMENT COSTS....c.ooceoviiniineencenecneeenee — — 65,450 — 65,450
NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT.........ccceovvernuennnne _ 330 6,412 _ 6,742
INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES......ccccccooiiiieiiiiieicreeeeeenes 1,321,681 2,212,405 _ (3,534,086) _
INTERCOMPANY RECEIVABLE.. 34,567 (610,450) 575,883 _ _
OTHER ASSETS ..ot 2,305 19,741 52,560 — 74,606
TOTAL ASSETS....ti oottt et savaeearees $1,361,025 $1,642,432 $2,849,892 ($3,534,086) $2,319,263
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable .......ccoecveeeiriniriceeeseee e $609 $1,463 $19,407 _ $21,479
ACCTUCA tAXES ..ttt ettt ettt ae e _ (10) 3,695 _ 3,685
Accrued payroll and benefits..........ccceverirenerenieneieieieenne _ 3,594 3,443 _ 7,037
ACCTUC INEEIESL....veeeieeiiieeieieeieeie ettt 3,047 666 2,440 — 6,153
Other current Habilities...........covvevvevierierieieieieieeeeeeeee _ 262 20,841 _ 21,103
Total current liabilities.........ccoeervereerierieieieeieceieeene 3,656 5,975 49,826 — 59,457
LONG-TERM DEBT....c.oiiiiiiiiieeseeeeeeeee e 325,000 282,000 226,879 — 833,879
PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS........... _ 34,822 (685) _ 34,137
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES.........ccceeiiniiiiiinieene, — 16,914 13,136 — 30,050
INTERCOMPANY PAYABLE.......ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiceceiee (255,715) (18,960) 274,675 _ _
TOTAL RAYONIER INC. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY............... 1,288,084 1,321,681 2,212,405 (3,534,086) 1,288,084
Noncontrolling INtEreSt ........cceververeerierieieieeeee e — — 73,656 — 73,656
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY.....cccteiiiiiinieniieieeieieeieeieene 1,288,084 1,321,681 2,286,061 (3,534,086) 1,361,740
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY............ $1,361,025 $1,642,432 $2,849,892 ($3,534,086) $2,319,263
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31, 2014
Rayonier Inc.
(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents............ccocevvevverierieriereenieieieeeeeeens $102,218 $8,105 $51,235 _ $161,558
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts.... _ 1,409 22,609 _ 24,018
TOVENLOTY «.vvitinieteteieete ettt _ _ 8,383 _ 8,383
Prepaid 10ggIing roads........ccecveveiriienereseseeeeee e _ — 12,665 _ 12,665
Prepaid EXPenses ......ccoveeeeeieerinieeee e — 1,926 3,123 — 5,049
Other CUITeNt @SSELS ......evverververieieieieieteeeiet et _ 83 1,948 _ 2,031
Total Current aSSEtS ......cccvvveveervereerierieieeeeeeeeeeeeenene 102,218 11,523 99,963 — 213,704
TIMBER AND TIMBERLANDS, NET OF DEPLETION
AND AMORTIZATION.....cooiieiiiriiiiiireieiceeeeeeeseeeeeseeeen — — 2,088,501 — 2,088,501
HIGHER AND BETTER USE TIMBERLANDS AND REAL
ESTATE DEVELOPMENT COSTS.....ooceoiiiniinencenecneeenee — — 77,433 — 77,433
NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT.........ccceovverruennnee _ 433 6,273 _ 6,706
INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 1,463,303 2,053,911 _ (3,517,214) _
INTERCOMPANY RECEIVABLES........ccooviiiiiniinceeieinne 248,233 21,500 — (269,733) _
OTHER ASSETS ..o 2,763 18,369 45,639 _ 66,771
TOTAL ASSETS....c ottt $1,816,517 $2,105,736 $2,317,809 ($3,786,947) $2,453,115
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable .......ccoecveieieiniriceee e — $2,810 $17,401 _ $20,211
Current maturities of long-term debt..........cccoveveeiiinincnnnnen. _ 129,706 _ _ 129,706
ACCTUCA tAXES ..vvevevreeieiieiieeieieeieete ettt sa e seeneas _ 11 11,394 _ 11,405
Accrued payroll and benefits.............ccccoceiiiiiiiiiiiinn. — 3,253 3,137 _ 6,390
ACCTUE INLEIEST.....vvevievieeieeietieieeie et ete ettt eeeeeeas 3,047 2,517 31,281 (28,412) 8,433
Other current Habilities.........cooevververierierieeeieeeeeeeeeeae _ 1,073 24,784 _ 25,857
Total current liabilities.........ccooeveeveererenierieeieceeeene 3,047 139,370 87,997 (28,412) 202,002
LONG-TERM DEBT......cooiiiitiiiiiieieeeee et 325,000 31,000 265,849 _ 621,849
PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS........... _ 34,161 (684) — 33,477
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES.......ccccoeiiiiiiiiiiercee. _ 6,436 14,200 _ 20,636
INTERCOMPANY PAYABLE......cccooiiiiiiiieccieieecieeeeeeeee _ 431,466 (153,754) (277,712) _
TOTAL RAYONIER INC. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY............... 1,488,470 1,463,303 2,017,520 (3,480,823) 1,488,470
Noncontrolling iNtErest ..........cceveiruererieirieenieiieeiereeeeeeieeeieeenene _ _ 86,681 _ 86,681
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY.....coiiiiiiinieneeieieeieeeeieee 1,488,470 1,463,303 2,104,201 (3,480,823) 1,575,151
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY............ $1,816,517 $2,105,736 $2,317,809  ($3,786,947)  $2,453,115
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

Rayonier Inc.

(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated

CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY OPERATING

ACTIVITIES ..ot ($4,890) ($21,421) $203,475 — $177,164
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital eXpenditures.............cooeevieriireeriereerecieeeeeeetee e — (78) (57,215) — (57,293)
Real estate development invesStments ...............cceeveeeveerieieeeceeeennane — — (2,676) — (2,676)
Strategic purchase of timberlands and other.............cccccceevvereirrennnne. — — (98,409) — (98,409)
Proceeds from settlement of foreign currency hedge ........................ — — 2,804 — 2,804
Change in restricted cash .........c.cooceverirererieeeeeeeee e — — (16,836) — (16,836)
Investment in SUDSIAIATIES..........ccoveevievieeiireieeee e — 126,242 — (126,242) —
OBHCT .ttt — — 6,101 — 6,101
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) INVESTING ACTIVITIES. — 126,164 (166,231) (126,242) (166,309)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
ISSUANCE OF dEDt.....coviiiiiiiieceee e 61,000 353,000 58,558 — 472,558
Repayment of debt..........ooueuiiiiiniieiiieee e (61,000) (232,973) (70,429) — (364,402)
DivIdends PaId ...........ovevveeverieerieeeesiesee e (124,936) — — — (124,936)
Proceeds from the issuance of common shares.................c.cccceeveneen. 2,117 — — — 2,117
Proceeds from repurchase of common shares............c.ccocovveeevreinn. (100,000) — — — (100,000)
DEDLt ISSUANCE COSS ...ttt ettt — (1,678) — — (1,678)
Issuance of INtercomMpPany NOtES ............cceevererrerirrererierireerereereeeeeenens (35,500) — 35,500 — —
Intercompany diStributions ..............ccoeveevevvierevierveereeeceeeeiee e 163,585 (217,980) (71,847) 126,242 —
OthET ..t (122) — — — (122)
CASH USED FOR FINANCING ACTIVITIES........c.cccocevvvveienene. (94,856) (99,631) (48,218) 126,242 (116,463)
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH.......... — — (4,173) — (4,173)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Change in cash and cash equivalents.............c.ccoevevvevvevveveeveeeeenene. (99,746) 5,112 (15,147) — (109,781)
Balance, beginning of Year .............ccoevevveviivieiiecieieieieeeeeeeeene 102,218 8,105 51,235 — 161,558
Balance, end Of Year..........ccceivieirieirieiieeeceeeee e $2,472 $13,217 $36,088 — $51,777
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CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES..................
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital eXpenditures............ccoeeevieriieerieiesiesieieeeiee e
Capital expenditures from discontinued operations..................co........
Real estate development INVESTMENLS ........covveverererieresieieiereieeeenene
Strategic purchase of timberlands and other...........c.ccccccoeinecncnnne.
Change in restricted Cash .........ccocvvevireeineieeeeeeeeee e

Investment in SUDSIAIATIES...........cc.eoveevieieeeieeieceeeeeceeeeeee e

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) INVESTING ACTIVITIES.
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of debt..........cccooiiiiirieiiiieee e
Repayment of debt.........cc.eieieirieirieiieiiceeceeeee e
Dividends paid ........c.cocoerieirieinieiieee e
Proceeds from the issuance of common shares...............cooeevereenene
Proceeds from repurchase of common shares..............cccccveeveeeninnne
Dbt ISSUANCE COSES ....viuiniirieieieiiiririeieiee ettt seeaeeeeas
Net cash disbursed upon spin-off of Performance Fibers business ...
Issuance of INtercomMpany NOtES ............ccevvevververrerieieeeieieeeeeeeneens

Intercompany distributions

CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES.
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH..........
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Change in cash and cash equivalents..........c.ccccoeciveveneiincinncnnenn.
Balance, beginning of YEar ..........ccccecvvveirieerieiieeieeeeeeeeeeieienns

Balance, end of Year...........cccceeviviiiiiriiiiiecieeeeeee e

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Rayonier Inc.

(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
$269,653 $293,193 $47,727 ($290,157) $320,416
— (400) (63,313) — (63,713)
— — (60,955) — (60,955)
— — (3,674) — (3,674)
— — (130,896) — (130,896)
— — 62,256 — 62,256
— 798,875 — (798,875) —
— — 306 — 306
— 798,475 (196,276) (798,875) (196,676)
— 201,000 1,225,464 — 1,426,464
— (1,002,500) (287,137) — (1,289,637)
(257,517) — — — (257,517)
5,579 — — — 5,579
(1,858) — — — (1,858)
— — (12,380) — (12,380)
(31,420) — — — (31,420)
(12,400) — 12,400 — —
— (293,086) (795,946) 1,089,032 —
— — (680) — (680)
(297,616) (1,094,586) 141,721 1,089,032 (161,449)
— — (377) — (377)
(27,963) (2,918) (7,205) — (38,086)
130,181 11,023 58,440 — 199,644
$102,218 $8,105 $51,235 — $161,558
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Rayonier Inc.

(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total

Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES................ $407,712 $417,074 $493,382 ($771,375) $546,793
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital eXpenditures............ccoeeevieriieerieiesiesieieeeiee e — (663) (62,540) — (63,203)
Capital expenditures from discontinued operations..................co........ — — (103,092) — (103,092)
Real estate development investments .............c.cceevevveveeeeeeeeeeeennans — — (1,292) — (1,292)
Purchase of additional interest in New Zealand joint venture........... — — (139,879) — (139,879)
Strategic purchase of timberlands and other.............ccccceevvrreciriennnne. — — (20,401) — (20,401)
Proceeds from settlement of foreign currency hedge ........................ — 1,701 — — 1,701
Jesup mill cellulose specialties eXpansion............cc.cceeveveveerievereeenine — — (148,262) — (148,262)
Proceeds from disposition of Wood Products business — — 62,720 — 62,720
Change in restricted cash ...........coceeevieeeienieeeeeeeee e — — (58,385) — (58,385)
Investment in SUDSIAIATIES..........c.covevvieveeeeeeiieceeeeeeeee e (138,178) (385,292) — 523,470 —
OBhET ..ttt — — (447) — (447)
CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES ......ccccooeirveirnee. (138,178) (384,254) (471,578) 523,470 (470,540)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
ISSUANCe Of debt.......c.ocueuirieeiieiieieeeee e 175,000 390,000 57,885 — 622,885
Repayment 0f debt............ccooviirieirieiieiiccceeeeeeee e (325,000) (151,525) (72,960) — (549,485)
Dividends paid..........cccccoiriririeiiiiiineee e (237,016) — — — (237,016)
Proceeds from the issuance of common shares..............c..cocveeuneennen. 10,101 — — — 10,101
Excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation..................c.c........ — — 8,413 — 8,413
Proceeds from repurchase of common shares............ccccoceveervreniennne (11,326) — — — (11,326)
Issuance of INtercomMpany NOtES ............ccevverververrerierieeeieieeeeeeeeens (4,000) — 4,000 — —
Intercompany diStribUtions .............c.cccceveeveeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e — (283,596) 35,691 247,905 —
OBRET ..ottt — — (713) — (713)
CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES. (392,241) (45,121) 32,316 247,905 (157,141)
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH.......... — — (64) — (64)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Change in cash and cash equivalents..............ccoceevrreiriecineereeennennn (122,707) (12,301) 54,056 — (80,952)
Balance, beginning of year .. 252,888 23,324 4,384 — 280,596
Balance, end of Year..........cocociiiinirireieiieeee e $130,181 $11,023 $58,440 — $199,644
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Rayonier management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate disclosure controls and procedures. Disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)) are
designed with the objective of ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports filed under the Exchange
Act, such as this annual report on Form 10-K, is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified
in the SEC’s rules and forms and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no control evaluation can provide absolute assurance that all control
exceptions and instances of fraud have been prevented or detected on a timely basis. Even systems determined to be effective can
provide only reasonable assurance that their objectives are achieved.

Based on an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this annual report on
Form 10-K, our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that the design and
operation of the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2015.

In the year ended December 31, 2015, based upon the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Rule 13a-15, there were no
other changes in our internal control over financial reporting that would materially affect or are reasonably likely to materially
affect our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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PART III

Certain information required by Part III is incorporated by reference from the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement to be
filed with the SEC in connection with the solicitation of proxies for the Company’s 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the
“Proxy Statement”). We will make the Proxy Statement available on our website at www.rayonier.com as soon as it is filed with
the SEC.

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item with respect to directors, executive officers and corporate governance is incorporated
by reference from the sections entitled “Proposal No. 1 - Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” “Named Executive
Officers” and “Report of the Audit Committee” in the Proxy Statement. The information required by this Item with respect to
disclosure of any known late filing or failure by an insider to file a report required by Section 16 of the Exchange Act is incorporated
by reference to the section entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement.

Our Standard of Ethics and Code of Corporate Conduct, which is applicable to our principal executive officer and financial
and accounting officers, is available on our website, www.rayonier.com. Any amendments to or waivers of the Standard of Ethics
and Code of Corporate Conduct will also be disclosed on our website.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information called for by Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference from the section and subsections entitled
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Summary Compensation Table,” “Grants of Plan-Based Awards,” “Outstanding Equity
Awards at Fiscal Year-End,” “Option Exercises and Stock Vested,” “Pension Benefits,” “Nonqualified Deferred Compensation,”
“Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control,” “Director Compensation,” “Corporate Governance —
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation; Processes and Procedures” and “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis — Report of the Compensation and Management Development Committee” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information called for by Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference from the sections entitled “Share Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners,” “Share Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information”
in the Proxy Statement.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information called for by Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference from the section and subsections entitled “Proposal
No. 1 - Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance — Director Independence” and “Corporate Governance — Related Person
Transactions” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information called for by Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference from the subsection entitled “Report of the Audit
Committee — Information Regarding Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)  Documents filed as a part of this report:
(1) See Index to Financial Statements on page ii for a list of the financial statements filed as part of this report.
(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Years Ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013

(In Thousands)
Additions
Balance Charged
at to Cost Balance
Beginning and at End
Description of Year Expenses Deductions of Year
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Year ended December 31, 2015 $42 — — $42
Year ended December 31, 2014 673 134 (765) (a) 42
Year ended December 31, 2013......cccceviieieieniieieiee e 417 855 (b) (599) (¢ 673
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance:
Year ended December 31, 2015......c.covvvviiiiiciiiieeeeeeeene $13,644 $4,604 (d) — $18,248
Year ended December 31, 2014.......coevieienenininieienieee 33,889 13,289 (e) (33,534) (H 13,644
Year ended December 31, 2013 19,294 14,595 (g) — 33,889

(a) The 2014 decrease is largely related to the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business.

(b) The 2013 increase is primarily related to the consolidation of the New Zealand JV.

(c) The deductions are primarily payments and adjustments to required reserves.

(d) The 2015 increase is comprised of valuation allowance against the TRS deferred tax assets and the CBPC provision to return adjustment.
(e) The 2014 increase is primarily related to the Company’s limited potential use of the CBPC prior to its expiration in 2017.

(f) The decrease is primarily related to deferred tax assets contributed to Rayonier Advanced Materials in the spin-off. The decrease also
reflects the utilization and expiration of RNZ NOL carryforwards, of which $355 thousand was recorded as income tax expense.

(g) The 2013 increase is primarily Georgia investment tax credits earned on the CSE project.

All other financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, the required matter is not
present or the required information has otherwise been supplied in the financial statements or the notes thereto.

(3) See Exhibit Index for alist of the exhibits filed or incorporated herein as part of this report. Exhibits that are incorporated
by reference to documents filed previously by the Company under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asamended,
are filed with the SEC under File No. 1-6780.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

RAYONIER INC.

By: /sy MARK MCHUGH

Mark McHugh
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Duly Authorized Officer, Principal Financial Officer)

February 29, 2016

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ DAVID L. NUNES President and Chief Executive Officer February 29, 2016

David L. Nunes
(Principal Executive Officer)

/sl MARK MCHUGH Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer February 29, 2016

Mark McHugh
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ H. EDWIN KIKER Chief Accounting Officer February 29, 2016

H. Edwin Kiker
(Principal Accounting Officer)

* Chairman of the Board
Richard D. Kincaid

* Director
John A. Blumberg

* Director
Dod A. Fraser
* Director
Scott R. Jones
* Director
Bernard Lanigan, Jr.
* Director
Blanche L. Lincoln
* Director
V. Larkin Martin
* Director
Andrew G. Wiltshire
*By: /s/ MARK R. BRIDWELL February 29, 2016

Mark R. Bridwell
Attorney-In-Fact
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EXHIBIT INDEX

The following is a list of Exhibits filed as part of the Form 10-K. The documents incorporated by reference are located in the SEC’s

Public Reference Room in Washington D.C. in SEC File no. 1-6780.

As permitted by the rules of the SEC, the Company has not filed certain instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt
of the Company or consolidated subsidiaries under which the total amount of securities authorized does not exceed 10 percent of the total
assets of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries. The Company agrees to furnish to the SEC, upon request, a copy of any omitted

instrument.

Exhibit No. Description

2.1 Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreement dated
December 18, 2003 by and among Rayonier Inc., Rayonier
Timberlands Operating Company, L.P., Rayonier Timberlands, L.P.,
Rayonier Timberlands Management, LLC, Rayonier Forest
Resources, LLC, Rayland, LLC, Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc.,
Rayonier Minerals, LLC, Rayonier Forest Properties, LLC,
Rayonier Wood Products, LLC, Rayonier Wood Procurement, LLC,
Rayonier International Wood Products, LLC, Rayonier Forest
Operations, LLC, Rayonier Properties, LLC and Rayonier
Performance Fibers, LLC

2.2 Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated May 28, 2014, by and

between Rayonier Inc. and Rayonier Advanced Materials Inc.**

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation

3.2 By-Laws

3.3 Limited Liability Company Agreement of Rayonier Operating

Company LLC

4.1 Form S-4 Registration Statement

4.2 Amendment No. 1 to Form S-4 Registration Statement

4.3 Purchase Agreement dated as of October 10, 2007 among Rayonier
TRS Holdings Inc., Rayonier Inc. and Credit Suisse Securities
(USA) LLC, as representative of the several purchasers named
therein

4.4 Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 6, 2009, among Rayonier
TRS Holdings Inc. and Rayonier Inc. and Credit Suisse (USA)
LLC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and J.P.
Morgan Securities Inc.

4.5 Indenture relating to the 3.75% Senior Notes due 2022, dated March
5, 2012, between Rayonier Inc., as issuer, and The Bank of New
York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee

4.6 First Supplemental Indenture relating to the 3.75% Senior Notes
due 2022, dated March 5, 2012, among Rayonier Inc., as issuer, the
subsidiary guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York
Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee

4.7 Second Supplemental Indenture relating to the 3.75% Senior Notes
due 2022, dated March 5, 2012, among Rayonier Inc., as issuer, the
subsidiary guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York
Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee

Location

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s January 15, 2004 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to
the Registrant’s May 30, 2014 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
the Registrant’s May 23, 2012 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
the Registrant’s October 21, 2009 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to
the Registrant’s June 30, 2010 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s
April 26, 2004 S-4 Filing

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s
May 6, 2004 S-4/A Filing

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
the Registrant’s October 17, 2007 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s August 12, 2009 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
the Registrant’s March 5, 2012 Form §8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
the Registrant’s March 5, 2012 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
the Registrant’s October 17, 2012 Form 8-K



Exhibit No.
4.8

4.9

4.10

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

Description

Form of Note for 3.75% Senior Notes due 2022 (contained in
Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.12)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 16, 2007 among
Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc., Rayonier Inc. and Credit Suisse
Securities (USA) LLC, as representative of the several purchasers
named herein

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 12, 2009, among
Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc. and Rayonier Inc. and Credit Suisse
Securities (USA) LLC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.

Indenture among Rayonier A.M. Products Inc., the guarantors party
thereto from time to time and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as Trustee, dated as of May 22, 2014

Rayonier Inc. Executive Severance Pay Plan (f/k/a Rayonier
Supplemental Senior Executive Severance Pay Plan), as amended*

Rayonier Investment and Savings Plan for Salaried Employees
effective March 1, 1994, amended and restated effective April 1,
2015 and further amended effective September 8, 2015*

Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees of Rayonier Inc. effective
March 1, 1994, amended and restated January 1, 2000 and further
amended through October 19, 2001*

Amendment to Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees effective
January 1, 2002*

Amendment to Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees effective
January 1, 2003*

Amendment to Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees effective
January 1, 2004 dated October 10, 2003*

Amendment to Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees effective
January 1, 2004 dated December 15, 2003*

Amendment to Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees effective
August 1, 2013 dated July 18, 2013*

Amended and Restated Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees
effective January 1, 2014*

Rayonier Inc. Excess Benefit Plan, as amended*

Amendment to Rayonier Inc. Excess Benefit Plan dated August 18,
1997*

Form of Rayonier Inc. Excess Savings and Deferred Compensation
Plan Agreements™

Rayonier Inc. Excess Savings and Deferred Compensation Plan, as
amended*

Location

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
the Registrant’s March 5, 2012 Form §8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to
the Registrant’s October 17, 2007 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
the Registrant’s August 12, 2009 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
the Registrant’s May 22, 2014 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Registrant’s December 31, 2007 Form
10-K

Filed herewith

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
the Registrant’s December 31, 2001
Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to
the Registrant’s December 31, 2003 Form
10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to
the Registrant’s December 31, 2003 Form
10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to
the Registrant’s December 31, 2003 Form
10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to
the Registrant’s December 31, 2003 Form
10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s September 30, 2013 Form

10-Q
Filed herewith

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Registrant’s June 30, 2010 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to
the Registrant’s December 31, 1997 Form
10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
the Registrant’s June 30, 2010 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Registrant’s June 30, 2010 Form 10-Q



Exhibit No.
10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.2

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

Description
Rayonier Incentive Stock Plan, as amended*

Form of Rayonier 2004 Incentive Stock and Management Bonus
Plan Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement*

Form of Rayonier 2004 Incentive Stock and Management Bonus
Plan Restricted Share Award Agreement*

Form of Rayonier Incentive Stock Plan Non-Qualified Stock Option
Award Agreement™

Form of Rayonier Incentive Stock Plan Restricted Share Award
Agreement*®

Form of Rayonier Incentive Stock Plan Supplemental Terms
Applicable to the 2014 Equity Award Grant*

Rayonier Non-Equity Incentive Plan*

Form of Rayonier Outside Directors Compensation Program/Cash
Deferral Option Agreement*

Trust Agreement for the Rayonier Inc. Legal Resources Trust*

Annual Corporate Bonus Program*

Master Shareholder Agreement in Relation to Matariki Forests,
dated July 15, 2005, by and among SAS Trustee Corporation,
Deutshe Asset Management (Australia) Limited, Rayonier
Canterbury LLC, Rayonier New Zealand Limited, Cameron and
Company Limited, Matariki Forests Australia Pty Limited, Matariki
Forestry Group and Matariki Forests

Deed of Amendment and Restatement of Shareholder Agreement,
dated April 22, 2014, by and among Rayonier Canterbury LLC,
Waimarie Forests Pty Limited, Matariki Forestry Group, Matariki
Forests and Phaunos Timber Fund Limited

Description of Rayonier 2014 Performance Share Award Program*

Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreement, dated July
29,2010, between Rayonier Inc. and Rayonier Operating Company
LLC relating to the Restructuring

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated September 16, 2011 between
Joshua Timberlands LLC, as Seller and Rayonier Inc., as Buyer

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated September 16, 2011 between
Oklahoma Timber, LLC, as Seller and Rayonier Inc., as Buyer

Location

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to
the Registrant’s June 30, 2014 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22
to the Registrant’s December 31, 2003 Form
10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23
to the Registrant’s December 31, 2003 Form
10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19
to the Registrant’s December 31, 2008 Form
10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21
to the Registrant’s December 31, 2013 Form
10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23
to the Registrant’s December 31, 2013 Form
10-K

Incorporated by reference to Appendix B to
the Registrant’s March 31, 2008 Proxy
Statement

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24
to the Registrant’s December 31, 2006 Form
10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s September 30, 2014
Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24
to the Registrant’s December 31, 2010 Form
10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2005 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2014 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2014 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to
the Registrant’s June 30, 2010 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Registrant’s September 30, 2011 Form

10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Registrant’s September 30, 2011 Form

10-Q



Exhibit No.
10.3

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.4

10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44

12
21
23.1

Description

Form of Transaction Bonus Agreement and Schedule of Executive
Officer Transaction Bonus Amounts*

Trust Agreement for the Rayonier Inc. Executive Severance Pay
Plan*

Amendment to Trust Agreement for the Rayonier Inc. Executive
Severance Plan*

Transition Services Agreement, dated June 27, 2014, by and
between Rayonier Inc. and Rayonier Advanced Materials Inc.

Tax Matters Agreement, dated June 27, 2014, by and among
Rayonier Inc., Rayonier Advanced Materials Inc., Rayonier TRS
Holdings Inc. and Rayonier A.M. Products Inc.

Employee Matters Agreement, dated June 27, 2014, by and between

Rayonier Inc. and Rayonier Advanced Materials Inc.

Intellectual Property Agreement, dated June 27, 2014, by and
between Rayonier Inc. and Rayonier Advanced Materials Inc.

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Rayonier Inc. and its

Officers and Directors*

Rayonier Inc. Executive Severance Pay Plan, as amended*

Rayonier Incentive Stock Plan, as amended*

2015 Performance Share Award Program*

Rayonier Annual Bonus Program, as amended*

Form of Rayonier Incentive Stock Plan Restricted Stock Award
Agreement*

Term Credit Agreement dated August 5, 2015 among Rayonier Inc.,

Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc. and Rayonier Operating Company
LLC, as Borrowers, COBANK, ACB, as Administrative Agent,
Swing Line Lender and Issuing Bank, JP MORGAN CHASE
BANK, N.A. And FARM CREDIT OF FLORIDA, ACA, as Co-
Syndication Agents, CREDIT SUISSE AG and SUNTRUST

BANK, as Co-Documentation Agents and COBANK, ACB, as Sole

Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner

2016 Performance Share Award Program*

Statements re computation of ratios
Subsidiaries of the registrant

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

Location

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s March 31, 2014 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26
to the Registrant’s December 31, 2001 Form
10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Registrant’s September 30, 2014 Form

10-Q
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s June 30, 2014 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Registrant’s June 30, 2014 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Registrant’s June 30, 2014 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
the Registrant’s June 30, 2014 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to
the Registrant’s June 30, 2014 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s March 31, 2015 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Registrant’s March 31, 2015 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Registrant’s March 31, 2015 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
the Registrant’s March 31, 2015 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to
the Registrant’s March 31, 2015 Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s August 5, 2015 Form 8-K

Filed herewith

Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith



Exhibit No. Description Location
24 Powers of attorney Filed herewith

31.1 Chief Executive Officer’s Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 Filed herewith
(a)/15d-14(a) and pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act 0f 2002

31.2 Chief Financial Officer’s Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 Filed herewith
(a)/15d-14-(a) and pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act 0of 2002

32 Certification of Periodic Financial Reports Under Section 906 of the Furnished herewith
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following financial information from our Annual Report on Filed herewith
Form10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, formatted
in Extensible Business Reporting Language (“XBRL”), includes:
(1) the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive
Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013;
(i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2015 and
2014; (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for
the Years Ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013; (iv) the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013; and (v) the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

* Management contract or compensatory plan.

** Certain schedules and similar attachments have been omitted from this filing pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K.
Rayonier will furnish supplemental copies of any such schedules or attachments to the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission upon request.



EXHIBIT 12

RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(Unaudited, thousands of dollars)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Earnings:
Income from continuing operations...............cceeveveererveneenenn. $ 43,941 $§ 54,443 $ 105,843 $ 16,774 $ 58345
Income tax benefit...........ccocerivieienienieieeeseeeeee s (859) (9,601) (35,685) (27,060) (48,273)
Pre-tax income from continuing operations........................... 43,082 44,842 70,158 (10,286) 10,072
Add:

INtErest EXPENSE ..c..eevueereieeiiiiieeieee ettt 31,718 44248 40,941 42 826 45,879

Interest factor attributable to rentals............ccceeveevieiriereennens 236 301 540 424 461

Fixed charges........ccocvvieienieniieieieeeeeeeee e 31,954 44,549 41,481 43,250 46,340
SUDIIACE: ..ottt enees

Capitalized INETESt ........cooveviveeeeceeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 19
Earnings as adjusted...........ccoovrieienienieieieeseeeeee s $ 75017 $ 89,391 § 111,639 § 32964 § 56412
Fixed Charges: ......ccccoveevieeiieiiieeeeceeceee e m m m m m
Ratio of earnings as adjusted to total fixed charges............... T 235 201 269 076 122

DEfICICNCY .ottt — — — (10,286) —



SUBSIDIARIES OF RAYONIER INC.

As of 12/31/2015

Name of Subsidiary

Matariki Forests

Matariki Forestry Group

Rayonier Forest Resources, L.P.
Rayonier Gulf Timberlands, LLC
Rayonier Louisiana Timberlands, LLC
Rayonier Mississippi Timberlands Company
Rayonier Operating Company LLC
Rayonier TRS Operating Company
Rayonier TRS Forest Operations, LLC
Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc.
TerraPointe LLC

Rayonier Atlantic Timber Company
Rayonier Washington Timber Company

EXHIBIT 21

State/Country of
Incorporation/Organization

New Zealand
New Zealand
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements of Rayonier Inc.:

1)
2)
3)
4)

5)

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-203733),
Registration Statement (Form S-4 Amendment No. 1 to No. 333—-114858),
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333—-129175) pertaining to the Rayonier 1994 Incentive Stock Plan,

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-129176) pertaining to the 2004 Rayonier Incentive Stock and
Management Bonus Plan, and

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333—152505) pertaining to the Rayonier Inc. Savings Plan for Non-
Bargaining Unit Hourly Employees at Certain Locations and Rayonier Investment and Savings Plan for Salaried
Employees.

of our reports dated February 29, 2016, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Rayonier Inc. and
subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Rayonier Inc. and subsidiaries, included in this
Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Rayonier Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2015.

/s/ Emst & Young LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Jacksonville, FL
February 29, 2016



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, David L. Nunes, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2016

/s/ DAVID L. NUNES

David L. Nunes
President and Chief Executive Officer, Rayonier Inc.




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Mark McHugh, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2016

/s MARK MCHUGH

Mark McHugh
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer, Rayonier Inc.




EXHIBIT 32
CERTIFICATION

The undersigned hereby certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that
to our knowledge:

1. The Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31,2015 (the
“Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

2. The information in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

February 29, 2016

/s/ DAVID L. NUNES /s/f MARK MCHUGH

David L. Nunes Mark McHugh

President and Chief Executive Officer, Senior Vice President and

Rayonier Inc. Chief Financial Officer, Rayonier Inc.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Rayonier and will be retained by
Rayonier and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Richard D. Kincaid [A, C]
Chairman of the Board
President and Founder
BeCause Foundation

David L. Nunes
President and

Chief Executive Officer
Rayonier Inc.

John A.Blumberg [C, N]
Co-founder and Principal
Black Creek Group LLC
Co-Founder and Chairman
Mexico Retail Properties
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President
Sackett Partners
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